
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet

Time and Date
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 13th October, 2020

Place
This meeting will be held remotely. The meeting can be viewed live by pasting this link 
into your browser:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kqf-UeUAExM&feature=youtu.be

Public business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 12)

(a) To agree the minutes from the meeting of Cabinet on 25th August 2020

(b) Matters arising

4. Contingency and Recovery Plan 2020-21 (Youth Justice Plan)  (Pages 13 
- 76)

Report of the Director of Childrens Services

5. Coventry One Strategic Plan for Education - Phase 2 of Secondary 
School Expansions  (Pages 77 - 86)

Report of the Director of Education and Skills

6. Adoption of Trees & Developer Guidelines Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD)  (Pages 87 - 166)

Report of the Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services

7. MyCoventry Project and Specialist Training and Employment Programme 
(STEP) - Successful Award of funds under the Asylum, Migration and 
Integration Fund (AMIF)  (Pages 167 - 180)

Report of the Director of Health and Wellbeing

8. Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019/20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge  
(Pages 181 - 264)

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kqf-UeUAExM&feature=youtu.be


Page 2

Report of the Director of Adult Services

9. Responses to Government Planning Consultations  (Pages 265 - 290)

Report of the Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services

10. Outstanding Issues  

There are no outstanding issues

11. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Private business

Nil

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry

Monday, 5 October 2020

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Tel: 024 7697 2642 / 2643, Email: 
lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk

Membership
Cabinet Members: 
Councillors K Caan, G Duggins (Chair), P Hetherton, A S Khan (Deputy Chair), 
K Maton, J Mutton, M Mutton, J O'Boyle, P Seaman and D Welsh

Non-voting Deputy Cabinet Members:
Councillors P Akhtar, R Ali, B Gittins and G Lloyd

By invitation: 
Councillors A Andrews and G Ridley (Non-voting Opposition representatives)

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language, please contact us.

Lara Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, 
Tel: 024 7697 2642 / 2643, Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 25 August 2020

(This meeting was held remotely)

Present:
Cabinet Members: Councillor G Duggins (Chair)

Non-Voting Deputy 
Cabinet Members:

Councillor AS Khan (Deputy Chair)
Councillor K Caan
Councillor P Hetherton
Councillor T Khan
Councillor K Maton
Councillor J Mutton
Councillor M Mutton
Councillor J O'Boyle
Councillor P Seaman

Councillor P Akhtar
Councillor R Ali
Councillor G Lloyd
Councillor D Welsh

Non-Voting Opposition 
Members: Councillor A Andrews

Councillor G Ridley

Other Non-Voting 
Members: Councillor N Akhtar

Councillor R Brown
Councillor R Lakha
Councillor R Singh

By Invitation:

Employees (by Service):

Chief Inspector Suraya Latif, West Midlands Police

Chief Executive

Deputy Chief Executive

Communications

Finance

Housing and 
Transformation

Law and Governance

M Reeves (Chief Executive)

G Quinton (Deputy Chief Executive)

N Hart

P Helm

D Ashmore (Director of Housing and Transformation),
M Duffy, J Sandhu

J Newman (Director of Law and Governance), S Bennett, 
G Holmes, M Salmon

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

Property Services and 
Development 

Streetscene and 
Regulatory Services

Transportation and 
Highways

R Moon (Director of Property Services and Development), 
A Hunt

C Hickin, L Nagle

N Cowper

Apologies: Councillor B Gittins
Councillor C Miks
Councillor K Sandhu
Councillor C Thomas

Public Business

19. Declarations of Interest 

As a Director of Friargate JV Project Limited, R Moon, Director of Property 
Services and Development, declared an interest in the matter referred to in 
Minutes 27 and 30 below, headed ‘Funding and Delivery of Two Friargate’. He 
remained in the meeting but took no part in the consideration of the matter.

20. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 21st July 2020 were agreed as a true record. 
There were no matters arising.

21. Exclusion of Press and Public 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet agrees to exclude the press and public under 
Sections 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 relating to the private 
report in Minute 30 below headed ‘Funding and Delivery of Two Friargate’ on 
the grounds that the report involves the likely disclosure of information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as it contains information 
relating to the financial affairs of a particular person (including the authority 
holding that information) and in all circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

22. 2020/21 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2020) 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Finance, that would also be 
considered by the Audit and Procurement Committee on 19th October 2020, that 
advised of the forecast outturn position for revenue and capital expenditure and 
the Council’s treasury management activity as at the end of June 2020. 

The headline revenue forecast for 2020/21 was for net expenditure to be £28.2m 
over budget before the application of COVID-19 emergency funding for local 
government. After the use of this grant, the net over-spend was £6.7m. The 

Page 4



– 3 –

Government had indicated that further funding would be available to compensate 
councils for the loss of income as a result of Covid which would improve this 
overall position. At the same point in 2019/20 there was a projected underspend of 
£0.6m.

Excluding the effects of Covid there were overspends in excess of £1m in each of 
Children’s and Young People, Streetscene and Regulatory, and Highways and 
Transportation. 

Early forecasts indicated that the Council’s capital spending was projected to be 
£271.8m and included major scheme expenditure which ranged from investment in 
the A46 Link Road, Coventry Station Masterplan, Whitley South infrastructure, 
Public Realm, Secondary Schools expansion and the National Battery Plant. This 
level of expenditure, if achieved, would exceed that reported in 2019/20. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Approves the Council’s revenue monitoring position incorporating the 
application of Covid emergency funding.

2) Approves the revised forecast estimated outturn position for the year of 
£271.8m incorporating: £10.5m net increase in spending relating to 
approved/technical changes, £9.3m net rescheduling of expenditure 
from 2021/22 and £0.1m overspend.

3) Agrees to consider any recommendations from Audit and Procurement 
Committee in due course.

23. Provision of ICT Hardware, Software and Peripherals 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Housing and Transformation 
that sought authorisation for a procurement process to establish a new contract for 
the supply of ICT Hardware, software and associated services, to the Council.

Within a corporate ICT environment, it was normal practice to have an agreed 
refresh cycle for equipment based on the effective life of the equipment, warranty 
period and budgetary constraints. The refresh cycle normally ranged between 3 
and 5 years in most organisations. Once devices went past a warranty period, the 
total cost of ownership rose rapidly, especially with laptops and tablets. Best 
practice advice from organisations such as Gartner, suggested that a 3 to 4-year 
refresh cycle was more appropriate, as once past the 4-year mark, staff could 
waste up to 3 days per year waiting for their computer to start up.

ICT and Digital worked to restrict the equipment provided to staff to a single 
manufacturer, as this simplified the overall support process and reduced the Total 
Cost of Ownership. ICT and Digital issued a range of models from Lenovo to suit 
the workload of the user, but the costs of the different types were very similar. 
Some users needed high specification kit (e.g. PAs who were accessing multiple 
calendars and mailboxes needed bigger processing capability) and other users 
less so. Due to the Authority’s size and nature of the market, the Council could not 
transact directly with manufacturers and had to contract with a distributor instead. 

Page 5



– 4 –

The existing hardware contract was supplied by CDW Limited and was procured 
via a further competition under a Crown Commercial Services public sector 
procurement framework. The contract commenced on the 27 April 2017 for a 3-
year term with the option to extend for a further 1-year period, which had been 
taken. The contract was due to expire on the 26 April 2021 and so to ensure 
compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015, the Council was required to 
procure a new contract for its future ICT hardware expenditure.

Procurement Services had identified the Crown Commercial Services RM6068 
Framework as the most suitable procurement route for a new contract. The 
framework’s Lot 1 covered Hardware and Software and Associated Services 
framework, allowing the purchase of hardware such as end user devices, 
infrastructure hardware, consumables and peripheral equipment. ‘Close to the box’ 
services were also included such as image load, asset tagging, delivery, 
installation, user handover, removal of packaging and disposal of old equipment 
which were services CDW currently provided as part of ‘zero touch’ allowing 
minimal to no work from ICT on devices arriving before they could be used by 
staff. The Lot also allowed for the purchase of software which would be an 
extension of the scope of the current hardware contract, but it was felt that this 
would be advantageous to include. This would support the compliant procurement 
of ad-hoc and off the shelf software where it was identified as being value for 
money to do so. 

It was proposed to undertake a further competition via the suppliers on Lot 1 of the 
RM6068 Framework for a new ICT Hardware contract. The contract would be 
awarded for a period of 3 years with the option to extend for 2 further years for the 
value of up to £12.5m over the maximum 5-year contract term. It was envisaged 
that spend on ICT hardware would increase. This was due to increased demand 
for the organisation to be working agile but also increased in supply chain costs 
due to the global economic position and the uncertainty surrounding Brexit.  

The further competition process would be commenced to ensure that a new 
contract was in place for April 2021.

The Cabinet took the opportunity to place on record their thanks for the work of 
ICT Officers over the months since the COVID-19 lockdown. The support they had 
provided to Members and Officers was greatly appreciated.  

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Authorises a procurement process to establish a new 3-year contract, 
with the option to extend for two further years, for the supply of ICT 
Hardware, software and associated services to the Council.

2) Delegates authority to the Director of Housing and Transformation to 
agree the award of contract following a further competition process 
using the Crown Commercial Services (CCS) RM6068 Framework Lot 1: 
Hardware & Software & Associated Services.

3) Authorises the City Council to enter into a Contract with the successful 
supplier for a potential maximum 5-year period.

Page 6



– 5 –

24. 2020/21 Transportation and Highway Maintenance Capital Programme - 
Additional Funding 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transportation and Highways 
that detailed an additional funding block from Central Government’s Challenge 
Fund for the maintenance and enhancement of the City's Highway infrastructure. 
The report was supplementary to the 2020/21 Transportation and Highway 
Maintenance Capital Programme report to Cabinet on 10th March 2020 (Minute 
96/19 referred). 

The basic principles for the spend of the additional funding were: 

i. Focus on improving pavements, predominantly used by vulnerable 
residents, from place of residence to destination point.

ii. Continue the programme of rectifying damage and maintaining the City's 
pavements, through a prioritised programme based on the Council’s 
Highways Asset Management plan. 

The Department for Transport confirmed the Highways Maintenance Challenge 
Fund additional funding allocations to the West Midlands Combined Authority area 
on 15th May 2020. The funding was for critical highway maintenance activity. 
Based on the EOI submission the allocation made available to Coventry as 
Highway Maintenance Block was £2.060m, this was predicated on improving 
roads and pavements on bus routes which used the unclassified roads across the 
West Midlands. Within Coventry the study showed that Coventry’s pavements 
were in greater need of maintenance than roads on the lengths of the routes 
submitted, however where there was a need for road repairs these would be 
attended to as part of the work. A previous study identified locations where there 
were likely to be a higher proportion of vulnerable residents based on areas of 
sheltered housing and proximity to GP surgeries, health centres, shops, churches 
and meeting halls. Table 1 in the report detailed the sites where these objectives 
were best met.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Approves £2.06m be added to the 5-year Capital Programme.

2) Approves the 2020/21 additional programme of schemes detailed in 
Paragraph 2.6, Table 1 of the report.

3) Delegates authority to the Cabinet Member for City Services, to approve 
any changes to the additional 2020/21 programme.

        
25. Proposed Renewal of the City-Wide Public Space Protection Order 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Streetscene and Regulatory 
Services that sought permission to renew the City-wide Public Space Protection 
Order that was created in October 2017 and was due to expire October 2020. 

Page 7



– 6 –

Appendices attached to the report provided a copy of the proposed Draft Order 
and impact statements.

The Public Space Protection Order had conditions within it to address the 
unauthorised use of ‘off-road’ motorbikes and other specific mechanically 
propelled vehicles in the city and would also seek to control the drinking of alcohol 
and use of Nitrous Oxide (laughing gas) in public spaces.

The Council could renew the existing PSPO under the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 to control the public consumption of alcohol (away 
from licensed premises). As there had been controls on public drinking in the City 
for nearly 30 years there was no strong evidential basis demonstrating problems 
with public drinking. However, the legislation only required the Authority to be 
satisfied that without controls it was “likely” that issues would occur without 
controls in place. 

The Order classified Nitrous Oxide canisters (laughing gas) in a similar fashion to 
alcohol, and that officers were given powers to seize and dispose any canisters 
found in a person’s possession. 

The Order made it an offence to be in possession of a “mechanically propelled 
vehicle”. The Public Space Protection Order stated that it was an offence if the 
person didn’t have, appropriate insurance to use the vehicle on public roads, or 
they didn’t have the expressed permission of the landowner. If a landowner 
permitted use for off road biking, they would be subject to planning and noise 
nuisance legislation where applicable.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet approves the renewal of the Citywide Public 
Space Protection Order and agrees to make this Order effective on 3rd 
October 2020, the day before the existing Order is due to expire.

26. Ring Road - Swanswell Viaduct Refurbishment, Phase 2 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transportation and Highways, 
that would also be considered by Council at its meeting on 8th September 2020, on 
further funding from the Department for Transport Local Highways Maintenance 
Challenge Fund for Phase Two of the Swanswell Viaduct Refurbishment Scheme. 
Appendices to the report provided a Location Plan and Project Delivery Structure.

The Swanswell Viaduct Refurbishment scheme involved the structural 
refurbishment of substandard elements on the Swanswell Viaduct Junction 1 – 4 
of the Coventry Ring Road. Following award of funding from Tranche 1 of the 
Department for Transport Local Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund, Phase 1 
of the refurbishment was completed in 2018.

The Council had been successful in securing a further £5.0million through the 
same Fund for Phase 2 of the Scheme with a requirement for 2.5% (£250k) 
contribution from the Council. In total £5.25 million was available to spend on the 
refurbishment of the structure. Department for Transport conditions required all 
funds to be spent by the end of financial year 2020/21.

Page 8



– 7 –

RESOLVED that the Cabinet recommends that Council:

1) Authorises the Council to accept and add Department for Transport 
Local Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund of £5.0million grant for 
the purposes of refurbishing the Swanswell Viaduct, to the Council’s 5 
Year Capital Programme. 

2) Delegates authority to the Director of Transportation and Highways, 
following consultation with the Cabinet Member for City Services, to 
agree detailed terms of the transaction and to enter into the relevant 
legal agreements and associated documents necessary to complete 
the transaction and appoint the contractor to deliver the works.

27. Funding and Delivery of Two Friargate 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive, that would also be 
considered by Council at its meeting on 8th September 2020, that sought approval 
for funding to acquire the land and building to be constructed necessary to deliver 
the Two Friargate scheme. Appendices to the report provided a Site Plan and the 
General Masterplan Layout.

A corresponding private report was also submitted to the meeting setting out the 
commercially confidential matters of the proposals. (Minute 30 below refers.)

The delivery of the Friargate business district was a key corporate priority for the 
Council. The Council secured £51.2m of grant funding from the West Midlands 
Combined Authority in 2018 to support the delivery of the next commercial office 
building, Two Friargate. A condition of the funding was the establishment of the 
Friargate Joint Venture between the Council and Cannon Cannon Kirk to deliver 
the wider Friargate development scheme. Following the establishment of the joint 
venture in January 2019, work on design and development stages for the building 
and a tender process to appoint a contractor to deliver the building had been on-
going. Two Friargate was due to start on site during Autumn 2020. 

The total capital cost of the Two Friargate scheme was anticipated to be £68.2m. 
This report sought approval for the £17m of funding (in excess of the WMCA 
grant) to acquire the land and building to be constructed necessary to deliver the 
Two Friargate scheme.

Friargate was located next to Coventry Railway Station, one of the fastest growing 
stations outside of London, which was currently benefiting from an £78m 
masterplan to create a new transport hub, second station building and new car 
park. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Authorises officers to arrange for the completion of the Agreement for 
Lease and all associated legal agreements between the Council and 
Friargate JV Project Limited necessary to allow the Council to purchase 
the 250 years long leasehold interest in the land and building to be 
constructed on Two Friargate (as shown edged red on the plan in 
Appendix 1 attached to the report).

Page 9



– 8 –

2) Authorises the completion of the Project Development Management 
Agreement and all associated legal agreements between the Council and 
Friargate Coventry Developments Limited necessary for the delivery of 
Two Friargate. 

3) Authorises the completion of all necessary documentations with 
statutory undertakers and service providers required for the provision of 
service to facilitate the delivery of Two Friargate. 

4) Delegates authority to the Strategic Lead – Property and Development, 
following consultation with the Finance Manager, the Director of Law and 
Governance, and the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to 
undertake the necessary due diligence and approve the final terms of the 
purchase.

5)  Recommends that Council:  

i. Approves capital expenditure up to a capped amount of £17m from 
prudential borrowing to fund the grant of the 250 years long leasehold 
interest in the land to the Council and the delivery of the building to be 
constructed on Two Friargate.

ii. Makes available additional working capital in the sum as highlighted in 
the private version of this report, to match the other Friargate JV 
Project Limited shareholder’s contribution and ensure that the JV 
Company is adequately funded to promote schemes to investors and 
secure development in accordance with their business plan 

iii. Approves the necessary adjustment to the Capital programme to 
reflect the capital expenditure incurred in the delivery of Two 
Friargate.

28. Outstanding Issues 

There were no outstanding issues.

29. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of public business.

30. Funding and Delivery of Two Friargate 

Further to Minute 27 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the Chief 
Executive, that would also be considered by Council at its meeting on 8th 
September 2020, that set out the commercially confidential matters relating to the 
funding and delivery of Two Friargate. Appendices to the report provided a Site 
Plan and the General Masterplan Layout.

Page 10



– 9 –

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Authorises officers to arrange for the completion of the Agreement for 
Lease and all associated legal agreements between the Council and 
Friargate JV Project Limited necessary to allow the Council to purchase 
the 250 years long leasehold interest in the land and building to be 
constructed on Two Friargate (as shown edged red on the plan in 
Appendix 1 attached to the report).

2) Authorises the completion of the Project Development Management 
Agreement and all associated legal agreements between the Council and 
Friargate Coventry Developments Limited necessary for the delivery of 
Two Friargate. 

3) Authorises the completion of all necessary documentations with 
statutory undertakers and service providers required for the provision of 
service to facilitate the delivery of Friargate Two. 

4) Delegates authority to the Strategic Lead – Property and Development, 
following consultation with the Finance Manager, the Director of Law and 
Governance and the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to 
undertake the necessary due diligence and approve the final terms of the 
purchase.

5)   Cabinet recommends that Council:  

i. Approves capital expenditure up to a capped amount of £17m from 
prudential borrowing to fund the grant of the 250 years long leasehold 
interest in the land to the Council and the delivery of the building to be 
constructed on Two Friargate.

ii. Makes available additional working capital up to the sum now 
indicated to match the other Friargate JV Project Limited 
shareholder’s contribution and ensure that the JV Company is 
adequately funded to promote schemes to investors and secure 
development in accordance with their business plan. 

iii. Approves the necessary adjustment to the Capital programme to 
reflect the capital expenditure incurred in the delivery of Two 
Friargate.

31. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of private business.

(Meeting closed at 2.50 pm)

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 Public report
Cabinet Report 

Cabinet 13 October 2020
Council 20 October 2020 

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People - Councillor P Seaman  

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Children’s Services

Ward(s) affected:
All wards 

Title:
Contingency and Recovery Plan 2020/21 (Youth Justice Plan)

Is this a key decision?
No – Although the Plan covers all wards of the City, it is not anticipated that the impact will be 
Significant.

Executive Summary:

This report is being submitted as notification that The Coventry Youth Offending Service (CYOS) 
Contingency and Recovery Plan has been agreed and signed off by its Chair, the Director of 
Childrens Services, and to seek Council endorsement.

The Youth Justice Board (YJB), in recognition of the unprecedented circumstances and 
challenges created by Covid 19, removed the expectation and grant condition that youth 
offending teams submit a standard Youth Justice Plan.

The new grant condition, notified to Youth Offending Teams (YOTS) on the 7 April 2020, was that 
each service must submit a Covid 19 Contingency and Recovery Plan by the 30 April 2020, 
which was done. Given the indeterminate period that the impact of Covid 19 will be experienced 
for, this decision by the YJB is entirely appropriate and welcomed.

Youth Offending Teams were established under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (‘the Act’). The 
functions assigned to the Youth Offending Service include the duty upon the local authority, 
under the Children Act 1989, to take all reasonable steps to encourage children not to commit 
offences. The Act imposed a duty on each Local Authority, acting in cooperation with its Statutory 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



2

Partners (Police, Health and Probation), to ensure that all Youth Justice services are available in 
their area to such an extent as it appropriate for the area.

The key tasks of the service are:

 Assessing and delivering interventions to the out-of-court-disposal cohort
 Management and delivery of community sentences
 Management and delivery of secure estate sentences and resettlement
 Servicing the Youth Court and Crown Courts (in terms of provision of a court 

team, bail & health assessments, provision of pre-sentence reports and stand 
down reports)

 Victim services 
 Parenting services and management of Parenting Orders 

The Crime and Disorder Act also imposed a duty to complete and submit a Youth Justice Plan 
each year, this year as an exception, a Contingency and Recovery Plan.

The Plan provides an overview of Coventry Youth Offending Services activities, in response to 
Covid 19, in order to discharge its statutory functions and activities to aid recovery.

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is requested to:

1) Recommend that Council endorse the Youth Justice Contingency and Recovery Plan 
2020/2021.

Council is requested to:

1) Endorse the Youth Justice Contingency and Recovery Plan 2020/2021.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix - The Youth Justice Contingency and Recovery Plan 2020-21

Background papers:

None 

Other useful documents

None 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Page 14



3

Will this report go to Council?

Yes - 20th October 2020 

Page 15



4

Report title: Contingency and Recovery Plan (Youth Justice Plan)

1. Context (or background)

The plan demonstrates, in line with the YJB grant requirement, the continued delivery of statutory 
responsibilities as described in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 part 111 (section 38) by CYOS, 
since restrictions were imposed. 

The recovery element of the plan is dynamic as it needs to reflect the dynamic nature of the 
Government’s exit strategy and variable restrictions. It will be monitored by the CYOS 
Management Board. 

In statutory terms, the Contingency and Recovery Plan meets the requirements of the Crime and 
Disorder Act and the YJB grant requirement. It does not replicate the format of previous Youth 
Justice Plans as that is not its function. 

CYOS has submitted its plan which demonstrates its delivery of its statutory functions and the 
methods for achieving this to the YJB, in line with the grant requirement. The plan outlines priority 
impact areas for the next twelve months and the CYOS Management Board approach, which is 
the regular review of recovery steps in line with changes in Government guidance against local 
practice and needs.  

1.2 Headlines 2018/19 

1.2.1 Performance 

While there is no expectation that performance from the previous year needs to be included in 
the Contingency and Recovery Plan, the service has referenced its outcomes against its National 
Indicators.

Regarding First Time Entrants to the criminal justice system (FTEs), there has been a positive 
reduction of 71 in the counting period, a rate of 224 per 100,000, which is very slightly down from 
235 in the previous financial year (2018/19). 

The Reoffending data is provided by the YJB and the last available data shows a small increase 
in both the binary and re-offences rate. It is important to note these changes reflect the Service 
working with fewer children and that the number of substantive offences has reduced 
considerably; they are down by 138 from the 319 in the previous year (2018/19), alongside the 
number where a Community Resolution (CR) has been issued is also down 66 from 141. 

Custody has increased in 2019/20 at 14 compare to 9 in 2018/19. Despite an increase, it is still 
the second lowest rate achieved since the introduction of the indicator as a historic low was 
achieved by Coventry in 2018/19. Custody should only be used as last resort and the local 
increase in custody use is linked heavily to the serious youth violence agenda. Activity to address 
criminal exploitation, and the resulting youth violence, features within CYOS priorities and will be 
supported through The Youth Violence Partnership Board. 

While the Youth Justice Plan would contain a broad overview of quality indicators, such as Victim 
feedback, compliments from families and young people, this is not a function of this year’s plan 
and performance data is not required. 

Page 16



5

1.3 Our priorities for 2020/21 Include 

1.3.1 Improve the response to criminal exploitation and youth violence. 

This activity includes:

 Working in partnership with strategic groups at a regional and local level. This includes: 
The West Midlands Violence Reduction Unit, The Office of The West Midlands Police 
Crime Commissioner, and the Coventry Youth Violence Partnership Board. 

 Working with key agencies, using The National Referral Mechanism¹ to ensure young 
people who are trafficked, receive the right support and their status is considered when 
decisions to prosecute are being made. 

 Ensuring, where required, stringent controls are in place to protect the public and this can, 
in certain circumstances include electronic tracking of young people. 

 Expanding the “reachable, teachable” moments offer. For example, this is where young 
people who may come into police custody, arrive at hospital injured, or become subject to 
a custodial remand, are seen face to face by worker with “lived experience“. It is a 
moment where young people may be ready to listen and change with the right support. 
Currently, these are mentors who have experienced some of the same challenges as the 
young people they are seeking to mentor (provided by St Giles²).

1.3.2 Tackling disparity in the criminal justice system. 

Local analysis tells us that there is a slight overrepresentation of some ethnic groups and, 
while it is in single figures, it is important to ensure that this is monitored and responded 
to. Key activities include broadening the range of interventions to strengthen their ability to 
meet diverse needs. New activities for this year include: Levelling the Playing Field, a 
national project supported by the YJB, and part funded by The London Marathon Trust; 
further information is available in the Contingency and Recovery Plan. Coventry are one 
of two areas in the West Midlands who will seek to use mentors to engage young people 
from BAME communities who are at risk of entering, or are in, the criminal justice system 
to engage in sport.    

1.3.3 Recognising and responding to young people who have had multiple adverse childhood 
experiences, which has impacted on their resilience. 

CYOS works closely with its health partners to deliver a trauma informed response to 
young people and the Service has invested in further training for its staff to support this 
approach. There is also a review of the resources required to deliver the Enhanced Case 
Management pathway. It is recognised that health services have been under 
unprecedented pressures due to Covid 19 and, therefore, a case for increased resource 
will be presented in the latter part of the year.

1.3.4 Improving good outcomes through quality assurance activity. 

This area remains essential and will continue to provide multiple lenses for scrutiny and 
learning across this challenging time. This focus will ensure that the services offered 
remain consistent and appropriate to individual need, balanced with support and controls 
to protect victims and the community from the risk of reoffending. 

1. The National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is a civil process for identifying victims of human trafficking and 
ensuring they receive the appropriate protection and support. The NRM was introduced in 2009 to meet 
the UK's obligations under the Council of European Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human 
Beings.

2. St Giles is a charity using expertise and real-life past experiences to empower people though mentoring.
Page 17



6

1.3.5 Deliver the YJB National Standards improvement activity.

The YJB standards were recently revised in their totality and, in April this year, CYOS 
submitted the outcome of its self-assessment against the new standards as part of the 
national baselining activity. The YJB recognised that, with the introduction of new 
standards, it was likely that YOTs would change their performance position in the 
baselining year. The expectation is that nationally, with YOT learning from the self-
assessment activity, key actions were identified to support services to deliver 
against standards. The local action plan, which is currently being delivered against, is 
monitored by CYOS Management Board.   

1.3.6 Maintain a high-quality workforce. 

The people within an organisation are central to its success. CYOS has a continuing 
professional development pathway for its staff and has an excellent track record of 
enabling staff to progress into senior roles. This year CYOS is on the national 
development group led by the YJB to introduce the Youth Justice degree into the 
apprenticeship offer providing further opportunities for staff development. Staff morale, 
overall, remains high, which is evidenced by good retention levels and sickness rates 
below the average for Coventry City Council and wider Children’s Services.     

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

2.1 Completion and submission of this plan is compulsory under the Act. It is requested that 
Cabinet recommend that the Council endorse the Contingency and Recovery Plan.

3. Results of consultation undertaken 

3.1 All statutory partners are consulted under a statutory duty imposed by the Act. All 
Management Board members are consulted and contribute, although only statutory 
partner’s cooperation is required.  

3.2 Statutory Members are represented by:

 Director of Children’s Services
 Strategic Lead Children’s Services
 Chief Inspector, Coventry, West Midlands Police
 Head of National Probation Service, Coventry, Solihull & Warwickshire
 Joint Commissioning Manager Coventry and Rugby Clinical Commissioning Group & 

Coventry City Council
 Head of Specialist Health Services for Children and Young People

3.3 Other members include:

 Head of Environmental Services Street Scene and Regulatory Services
 Operations Manager, Coventry and Warwickshire, Prospects Services
 Chair and Deputy Chair of The Magistrates Youth Panel
 Head of Service, Education Entitlement
 Head Teacher, Coventry Virtual School

Page 18



7

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 YJB grant conditions state that receipt of grant is conditional on submission of a strategic   
plan. The YJB recognise that local political processes do not necessarily tie in with 
submission dates and therefore they accept a draft plan, which had to be submitted by the 
end of April 2020; the plan was submitted in line with the deadline.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 

5.1 Financial implications

Grant funding from YJB may be withheld/withdrawn if the plan is not submitted in line with 
the Crime and Disorder Act and grant requirements.

Annual Budget
Agency 2019-20 2020-21

Local Authority 766,382 717,127 
YJB 520,878 531,607 
Police and Crime Commissioner 105,064 105,064 
Health 103,959 110,645 
Police 56,188 57,593 
Probation 53,066 48,400 
Budget 1,605,537 1,570,436 

The finance tables, when compared to the Contingency and Recovery Plan, has the 
Health contribution confirmed and reflects the reduced local authority contribution from 
April 2019, which was later reduced to £750,175 in Mar-20 due to the mid-year impact of 
the business services review.

Overall, the changes to the local authority contribution is due to reduced costs (Local 
Government Pension Scheme) contributions and salary re-structuring as part of the 
mentioned business services review (October 2019). The local authority will be required 
to fund the pay award once it has been confirmed. The YJB contribution has increased 
due to distribution of efficiency savings and a 2% uplift to the grant for 2020/21. The 
probation contribution has reduced due to salary grading. 

5.2 Legal implications

Section 40 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on the local authority, after 
consultation with the relevant bodies, to formulate and implement a yearly ‘Youth Justice 
Plan’. The Plan must set out how Youth Justice Services in the area are to be provided 
and funded, how the Youth Offending Service established are to be composed and 
funded, and how they will operate and what functions they are to carry out. Such Plans 
are submitted to the Youth Justice Board for England and Wales.  

The Youth Justice Board has issued ‘Covid-19 Recovery Plans: guidance for youth 
offending teams, which confirms that: 

“Given the pressures faced by YOTs during the Covid-19 pandemic… In lieu of the full 
annual YJ plan we are requesting a higher level YJ Plan for the 2020/21 financial year 
which we describe as Recovery Plans.” 

Page 19



8

Grant conditions have been amended to reflect this change, with the expectation that the 
requirement for the annual YJ Plan to remain a requirement for future periods.

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/
Primarily activities support;

 Protecting our most vulnerable people 
 Improve health and well being
 Make communities safer
 Improving educational outcomes
 Reducing the impact of poverty

Activity within The Contingency and Recovery Plan is aligned locally to plans that 
include;

 Local Police and Crime Board
 Local Policing Plan
 Coventry Sustainable Communities Strategy

6.2 How is risk being managed?

Risk to the YJB grant, has been managed by consulting with partners in a timely manner 
to facilitate sign off and submission of the draft plan (grant requirement). The report is 
also submitted now for endorsement in line with statutory duties and good practice 
requirements.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

The Plan presents a balanced budget and no immediate implications for other groups.     
The Plan details the risks going forward in to 2020/21.

6.4 Equalities/Equality Impact Assessments (EIA)

Legislative changes, such as pre court disposal options, have been subject to substantial   
Equalities/Equality Impact Assessments activity under Ministry of Justice and Youth 
Justice Board; no adverse impact has been identified.

This is not a new activity.

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

Partners have all participated in agreement and sign off the Plan and there are no   
implication arising post sign off.

Page 20

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


9

Report author(s): 

Name and job title:
Nicholas Jeffreys
New Operational Lead for Coventry Youth Offending Service

Service:
Children’s Services

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7697 6107
Email: nicholas.jeffreys@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Service Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer

Law and 
Governance

21.08.20 11.09.20

Rebecca Wilshire Strategic Lead, Help 
and Protection 

Children’s 
Services

21.08.20 20.09.20

Mike Phillips Accountant Finance 21.08.20 21.08.20
Names of approvers for submission: (officers and members)

Rachael Sugars Finance Manager Finance  21.08.20 18.09.20
Janice White  People Team 

Leader, Legal 
Services  

Law and 
Governance

21.08.20 04.09.20

John Gregg Director of 
Children’s Service

- 21.08.20 21.09.20

Councillor P Seaman Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People

- 21.08.20 15.09.20

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 21

mailto:nicholas.jeffreys@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



                         

Coventry Youth Offending Service 
2020/21 Contingency and Recovery 

Youth Justice Plan

P
age 23



                     
Table of Contents

Introduction and context ..........................................................................................................................................1
Performance ............................................................................................................................................................ 3
Priorities................................................................................................................................................................... 4
Finance .................................................................................................................................................................. 17
Coventry Youth Offending Service Contingency and Recovery Plan Covid -19....................................................20

P
age 24



1

Introduction and context 

The Youth Justice Board (YJB) in recognition of the unprecedented circumstances and challenges created by Covid 19 removed the 
expectation and grant condition that youth offending teams submit a standard Youth Justice Plan (which is usually required by end 
June).

YOTs (Youth Offending Teams), including Coventry, had approached the YJB individually to discuss the challenges in seeking to 
provide a detailed and explicit action plan and report (Youth Justice Plan) without the government providing a clear exit strategy.

The new grant condition is that each service submits a Covid 19 Contingency and Recovery Youth Justice Action Plan focusing on 
responses to Covid 19. Given the indeterminate period that the impact of Covid 19 will be experienced for this decision by the YJB is 
entirely appropriate and welcomed.

The Contingency and Recovery Plan was submitted before the 30th April and the previous requirement for CYOS Management Board 
sign off has been removed. This is presumably in recognition of the short period of notification prior to the required submission 
deadline and that it is unlikely that YOT boards would sit within that very short window.    

This plan focuses on ensuring the delivery of statutory responsibilities as described in The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 part 111 
(38) and will also sit alongside the actions identified as part of CYOS self-assessment audit against the new YJB National Standards, 
any actions from last year’s plan which could not be completed as a consequence of Covid 19, and service development priorities. 

This plan focuses on statutory duties in the context of Covid 19, in line with the YJB grant requirements.

Youth Offending Teams were established under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 with the principal aim being to prevent the offending 
by children and young persons. The Act imposed a duty on each local authority together with its statutory partners, Police, Health 
and Probation, to ensure that adequate Youth Justice Services are available in their area.

P
age 25



2

The key tasks of the service are:

 Assessing and delivering interventions to the Out-of-Court-Disposal cohort 

 Management and delivery of community sentences 

 Management and delivery of secure estate sentences and resettlement 

 Servicing the Youth Court and Crown Courts (in terms of provision of a court team, Bail & Health Assessments, provision of Pre-
Sentence Reports and Stand-down Reports)

 Parenting services and management of Parenting Orders

 Victim services

The action plan details the current, and updated, delivery model and the activities that will form part of recovery. It is anticipated that 
there will be learning, and benefits identified from some practice changes and an aspect of the recovery model is evaluating the 
changes and adopting new beneficial practice methods. 

The recovery model will require ongoing adaptation as the government agrees its exit phases/plan, so it remains a dynamic document 
being reviewed by CYOS Management Board as required and at a minimum as part of its standard quarterly meetings.  

Given the uncertainty regarding the exit model not all elements will have specific deadlines attached to them and the integrity of the 
plan rests with its ability to be fluid and to adapt in line with Government guidance.   

It is not a function of this report to provide either a summary of last year’s practice, a detailed priorities report, outside of Covid 19 
contingency activity, or to produce a detailed action plan regarding business as usual developmental practice.

A very brief summary of performance and priorities have been included as the service and CYOS’s Management Board will, as 
appropriate within restrictions, seek to continue its good practice and outcomes developmental activity.  

P
age 26



3

Performance 
The inclusion of performance data is not required as a function of this report, a brief summary is provided though for National 
Indicators. Performance continues to be monitored both by CYOS Management Board and the YJB as part of business as usual.  

National Indicators 

First Time Entrants to the criminal justice system (FTEs)

There has been a reduction in the number of FTEs, 71 in the year, a rate of 224 per 100,000, which is very slightly down from 235 in 
the previous financial year (2018/19).

Reoffending 

This data is provided by The YJB and the most recent data set has not yet been released. The last available data shows a small 
increase in both the binary and re-offenses rate. It is important to note that this is partially a reflection of the number of young people 
in the cohort as the number of substantive offences had reduced.

In 2018/19, CYOS was aware of 181 offences which resulted in a substantive disposal (i.e. one that forms part of a person’s criminal 
record) and a further 75 which resulted in a Community Resolution. This means that the number of offences with a substantive 
outcome has decreased, down by 138 from the 319 seen in 2018/19, as has the number where a CR was issued, down 66 from 141. 

In 2018/19 the binary performance was 39.6 v 42.4% (2019/20), and the reoffences rate 2018/19 was 1.26 v 1.83 (2019/20). This is 
based on the YJB last data release, the most recent release has been delayed.

Custody  

In 2019/20 there was an increase in the number of young people entering custody 14 v 9 in 2018/19.  Despite it going up, it is still the 
second lowest rate achieved since the introduction of the indicator, 2018/19 was the historic low for Coventry. 

Custody should only be used as last resort and the local increase in custody use is linked heavily to the serious youth violence 
agenda. Activity to address criminal exploitation and the resulting youth violence features within CYOS priorities. 

P
age 27



4

Priorities 
The main priority currently is managing and delivering statutory functions safely for children, their families, the community, victims, 
and employees. That activity is captured in detail in the action plan at the end of this document.

CYOS will continue to maintain activities to secure good outcomes. 

The service has a clear set of priority themes and, although their inclusion is not required to be detailed as a function of this report, 
a brief summary is provided; it is not an exhaustive record.  

It is likely that Covid 19 will continue to influence how these priorities are delivered across 2020/2021.   

Tackling Criminal Exploitation and Youth Violence

These two areas of practice have been intentionally linked together in this priority as serious youth violence is linked to criminal 
exploitation with a number of young people being exploited. 

If the strong correlation between certain types of exploitation and serous violence are not considered together it risks the behaviour 
of the young person being the only focus and may lead to inaction on addressing the casual factors, including exploiters.

CYOS is a member of the Coventry Youth Violence Prevention Partnership Board (CYVPPB) which sets strategic direction, agrees 
and monitors the ten-year action plan (based on the Scottish Public Health model). 

CYOS is also a member of the CYVPPB Operational Group which is responsible for delivering the action plan, supporting the 6 
strategic objectives with CYOS co-leading with the police on the Enforcement & Criminal Justice strand. The group identifies, 
manages and flags up risks, blockages and recommends solutions to the CYVPPB.

P
age 28



5

CYOS will continue to use a range of engagement, support and control methods; this includes the use of people with lived 
experiences to engage young people - for example, there is a strengthening relationship with St Giles, who are a charity which 
uses the expertise and real-life past experiences of its staff to engage young people and empower them. St Giles are directly 
engaged by CYOS and through additional funding sources such as: The Office of The Police Crime Commissioner and The West 
Midlands Violence Reduction Unit. This means, in Coventry, they are able to support young people at various “teachable moments” 
including in the police station, at A&E, as part of exiting custody (sentenced and remand), and at other appropriate times.

CYOS will continue to make effective use of The National Referral Mechanism (NRM), which is a framework for identifying victims 
of human trafficking and seeks to ensure they receive appropriate protection and support. CYOS will also continue to work with 
Coventry Childrens Services child exploitation team “Horizon” who are co located with CYOS.

The new range of GPS options available at bail, sentenced and release from custody stages are welcomed and are being used 
locally. This will support young people to stay safe, partially through making them less attractive to exploiters ,but also through 

P
age 29



6

supporting young people to adhere to Order requirements. The new options allow “tracking “of young people (in prescribed 
circumstances) for the first time.  

Tackling Disparity 

CYOS analyses its data and responds to national learning and priorities; for example, considering the MOJs Tackling Racial 
Disparity in the Criminal Justice System: 2020 February update.  

Local analysis tells us several things, including that the Coventry school census data identifies that 50% of pupils are BAME and 
that historically, locally, the primary overrepresented group has been the white classifications with significant underrepresentation 
of the Asian classifications. 

In the pie charts, further down, it compares Coventry school census data against the CYOS cohort and evidences that in 2019/20 
a shift can be seen with the white classifications becoming slightly underrepresented in the Criminal Justice System (CJS) for the 
first time, and over representation of the black and mixed classifications. 

In real terms, if you consider individuals, this is a single figure shift but requires on going analysis and action. It is also important to 
track at which point disparity sits in the criminal justice system as nationally minority ethnic children formed a high number of those 
in custody. 

Locally the BAME group is overrepresented by one person in the custody area, but the black classifications within that BAME group 
are overrepresented. 

It appears the ‘mixed group’ has “taken” from the ‘white group’ overall when viewing the YOS cohort in its entirety.

P
age 30



7

The custody levels links to the type of crime committed, in these cases serious youth violence predominantly, and underpins the 
importance of the first priority- tackling criminal exploitation and youth violence.  
 

CYOS reports analysis findings to its Board and details actions within its Youth Justice Plan each year.   

There are several ongoing and planned actions linked to this priority, which reflect good practice identified in Tackling Racial 
Disparity in the Criminal Justice System: 2020 February update.  

CYOS has already introduced, several years ago, leaflets into the police custody suites explaining Out of Court Disposals as 
previous national reports identified certain groups are more likely to give a no comment interview. This may be based on their 
experiences and lack of trust, but it also denies them the opportunity to be diverted and runs a risk of creating earlier entry into the 
formal criminal justice system. Alongside this, a further leaflet has been provided to the custody suites by CYOS, which stresses 

P
age 31



8

the importance of parents who are acting as appropriate adults seeking legal advice for their children to ensure that they fully 
understand the process they are involved in. Young people should not be disadvantaged because parents act as their appropriate 
adult and in addition to the above measures CYOS will consider how it can support parents in this role.  

The YJB, other stakeholders, and the Alliance of Sport has a record £1,000,000 grant from the London Marathon Trust, with a total 
budget of £1,714,752. The project aims to use sport to engage and improve health and life outcomes for more than 11,200 BAME 
children who are at risk of entering, or who are already involved, in the criminal justice system. CYOS is currently, alongside local 
partners including Public Health, at the “discussion “stage with the Alliance regarding its potential introduction into Coventry. 

West Midlands YOTS including Coventry will also be a part of a YJB serious violence pathfinder project which focuses on better 
engagement with BAME parents through “Kitchen Table Top Talks “a new initiative, piloted by Sandwell YOT. It aims to capture 
parents’ ideas, provide support and gather feedback; this is cited as a good practice example in the 2020 update and may be an 
activity which is deferred or trialled as a virtual approach subject to agreement. 

Girls are underrepresented in the criminal justice system and last year were 15% of the CYOS cohort. This can present its own 
challenges as often resources have been developed to work with males. CYOS will be exploring enhancing its offer and this 
includes supporting bids by third sector organisations; for example, to tackle the gender issues linked to gangs and exploitation to 
secure a bespoke resource. 

CYOS is also keen to ensure diversity within the workforce and discussions have taken place with The Diversity by Design Team 
supporting the Local Authority, to explore how the model of recruitment can support this agenda. Other measures, regarding 
workforce diversity are discussed under the people priority later in this document.

P
age 32



9

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), the Enhanced Case Management Pathway (ECMP)

Analysis of CYOS cases, as part of broader regional activity, identified multiple ACES in the case sample. Additional analysis of a 
CYOS custody cohort also identified the same pattern, with several young people demonstrating multiple ACES/indicators; for 
example, 3 out of the 9 had 3 separate primary provisions and long-term domestic abuse featured heavily, including at the child 
protection level, with some cases resulting in long term imprisonment of the perpetrator. In addition, several young people in the 
cohort had witnessed violent deaths or lost a parent or sibling.

CYOS has introduced an ECMP, but consideration is being given to the potential of expanding the resource to increase the offer. 
This activity has been delayed by Covid 19 as it requires additional health resource to expand the offer. 

Increased knowledge regarding the level of ACES, and understanding the impact of those ACES, means that the cohort where this 
approach would be suitable has increased; the current model of provision for young people with multiple offences and multiple 
adverse childhood experiences needs to reflect the trauma recovery approach. CYOS had anticipated being further along this 
journey, but training that had been arranged for staff to support the delivery of a trauma informed approach was not able to proceed 
and has been rescheduled for later this year. 

If the resources to fully implement the approach can be identified and training can be delivered to the staff group, it is anticipated 
that this will increase the quality of life for young people, improve the relationship with agencies, and support a reduction in 
reoffending. Building resilience to support young people to manage frequently chaotic family life situations and complex peer 
relationships, requires improved self-confidence and emotional resilience to secure greater safety.

The criteria and brief rational for the current model, which continues to be offered, is detailed below and focuses a scarce resource 
on those whose responses to ACES has translated into repeated convictions.

CYOS Enhanced Case Management

P
age 33



10

There are large numbers of young people with complex histories who have experienced significant adverse experiences in their 
childhood, this includes but is not limited to:

 Abuse – physical, emotional, sexual
 Bereavement
 Domestic Abuse and Violence
 Parental mental health concerns
 Parental substance misuse concerns  

Young people who have experienced significant adverse experiences in their early years can have their attachment to their 
caregivers affected and can experience issues later. These issues can focus inwardly in the form of depression and anxiety or 
outwardly in the form of offending, aggression and impulsivity. The Trauma Recovery Model suggests that young people who 
experience early childhood trauma are trapped at an early stage of emotional development which has implications for how they 
should be worked with (Welsh Government). Young people who are trapped at this early level are unable to benefit from CBT 
interventions, which requires the ability to think abstractly and to appreciate other people’s perspectives (empathy). These young 
people need a specialised approach, which involves the oversight of the CYOS health team who have access to clinical supervision 
from a multi systemic therapist who can help to guide intervention and the approach.

To be eligible for the enhanced case management approach the young person must have:
-    A minimum of three offences in the last 12-month period
-   Evidence of complexity – for instance, a history of multiple adverse experiences in their childhood and current/previous child 

protection registration, be a Child Looked After, substance misuse, mental health concerns, neurological issues, SLCN (Speech, 
Language and Communication Needs) issues, and/or engagement issues.

-   Subject to a current YOT intervention

P
age 34



11

Quality Assurance 

CYOS operates a quality assurance system that uses multiple lenses to triangulate evidence regarding the quality and impact of 
its activity to inform training and development, practice developments and to identify gaps. 

Quality assurance includes:
 Performance reports 
 Benchmarking analysis including HMIP thematic reports, YJB National Standards, Government guidance etc 
 Service user feedback, young people (voice of the child), parents and carers
 Victim feedback
 Stakeholder feedback 
 Compliments and complaints, no complaints received in 2019/20
 Community Safeguarding and Public Protection Incidents (CSPPI) Learning Reviews
 Case file audits
 Supervision
 Staff surveys - the most recent was the quality of supervision with all, but one response to a single question, marked as 

good or above across all data capture points
 Challenge from CYOS Board 
 CYOS Board commissioned reports 
 Practice observations 
 Service performance reviews by Childrens Services Senior Leadership Team 
 Team member involvement in the review of procedures and policies 
 Team Manager quality assurance of Assetplus and sign off 
 Outcomes of Pre-Sentence Report quality assurance by managers and peers P

age 35



12

CYOS as part of its self-audit against YJB National Standards will review its quality assurance approach to include the 
developing “Journey of the child” quality assurance and practice guidance framework for staff.

A new policy and timeline will be created for 2020/21.

People

 
Within Coventry’s Youth Offending Service, the aim is to develop and maintain a high-quality workforce that supports and promotes 
continuous professional development and opportunities for practitioners across the service, through qualification pathways that 
meet the needs of the children and young people’s workforce. 

The Youth Offending continued professional development pathway dovetails with the key priorities for the wider Coventry City 
Council Children’s Workforce Strategy and the Youth Justice Professional Framework (YJPF). 

The Youth Justice Effective Practice Certificate (YJEPC) is a widely held qualification in youth justice (provider: Unitas). It brings 
together the most up-to-date thinking, knowledge, research and evidence about what works in this field and is completed by all new 
CYOS support workers or officers. 

CYOS has a good track record of developing its staff as evidenced by a large cohort who have progressed from roles, including 
but not limited to: administration to a YOS Officer role, securing a range of certificated learning from the YJEPC (a 30-week 
programme), and to degree standard education including the Social work degree. 

Recently the YJB have set up a national steering group to drive forward ‘The Youth Justice Degree Apprenticeship Scheme’ and 
CYOS are represented on that group; CYOS are keen to explore this opportunity locally for existing staff. The YJB’s two proposed 
strands are;

• Strand 1 is for individuals from BAME backgrounds to widen employment opportunities

P
age 36



13

• Strand 2 is for individuals who are care leavers or ex Youth Justice service users

The target groups also support tackling another CYOS priority, as described earlier, disproportionality.  

Coventry Children’s Services has a rolling programme of core learning and training for Youth Offending Services staff that includes 
Safeguarding, Working with Risk, and Managing Restorative Strengths Based Approaches. A Career Pathway has been produced 
for all roles across Children’s Services to aid progression. 

All staff members attend and present at regular team meetings and are encouraged to attend the wider Children’s Services Practice 
Development Forum that supports learning and professional development across the wider workforce. YOS staff have contributed 
to this forum and shared their learning and expertise. 

CYOS has its own electronic bulletin, which provides updates, good news stories, links to training and research papers, and notifies 
of updated policies and procedures.

There is a commitment to involving practitioners and external partners that focus on current and emerging practice issues to 
improve the quality and consistency of practice. Practitioners also take a lead role in areas of practice and will champion this 
through the team; these areas of practice include: Gang and Youth Crime, Exploitation, Young people who demonstrate Sexually 
Harmful Behaviours, and Social Media. YOS Practitioners also benefit from digital learning and access to Research in Practice, 
which is a subscribed research and learning platform. Through the annual Childrens Services Practice Week, and links with 
University Partners, bespoke and broader workshops are offered to support research and reflective practice.

YJB National Standards

CYOS will be delivering the actions identified as part of a YOS self-assessment process against the new YJB National standards.P
age 37



14

The actions are detailed in a separate submission to the YJB and priority will be given to delivering activity for areas that currently 
sit in Requires Improvement (to get to Good). This was previously described under YJB self-assessment activity as ‘standard met’ 
with recommendations for Improvement, though was changed to replicate those used by Ofsted and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Probation (HMIP) as part of the introduction of the new standards.

Self-assessment was across all standards simultaneously, which was an unprecedented demand on YOTs as the previous YJB 
self-assessment process broke down the standards each year covering them over an extended period. Whilst the number of 
standards reduced, several timeliness standards were removed and the way in which standards were expressed created huge 
scope as to how performance could be measured. This could have a detrimental impact if YOTs interpret them differently and if 
their interpretation is not satisfactory when considered by the YJB. 

The YJB recognise that introducing new standards may mean that YOTs have changed their performance position negatively and 
are clear that this self-assessment is about setting a benchmark, along with a clear pathway to achieving good or above across all 
standards in the future. 
 
Last year, CYOS Management Board commenced a programme of self-audit against her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation 
(HMIP) Domain One Governance indicators of quality and the YJBs new National Standards. The CYOS Board agreed an additional 
event above its quarterly oversight meetings and invited Sue Walker the Head of I&E Midlands Youth Justice Board to facilitate the 
first phase of the review. Following the event, Board Members then completed an agency review against the quality indicators 
which were summarised on a shared spreadsheet and then jointly reviewed via CYOS Board with agreed actions that continue to 
be monitored by Board.
  
Board Members were also identified as group members for each of the individual National Standard areas. For each standard 
membership varied and always included a Board Member, a CYOS Manager, various team members, and external stakeholders 
as appropriate; different groups pathways varied, and part of the learning experience will be reflecting to see which methodology 
was most beneficial. 

P
age 38



15

Board member engagement varied, based on the standard, from agreeing the evaluation methodology through to the co-design of 
Magistrates feedback forms by Coventry and Warwickshire YOS with the Chair and Deputy Chair of The Youth Panel; this was 
followed by a presentation at a Youth Panel event, also attended by The District Judge, who declared that YOS court officers could 
tell her off if she failed to complete it!  

Certain standards lent themselves to a collaborative approach and CYOS approached the other West Midlands YOTs to see if they 
were open to trialling a collaborative approach on ‘Standard 4 - in secure settings’. This was agreed and Coventry led the activity 
for the West Midlands, which included representatives from other YOTs and from parts of the secure estate, including Rainsbrook 
Secure Training Centre and Werrington Youth Offending Institution. The activity enabled capturing self-analysis and sharing 
findings as part of a partnership meeting. The 7 West Midlands YOTs Heads of Service determined that, while the exercise was 
useful, their preference was to agree their own quality assurance methodologies. The Heads of Service did agree that several of 
the standards within Standard 4 could only be answered/rated by YOTs on the basis of the experiences of individual young people 
and YOTs, as neither the commissioner or provider of secure estate services, could not provide broader judgement; for example, 
as to whether a provider offered a safe environment. 

With the agreement of the 7 West Midlands YOTs, Coventry submitted a paper to the Regional Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Arrangements (MASA) Chairs and Business Managers Forum (Safeguarding Partnerships) as clearly each partnership also has a 
responsibility to ensure that/reassure itself that any secure environments in its area are suitable and safe. The purpose of the paper 
was to secure support for a single report and set of indicators/evidence provided by the Youth Custody estate and MASA support 
was secured. 

Coventry YOT wrote to Wendy Tomlinson, the Youth Lead for the Secure Estate, and asked whether a report could be made 
available to all West Midlands YOTS based on an agreed set of quality indicators as detailed below. This was agreed in principle 
as a good idea and Wendy Tomlinson said she had agreed to meet with the Chief Executive of the YJB to discuss in more detail, 
and potentially to make a national report available; at the point of this submission a report is not available. 

Data requested for the single report for the West Midlands YOTS is below:

P
age 39



16

 Number of restraints per institution, also as a proportion of residents, outcomes of restraint overviews/ reports and findings, and 
any related procedures (per institution)

 Internal safeguarding procedures (per institution)
 Records of assaults also as a proportion of residents, peer on peer, and related policies and procedures (per institution)
 Inspection findings and action plans
 Responses to allegations against staff and related procedures
 Staff training records (whether staff are appropriately skilled)
 Evidence of effective / timely communication between Safeguarding Partnerships as required
 Incidents of self-harm, short of attempted suicide (per institution)
 Incidents of attempted suicide (per institution)
 Identified unmet health needs (per institution)
 Average number of hours in cell a day (per institution)
 Number of hours education offered, average number of hours engaged in education
 Provision of and type of programmes, plus gaps
 Escort contractor compliance with escort service specification

CYOS will be prioritising activity to address areas identified as part of the self-assessment as Requiring Improvement (to get to 
Good).

P
age 40



17

Finance 
CYOS continues to deliver its statutory functions as detailed in the action plan. There are a number of variables outside of the 
services control primarily, for the purpose of this report, the ongoing Government exit strategy. CYOS Management Board will 
maintain close oversight of the budget position and risks as they become known, particularly as the different stages of exit are 
announced.    

The pooled budget will continue to support statutory activity and service developments; for example, those contained within the 
priorities section detailed earlier and those identified as part of self-assessment against the new YJB National Standards.

YOS Finance Tables (2020/21)

Table 1: 2020-21 Youth Offending Service Partner Contributions to Pooled Budget

Agency Staffing costs (£)
Payments in kind 

for services (£)
Other delegated 

funds (£)
Total (£)

Local Authority 513,321 - 203,806 717,127
YJB Practice Grant 369,727 - 161,880 531,607
Police and Crime Commissioner 58,518 - 46,546 105,064
Health Service - 90,650 13,309 103,959
Police Service - 57,593 - 57,593
National Probation Service - 43,400 5,000 48,400
Total 941,566 191,643 430,541 1,563,750

CommentsP
age 41



18

 The YJB budget was confirmed on 08/04/20 and the Community Safety Fund was confirmed on 23/04/20 by West Midlands 
Police Crime Commission.

 The payments for services in-kind relate to staffing costs for employees working with the Youth Offending Service. 
 The Police and Probation budgets were confirmed on 24/04/20.
 No changes have been assumed for the Health contributions, pending confirmation.

Table 2: 2020-21 Youth Justice Board Grant

Salaries 369,727 369,727 0
Activity Costs 54,520 54,520 0
Accommodation 4,060 4,060 0
Overheads 103,274 103,274 0
Equipment 26 26 0
Total 531,607 531,607 0

Youth Justice Grant budget Budget Forecast outturn Forecast 
Over/(Under) spend

Comments

 The salary budget includes an allocation for sessional salaries.
 It is anticipated that activity costs will still be required, with activities moving from a group-based model to a one-to-one 

model in response to COVID-19.

P
age 42



19

Table 3: 2020-21 Youth Offending Service Pooled Budget Changes

2019-20 2020-21
Local Authority 750,175 717,127
YJB 524,866 531,607
Police and Crime Commissioner 105,064 105,064
Health 103,959 103,959
Police 56,188 57,593
Probation 53,066 48,400
Budget 1,593,318 1,563,750

Agency Annual Budget

Comments

 The change to the local authority contribution is due to reduced costs (reduced Local Government Pension Scheme 
contributions and salary re-structuring as part of the business services review in October 2019).

 The local authority will be required to fund the pay award once it has been confirmed; the latest offer was 2% in February 2020.
 The YJB contribution has been uplifted by 2% in 2020/21.
 The Probation contribution has reduced due to salary grading.
 No changes have been assumed for the Health contributions, pending confirmation.P

age 43



20

Coventry Youth Offending Service Contingency and Recovery Plan Covid -19

Practice Area Business continuity Recovery plan Lead Timeframe. 
This will be 

agreed subject 
to government 

guidance & 
added in as 
appropriate

 1
CYOS Board 
oversight

Communications with Board as 
appropriate  

Individual virtual meetings with Board 
member(s) as appropriate 

CYOS Board meetings will take place 
virtually 

The model for Board meetings 
will be face to face with the 
opportunity for members who 
may not otherwise be able to 
join (and guests) offered a dial 
in facility as appropriate

Board Chair
John Gregg

CYOS Head 
of Service 
Georgina Kell

Reviewed at 
Mays Board 
and as required 

 2
HMIP Domain 1 
Governance 
CYOS Board 
action plan 

CYOS Board will continue to monitor 
progress against its action plan and any 
adjustments regarding deadlines as 
appropriate   

Any actions deferred because 
of activity to support changes 
due to Covid 19 will be 
timetabled for completion  

Board Chair
John Gregg

CYOS Head 
of Service 
Georgina Kell

Reviewed at 
Mays Board 
and as required

 3

P
age 44



21

Youth Justice 
Plan 2019/20– 
outstanding 
actions 

Statutory practice is maintained by the 
service. 

Not all the actions, for example practice 
development, falling in the latter part of 
the year will not have been delivered. 

For example, training which is not 
appropriate for remote delivery such as 
Motivational Interviewing and The 
Trauma Recovery Model.   

Outstanding actions will sit 
alongside the actions identified 
as part of CYOS Self-
Assessment against the YJB 
standards.
Training dates will be 
rescheduled

CYOS Board will review 
actions and expectations as 
part of Board activity 

CYOS Head 
of Service
Georgina Kell

Date for 
actions to be 
agreed when 
government 
releases its exit 
strategy – 
reduction of 
restrictions 

 4
Staffing levels It has been agreed that temporary staff 

may be sourced via agency (two 
additional posts currently) if required to 
cover potential sick / self-isolation.
HOS has met with Coventry City Council 
HR recruitment to agree specification and 
utilise existing pathways if required.
 

Agreement will be reviewed in 
line with situation, and will 
cease when risk of infection 
removed/controlled 

CYOS Head 
of Service
Georgina Kell

Date for 
agreement to 
cease to be 
agreed when 
government 
releases its exit 
strategy – 
reduction of 
restrictions

 5
Staffing levels 
Testing 

This is available locally for staff who have 
symptoms, ideally within 3 days of onset 
but up to 5 and their family members if 
they, not the staff member are 
symptomatic.
 

It is anticipated this approach 
will be in place until a vaccine 
is available. Service will then 
cease  

Line 
Managers 

Date for 
agreement to 
cease to be 
agreed when 
government 
releases its exit 
strategy – 

P
age 45



22

Process is managed through CCC and 
staff are identified through the staff 
availability tracker completed by CYOS 
Team Managers

Police, Health and other “critical staff 
have the equivalent process/ resource 
within their agency’s the primary 
difference is the testing site 

reduction of 
restrictions

 6
Staff / service 
users/ partners   
face to face 
Contact Risk 
Assessment  

This has been completed and circulated 
to staff and shared with the unions 

This includes for example measures to 
reduce infection, to mitigate impact, 
wellbeing including additional support 
services, multi environment measures 
and links to key supporting guidance 
such as use of MS Teams, government 
guidance and home working 

Will be adapted as restrictions 
eased and will cease when all 
restrictions lifted 

Board Chair
John Gregg

CYOS Head 
of Service 
Georgina Kell

Risk 
Assessment 
currently 
subject to 
review pending 
sight of new 
PPE Guidance 

 7 Employee 
Assistance 
Programme 

In addition to the provision given by the 
Council’s Occupational Health and 
Wellbeing Service. The EAP has been 
launched to ensure that help is available 
to employees, in recognition of the 

The programme will be 
reviewed, and a decision made 
re retention value. 

The business as usual 
provision given by the 

CCC OH and 
HR leads 

Date to be 
determined in 
the context of 
Government 
guidance and 
restrictions 

P
age 46



23

additional challenges presented by 
COVID-19. 

What does the EAP provide? 
 The EAP provides a range of 
information and practical support for 
problems at work and home 
including: Anxiety, Bereavement, Stress, 
Depression, Workplace Issues, Trauma, 
Relationships, Finances, and Family 
Difficulties. 

 Telephone access to appropriately 
qualified professionals 24 hours a day, 7 
days a week, 365 days a year 
 Independent, confidential 
counselling support provided by caring 
and suitably qualified personnel 
 An online Cognitive Behavioural 
Therapy (CBT) programme and an 
extensive range of CBT workbooks 

The helpline is for mental health support 
and cannot provide any advice for 
COVID-19 health-related issues. 

Council’s Occupational Health 
and Wellbeing Service will 
continue 

 8 Covid - 19
Key 
stakeholders 
CJS YJB 
hosted virtual 
meetings

YJB facilitated.
Standard members include YJB, West 
Midlands YOS HOS, national 
representatives from YCS, HMCTS.

It is anticipated that this forum 
will continue across the 
restricted period and continue 
as part of exit / recovery 
activity.

YJB Peter 
Heskith 
Head Of 
Innovation &

Group will 
review its 
benefits and its 
longevity and 
whether it has 

P
age 47



24

Guests as appropriate.

Meeting picks up practice changes 
across stakeholders, barriers, identifies 
support, 

Meetings moving to weekly

Group 
members  

an ongoing 
value post end 
of exit delivery

 9
Team 
communications 
/ well being

CYOS Microsoft Teams newsfeed to be 
utilised for sharing all Covid19 practice 
changes Virtual Team meetings 
Virtual social “coffee meetings” to 
maintain staff well-being Health Team 
members maintaining wellbeing calls to 
staff 

Coventry City Council specialist 
Occupational Health advice and 
counselling service available to staff 
specific to impact of Covid 19
weekly team manager meetings with 
supervised staff

Newsfeed will not be required 
for this purpose be may be 
used going forward based on 
team feedback

Review virtual meetings that 
take place currently under 
restriction and evaluate 
whether they need to continue 
in the future

Georgina Kell 
CYOS HOS

10
Staff 
supervision

Managers will offer face to face as 
appropriate and in line with the minimum 
requirement, maintaining social 
distancing or virtual supervision using 
audio and visual. It will also be 
supplemented by additional “team Calls 

Supervision will be monthly 
face to face, but depending on 
circumstances virtual may be 
occasionally acceptable 

CYOS 
Managers

When 
restriction 
lifted.
Consideration 
to continue use 

P
age 48



25

“and audio and visual case discussion as 
frequently as required.
Managers are being been provided with 
additional training 

Course Title: ‘Managing teams 
remotely in a time of crisis’

Course background
How do you manage a person or team 
effectively when you don’t physically see 
them often? This is particularly difficult if 
the team is suddenly dispersed. 
This session will cover the essentials and 
allow you to think about how the dynamic 
of a team changes when people don’t sit 
in the same physical space. How do you 
as a leader manage this, keep people 
resilient and productive and support a 
strong sense of team in a time of huge 
uncertainty? There will be practical 
advice on adapting your 

communication style to reassure and 
keep the team focused.

What you will learn

 How to keep your team focused in 
a time of crisis and agree the core 
priorities 

to support 
home working

P
age 49



26

 10 questions you need to ask your 
team and actively listen to the 
feedback

 3 kinds of distance issues to 
consider -physical, operational and 
affinity

 How to feel OK with uncertainty as 
a leader

 How to establish communication 
norms, use of social media and 
using technology to best effect

 How to hold individuals to account 
and motivate to deliver

 How to help your team manage 
their anxiety, and keep up 
resilience

 Daily briefing meetings and debrief 
meetings take place the youth offending 
service duty worker, bail officer and youth 
crime officer.

11
Professionals 
meetings (for 
example 
Strategy 
meetings, 
YODOC, 
Allocations, joint 

Microsoft Team Talk audio and visual 
being used. Skype and other mediums 
available as required

Review model and evaluate 
which meetings require face to 
face, which don’t and maximise 
benefits of reduce travel costs 
and time

For CYOS led 
activity -
CYOS Team 
Managers for 
each are they 
lead on will 
determine 

On-going

P
age 50



27

decision 
meetings, 
Channel Panel, 
probation 
transfer 
meetings

Learning is already being 
captured regarding what is 
working well

which model 
applies. The  
Childrens 
Services 
Leadership 
Team – will 
determine the 
model going 
forward for 
area they lead 
on

12
Provider 
webinars 
change in 
deliver models 

There are a number of webinars being 
provided by partners regarding the 
impact of Covid 19 on service users and 
how practice is adapting to support them. 
Three examples are provided below
Reducing harm and risks for drug and 
alcohol users during COVID19. 
Presented by CGL Coventry with a Q&A 
session.
The briefing will include:

 Service availability and 
adaptations

 Harm reduction advice for drug / 
alcohol users in isolation

 Managing overdose risks
 Reducing the risk of coronavirus 

spread
 

Agencies will continue to 
review their offer as guidance 
changes and new webinars are 
regularly set up for partners  

P
age 51



28

This one to move down as practice 
related 

Domestic abuse presented by Jaime 
Richards from Coventry Haven with a 
Q&A session.
The briefing will include:

 Service availability and 
adaptations

 Keeping safe in isolation
 Support networks
 Safety planning - creating a plan 

and things to think about
 Children and child contact 

arrangements
 Useful links and contacts

Supporting victims of sexual abuse 
presented by CRASAC and a Q&A 
session.

The briefing will include:

 Service availability and adapted 
services 

 Referral Process
 The impact of ‘isolation’ on victims 

and perps
 How Social distancing has 

affected the CJS
 How to manage a disclosure
 Useful links and contacts

P
age 52



29

Additional webinars advertised Coventry 
City Council intranet.
Information from webinars is available 
from the Internet.

 13
Appraisals 

Appraisal window has been extended 

Team managers are preparing and 
completing annual appraisal via MS 
Teams 

Any outstanding appraisals to 
be completed face-to-face. 
Review of impact with staff 
group whose appraisal 
completed through MS Teams

CYOS 
Managers 

Current 
corporate 
deadline is the 
end of June 
2020 – the 
expectation is 
that appraisals 
will be 
completed 
before this 
window 
closing. 

14
Risk mapping Identifying young people / parents’ carers 

where risk levels may have changed 
because of Covid 19 restrictions, sharing 
appropriately data with partners 
Including Childrens Services and the 
Police as appropriate 

 Standard risk management 
procedures have remained in 
place throughout restrictions 
and these additional activities 
will cease

CYOS 
Service 
Manager 
Georgina Kell

Subject to 
restrictions 
being lifted 
model will 
evolve in line 
with exit plan 
dates  

15
Home Visits

 
CYOS has introduced an assessment 
tool that identifies whether a home visit 

Review model and evaluate 
benefits – may facilitate on 

 
The review is 
on-going the 

P
age 53



30

can be undertaking virtually. This has 
been completed for all young people in 
the community.  
 
Following a dynamic risk assessment 
undertaken by CYOS case manager 
young people may be visited remotely 
using social media apps rather than a 
direct face-to-face

visit. The visit must be through a 
recognised app, CYOS will 
use WhatsApp and it must include visual 
as well as auditory contact. 
Where only auditory required, mobiles 
and young people’s landlines (as they 
locate a young person) can also be used. 
Pay as you go phones are available for 
any young people without access to a 
phone   
 
Where does this apply? 
 
The assessment must determine whether 
the purpose of the visit can be met 
through a virtual visit.
This proposal will be applicable to visits 
to potentially all young people but in 
particular those with underlying health 
concerns where contact with 
professionals potentially places the 
young person, their family at additional 

going occasional use of the 
medium in prescribed 
circumstances. 

Consult with young people and 
families on their experience.

If elements of virtual visits are 
to be retained a new 
WhatsApp risk assessment 
must be completed

Undertake home visits 
routinely when restrictions 
lifted   

CYOS Team 
Manager Nick 
Jeffreys

model will 
change in line 
with the 
Government 
exit plan when 
released 

P
age 54



31

risk of infection, and looked after children 
in stable looked after placements. It 
would also apply to those to families who 
are self-isolating.  
 
A WhatsApp risk assessment has been 
completed and temporary permission 
given for its use by CCC Information 
Governance and CYOS Board Chair. 
Consent is requested from the young 
person.

Where a face to face visit is required this 
will be undertaken in line with 
government guidance

16
Quality 
assurance 

Quality assurance activity will continue 
throughout this period. 

This will include;

 dip sampling virtual home visits

 completion of the journey of the 
child quality assurance framework

 national standard audit activity as 
identified in the self-assessment

 young people and parents and 
carers feedback regarding the 

Given that the Governments 
exit strategy remains unknown 
where deadlines for activities 
are suggested this will be 
monitored by CYOS 
Management Board and 
subject to change  

Quality assurance activity has 
continued throughout this 
period and as part of recovery 
priorities may need to change 
but it is important to note QA 
has continued. 

Virtual H/V- 
CYOS 
Managers 

Journey of the 
child Board 
Members, 
CYOS 
Managers and 
Case 
managers 
(continue 
working 
groups) 

Virtual Home 
visits – on an 
on-going basis 
one per case 
manager per 
month 

Journey of the 
child – June 
2020

N.S audit 
activity as 
determined in 
CYOS Self-
assessment 

P
age 55



32

impact of Covid 19 practice 
adaptations, what’s worked for 
them, what hasn’t, what should be 
considered for adoption as part of 
business as usual practice 

Pre-sentence report gatekeeping 
continues, and feedback is given by 
Microsoft teams.
 
Asset+ assessments are countersigned 
and completed feedback/amendments 
given by email and Microsoft teams.

Practice Development Workshops 
continued virtually – every month for YOS 
Officers 

The priority on recovery will be 
activities identified in the NS 
self-assessment  

  

NS audit as 
determined by 
self-
assessment 

Service user 
feedback -
Case 
Managers and 
CYOS Team 
Manager Nick 
Jeffreys 

subject to 
impact of Covid 
19

Service user 
feedback 
(specific to 
service practice 
adaptations) 
May 2020 
 

17
Appropriate 
Adult Interviews

Risk assessment in place. Coventry Chief 
Superintendent and Custody Inspector 
have confirmed that;

 Screening occurs prior to 
transference to custody suite – no 
one who is symptomatic will be 
produced at Coventry 

 The area is cleaned in between 
each activity 

 In the event of PPE being required 
it is available in the custody suite 

Normal practice will resume 
when risk ceases.

This is not an activity that will 
be delivered virtually 

Matthew 
Haynes 
CYOS Team 
Manager 

Inspector 
Gregg Rowley

To be agreed 
when 
government 
releases its 
exit strategy 
– reduction of 
restrictions

P
age 56



33

CYOS continues to act as AA as 
appropriate responsibility fully in this area 

Monitoring of appropriate adult requests 
continues and this information is collated 
for the monthly youth offending service 
management meeting.

18
Resources for 
families 

As restrictions were being introduced 
CYOS distributed hardcopy resource 
packs to all young people in the 
community. While each package can be 
personalised, these include packs such 
Managing Anxiety and stress, “sorry” 
resources, Teen Talk and Parent Talk 
session activities. This has enabled 
activities to be set and then worked 
through as part of a virtual home visit 
activity.

Electronic / online resource library has 
also been updated including mental 
health resources to support anxiety 
caused by the virus and to explain its 
nature in different ways to meet diversity 
of need 

Communications have been sent to 
young people and parents directing them 
to support and raising their awareness of 

Resources will continue to be 
available as printed versions 
as these are saved 
electronically following them 
being scanned as part of 
preparation for working 
remotely. Youth offending 
service officers can review the 
appropriateness of the 
resources completed with 
young people as required.

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Matthew 
Haynes 

On- going

These 
resources can 
be utilised post 
exit and will be 
available on an 
on-going basis

P
age 57



34

infection risks, the criminal response in 
term of not following Government 
guidance and NHS advice about when to 
seek advice support for other health 
issues 

The information below (universal 
services), has been sent to by CYOS to 
its families, including information links, 
food bank details, opening times and 
central phone number 

Additional copies of resources can be 
printed within the office. Staff can attend 
the office by maintaining social distancing 
measures.

19
Universal 
Services 

Early Help Hubs – There is an Early Help 
gateway that contains all the links and 
information from a range of services 
containing information on their changes 
since COVID-19. 

Four Family Hubs open, and all 8 are still 
receiving calls. Families are also being

directed to the new Community website 
that is the central place to keep updated 
that is outward focused.

The service delivery model is 
constantly reviewed at Director 
and Strategic Lead level within 
Childrens Services and 
discussions with LA Lead 
Member and relevant others 

The expectation is that all 
Hubs will reopen but practice 
will be reviewed regarding 
what has worked well and 

Early Help 
Service 
Manager, 
CYOS Board 
Member 

Nigel 
Patterson 

Reviewed in 
line with 
changes in 
Government 
guidance and 
local need 

P
age 58



35

It includes information about the new 10 
Emergency Food Hubs and the new 
freephone central line if people need food 
or other sources of help, 08085 834333.

Remote contact, if appropriate using 
audio and visual contact is undertaken 
following assessment.

The assessment must determine whether 
the purpose of the visit can be met 
through a virtual visit.

It is applicable to virtually visit most 
young people, subject to assessment, but 
particularly valid for those with underlying 
health concerns where contact with 
professionals potentially places the 
young person, their family at additional 
risk of infection

Where a face to face visit is required this 
will be undertaken in line with 
government guidance

some changes to model are 
anticipated

20
Referral Panel 
meetings 

Referral panel meetings to be conducted 
by telephone consultation with a panel 
member and then agreed via telephone 
consultation with young person and 

Will revert to face to face 
routinely when restrictions 
lifted consideration to virtual 
video panels for end panels or 

CYOS Team 
Manager Nick 
Jeffreys 

To be reviewed 
in line with 
restrictions 

P
age 59



36

parent/carer, with the panel member 
available for queries. 

Exploration is taking place regarding 
virtual video call options, though this 
needs to be balanced with managing 
panel member volunteer’s personal 
details. 

to support continuity for YPs 
who move out of area

being lifted 
centrally 

21
Remand 
hearings 
(appearing from 
the community- 
police custody 
suite)

National process in place for young 
people to be dealt with from police 
custody suite.  

Guidance issued to Bail Officers 

Agreement in place with Custody 
Inspector to facilitate face to face 
interviews with young people 

No one who is symptomatic should 
appear from Coventry custody suite – if 
this was to occur PPE is available 

The agreement is between 
HMCTS and Police, YOTs are 
represented regionally on a 
nation group and via a regional 
forum led by the YJB

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Adrian 
Seymour

To be reviewed 
in line with 
restrictions 
being lifted 
centrally

22
Education 

Quarterly education and youth offending 
service meetings continue, these are 
facilitated by Microsoft teams.
 

Meetings will continue as part 
of recovery.
 

CYOS Team 
Manager 

To be reviewed 
in line with 
restrictions 

P
age 60



37

Monthly education, training or 
employment data requested by the city 
council data team.
 
Information officer collates and presents 
education, training or employment data to 
quarterly YOS management board
 
Youth offending service are finalising 
education process that will continue as 
part of recovery plan.
 
Youth offending service officers continue 
to have access to education team within 
the city council either by telephone, 
Microsoft teams and or email.
 
Youth offending services education lead 
continues to be available via telephone, 
Microsoft teams and/or email.

Young people that are no longer 
attending school in the current 
circumstances supported as required by 
the youth offending service officer. This 
includes contacting the school in relation 
to remote work and in cases where the 
young person can attend school 
encouraging them to do so.
 

 
Monthly data will continue
 
 
 
This will continue by 
information officer and the 
YOS management board
 
 
 
This will continue as part of 
recovery in addition to face-to-
face meetings.
 
 
This will continue as part of 
recovery in addition to face-to-
face meetings.

Matthew 
Haynes

being lifted 
centrally

P
age 61



38

The youth offending service can provide 
intervention work the young person to 
complete at home.
 
If additional concerns were identified as a 
result of the young person not attending 
school the youth offending service officer 
will liaise with the education team and 
relevant school and if required children's 
services.

Notification for any YPs in custody re 
EHCP, schooling and pupil passport to 
ensure continuity through custodial 
period 

23
Court Court is operating on a week by week 

basis.  Currently, only cases in custody 
are being heard and this is being heard 
by video link where appropriate.  For any 
urgent enforcement action, escalation to 
regional level in HMCTS required if court 
unable to offer a hearing date.

Adjourned sentencing cases, not 
currently open to the service, will be 
monitored through existing professional 
agency contact or directly to support in 
the interim. 

Normal practice will resume 
when restrictions are lifted but 
are likely to result in a 
temporary uplift in work caused 
by the backlog of unheard 
cases.  

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Adrian 
Seymour

Review in line 
with changes in 
Government 
exit plan

P
age 62



39

 
24

Order 
requirements 

Requirements unable to be completed in 
advance of end date.

It is not anticipated that this will occur 
currently having reviewed requirements 
but with an indeterminate operation of 
restrictions this may become an issue. 
Where this occurs, the court will be asked 
to consider varying the conditions 

When making recommendations to the 
court the PSR author and manager will 
consider the practicalities of 
recommendations while ensuring the type 
of supervision / requirement 
recommended is appropriate   
  

PSR recommendations will 
continue to be gate kept and 
requirements reviewed in 
terms of the services ability to 
deliver

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Adrian 
Seymour 

Review in line 
with changes in 
Government 
exit plan

25
Attendance 
Centre Orders 

Currently any required activities are being 
completed on a 121 basis as needed.

Providers of specialist input such as 
Street Doctors and First Aid provision are 
being asked if this could be delivered 
virtually 

CYOS can deliver weekly, 
rather than fortnightly sessions 
at its centre and this will be 
considered if required as 
restrictions lifted.

This would reduce risk of a 
requirement not being 

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Matthew 
Haynes

Review in line 
with change in 
Government 
exit plan

P
age 63



40

It is not anticipated at this stage that this 
type of order cannot be managed under 
current restrictions. If they remain in 
place indefinitely and could exceed the 
length of requirement there is the option 
to ask the Court to vary the order  

At the point of sentencing both the Pre-
Sentence Report and the Court Officer 
would make sure sentencers aware of 
the temporary change in the delivery 
model  

Availability of the Coventry girls and boys 
club will be reviewed on a monthly basis 
in line with their policy regarding room 
bookings.

 

delivered in the period of 
supervision

Coventry youth offending 
service will revert to using the 
Coventry girls and boys club 
once they are open.

Review to be completed to 
ascertain number of 
attendance centre hours 
outstanding as a result of the 
temporary suspension of 
delivery. Attendance centre 
requirement proposals will be 
reviewed. The 20/21 session 
plan will be reviewed and 
structured during suspension.

26
ISS Bail and, 
Sentenced ISS

ISS provision can be delivered where a 
young person is subject to education.  
Any education that is being delivered 
virtually will be counted toward the ISS 
hours.  

Where a young person is subject to ISS, 
we will work with professionals to ensure 
daily contact where appropriate either by 
phone, video calling or in person at the 
property ensuring an appropriate 

Consideration to be given to 
whether any elements of 
practice can change as a result 
of the methods used, for 
instance, can Saturday home 
visits be undertaken virtually.  

CYOS Team 
Managers

Review in line 
with change in 
Government 
Guidance

P
age 64



41

distance.  Young people will undertake 
offending behaviour work virtually and 
appropriate reparation will be arranged 
that the young people can complete at 
home.  Family element will be satisfied 
through phone calls and video 
messaging.  

We will consider the use of GPS tracking 
where appropriate to manage young 
people’s whereabouts as an additional 
method of control.  

27
Offender 
Management

Monthly high-risk management meetings 
will continue virtually on a monthly basis 
via Microsoft Teams.

Police Offender Management (Deterring 
Young Offenders and Gangs) continue to 
manage young people in the community 
utilising phone contact and home visits 
on a risk/need basis. Available for 
updates and intel sharing as per usual 
practice. 

Other risk forums remain in place locally 
– for example, MARAC, MAPPA, PPRC 
process.

Direct facing activity with 
Young People will move to 
face to face once restrictions 
lifted – this will be monitored 
through monthly forums to 
confirm any agreed multi-
agency changes.

Consideration for virtual 
meetings to enable greater 
multi-agency engagement and 
oversight.

CYOS Team 
Manager
 Nick Jeffreys

Reviewed in 
line with 
Government 
Guidance

28
Unpaid work Youth offending service officers will 

monitor the number of hours remaining 
Sessions will be available for 
youth offending service officers 

CYOS Team 
Manager Review in 

line with 

P
age 65



42

and the duration of the court order, any 
delivery is 121 only.
 
If required youth offending service officer 
will return the order to court for it to be 
extended or amended.
 
Youth offending service officers to 
consider alternative options completing 
unpaid work experience

It is not currently identified as an issue, 
but long-term restrictions may result in an 
impact 

to deliver on a one-to-one 
basis as part of recovery.
 
The number of cases being 
return to court for an extension 
on amendment be monitored.

Options for sessions is being 
reviewed as part of remote 
working. Additional 
opportunities will be available 
following restrictions. Session 
plans will be in place to assist 
in delivering any outstanding 
hours.

Matthew 
Haynes

change in 
Government 
Guidance

29
Reparation Reparation hours are currently not taking 

place as part of a group work. Youth 
offending service officers will monitor the 
number of hours remaining and the 
duration of the court order.
 
If required youth offending service officer 
will return the order to court for it to be 
extended or amended.
 
Youth offending service officers to 
consider alternative options completing 

Sessions will be available for 
youth offending service officers 
to deliver on a one-to-one 
basis as part of recovery.
 
The number of cases being 
returned to court for an 
extension on amendment be 
monitored.

Options for sessions is being 
reviewed as part of remote 
working. Additional 

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Matthew 
Haynes

Review in 
line with 
change in 
Government 
Guidance

P
age 66



43

reparation. These have included activities 
completed within the home

Reparation activities continue in relation 
letters of apology/explanation, mediations 
etc.

One to one work can continue as 
appropriate and when restrictions are 
lifted activities such as coppicing, litter 
pick, parks maintenance can continue 
activities.

opportunities will be available 
following restrictions. Session 
plans will be in place to assist 
in delivering any outstanding 
hours.

30
Parenting Work Sessions to be conducted remotely using 

WhatsApp video calling, where 
appropriate.  

All parents will be contacted by the YOS 
parenting officer during the period of 
restrictions to offer support.

Voluntary parenting programmes 
continue to take place remotely – this 
includes the completion of genograms, 
behaviour plans, task focussed planning. 

No current parenting orders in place for 
the Service. Expectation that, if required, 
this could be delivered remotely with 

Will revert to standard practice 
model when restrictions are 
lifted.

Review practice for parents in 
work that virtual routes may 
provide greater flexibility and 
enable increased engagement 
levels

CYOS Team 
Manager Nick 
Jeffreys

To be agreed 
when 
government 
releases its exit 
strategy – 
reduction of 
restrictions

P
age 67



44

materials for intervention provided in the 
post.

Face to face home visits can be provided 
if required.

 
31

Victims Youth offending service support officers 
continue to contact victims either by 
telephone or email.
 
Case updates are provided to the youth 
offending service officer in contact 
victims. This continues to be by email and 
will be followed up by telephone or 
Microsoft teams meeting is required.
 
Victim work can be delivered by the 
allocated youth offending service officer 
via video supervision.
 
Coventry youth offending service will 
continue to monitor restorative justice 
interventions as part of its current 
reporting structure to the management 
board. This will continue on a quarterly 
basis.

Face-to-face contact with 
victims will commence as part 
of recovery
 
Support officers will provide 
updates face-to-face to 
allocated youth offending 
service officers in addition to 
email.
 
Benefits from the victim’s 
perspective will be reviewed.
 
 
Quarterly reports will continue 
to be completed for the youth 
offending service management 
board.

A Case manager meeting will 
take place as part of remote 
working arrangements and this 
will continue in order to ensure 

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Matthew 
Haynes 

To be agreed 
when 
government 
releases its exit 
strategy – 
reduction of 
restrictions

P
age 68



45

Reparation activities continue in relation 
letters of apology/explanation, mediations 
etc.

victims are receiving the 
required restorative justice 
intervention.
 
Monitoring to take place of the 
impact on the numbers of 
restorative justice interventions 
that have taken place during 
the restricted period.

32
Youth secure 
Estate 

Early release, Covid 19 

CYOS have screened its custody young 
people and none match the current early 
release proposal for young people which 
is with Ministers currently.  Should the 
criteria change a further review will take 
place to ensure neither the well-being of 
the young person or public protection risk 
is present should they be released.

All face to face prison visits are 
suspended and meetings will take place 
using conference calls.  Young people in 
the majority of institutions have been 
provided with a phone in the cells to 
enable them to call friends family and 
professionals.

Approach to remands, if presented risk 
isolation on return – seek to balance risk 
on case by case basis  

Early release Covid 19 will 
cease once restrictions are 
fully removed.

The secure estate will 
presumably wish to review 
access to phones with all 
stakeholders (including young 
people) when face to face visit 
are re-instated.

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Adrian 
Seymour 

To be agreed 
when 
government 
releases its exit 
strategy – 
reduction of 
restrictions

P
age 69



46

FAQ, and changes in delivery updates 
from YCS shared with CYOS 

YCS on regionally YJB facilitated weekly 
phone call with YOTS and CHS 
stakeholders 

33
NPS transitions Transition discussions continue and 

decisions made on an individual basis.

Transfers continue between YOS and 
Probation in line with local and national 
agreements.

Quarterly transfer meetings take place 
via video calls.

Transition planning meeting between 
YOS officer and Probation officer takes 
via video link.

3-way meeting with young person will 
take place via video calls, WhatsApp or 
telephone.

National procedure will stand 

CYOS will continue to follow 
local protocol between YOS 
and Probation.

Youth offending service and 
probation to review whether 
face-to-face meetings 
regarding transition need to 
take place in the future if it has 
been deemed successful 
Microsoft team meetings have 
been effective.
 
Youth offending service will 
continue to identify and assess 
young people regarding their 
suitability for transfer to 
probation within the current 
agreed timeframes. Next cases 
for transition will be identified in 
June 2020.

CYOS Team 
Manager 
Matthew 
Haynes 

NPS Lead – 
Emma Farmer 

Reviewed in 
line with 
Government 
Guidance and 
as part of 
scheduled case 
transition 
meetings 

34

P
age 70



47

CYOS Health 
Resource 

Young people who require health 
intervention will continue to receive this in 
line with current contact arrangements 
using WhatsApp video calling or phone 
calls.  Health staff will attend court cells 
police custody suites in line with 
appropriate protocols on PPE and social 
distancing if a young person requires a 
health assessment.  

CAMHS - not taking any new referrals.  
Only seeing young people in crisis, i.e. if 
it would prevent an admission to hospital.  
Young people open to the service 
continue to be contacted virtually or by 
phone.  All CAMHS resource has gone 
into crisis management around COVID 
19.

If this present a risk will be escalated via 
Health lead for action

Health team continues to undertake 
assessments for pre-sentence reports 
virtually.

Following the lifting of 
restrictions, health provision 
will return to normal with face 
to face intervention, home 
visits where appropriate.

Adrian 
Seymour – 
CYOS Team 
Manager

Reviewed in 
line with 
Government 
Guidance

35
Substance and 
alcohol service 
CGL 

Positive Choices still taking referrals and 
attending meetings virtually.  They are 
conducting their sessions via phone calls 
and WhatsApp where appropriate.  

Following the lifting of 
restrictions, Positive Choices 
provision will return to normal 
with face to face intervention, 
home visits where appropriate.

Adrian 
Seymour – 
CYOS Team 
Manager

Reviewed in 
line with 
Government 
GuidanceP

age 71



48

No current alcohol or drug treatment 
requirement/testing - this would be 
considered as part of a Pre-Sentence 
Report considering ability to deliver these 
elements with the local provider Positive 
Choices. 

Webinar undertaken by Positive Choices 
that included:

 Service overview; what is Positive 
Choices and how can they 
support?

 Service adaption to delivery to 
ensure our support continues 
during Covid-19 restrictions

 How to make a referral
 Social Media

The service will consider guidance from 
partners such as changes in drug prices 
or strength and respond accordingly 
based on issues for example impact of 
drug debt or risk of overdose 

Sharon 
Bolesworth – 
Change Grow 
Live (CGL)

36
Prospects 1. Tracking of 16 & 17-year-old young 

people who are NEET and Not Known 
Prospects will continue to track remotely 
young people who are NEET and Not 
Known and will submit monthly DfE 

Will revert to face to face when 
restrictions are lifted

Karen Allen – 
Operations 
Manager 
Coventry & 
Warwickshire 

Reviewed in 
line with 
Government 
Guidance

P
age 72



49

returns as normal. 2. Provision of careers 
information, advice and guidance • 
Prospects are currently working on a 
communication of their careers advice 
and guidance offer which will be 
disseminated to schools (and wider) 
week beginning 23 March. • Prospects 
will aim to deliver a remote service (as 
opposed to face-to face careers advice 
and guidance) to those young people 
who are NEET. • For those young people 
with an EHCP, Prospects Advisers will 
provide a face-to-face service if required 
and if allowed, by arranging to visit 
schools. • For NEET LAC/Care Leavers 
(Through Care) and NEET young people 
known to YOS, Prospects Advisers will 
deliver a remote service but will consider 
face-to-face meetings if required and if 
allowed.

Prospects career adviser is available via 
telephone, email and/or Microsoft teams 
for advice and guidance that the 
allocated youth offending service officer 
requires.

Prospects have access to online learning 
for young people where this is assessed 
as appropriate and required. 

Review on-line resources to 
consider incorporating it into 
standard offer,

Prospects 
Service

P
age 73



50

Confirmation received that ETE providers 
are able to provide remote learning 
opportunities. There are currently jobs 
available and if suitable young people will 
be directed towards these Examples 
include supermarkets. ETE providers are 
taking on new learners in the current 
restricted arrangements. Prospects are 
reviewing and implementing changes to 
the support to the youth offending service 
and this will involve access to Careers 
Advisers .

Contact with NEET young people weekly. 
Through Telephone contact, Text, Email
Includes Careers Guidance
Referral to Colleges, training providers or 
employment opportunities now and in 
future
Support offered with completing 
application forms and arranging 
interviews with colleges and training 
providers (Remotely)
Information provided on suitable website 
addresses such as colleges, 
apprenticeships and training providers, 
employers, for those young people that 
have access to the internet and 
confidence to access provision and make 
applications.
Able to provide up to date information 
from ETE providers.

P
age 74



51

Follow up contact by telephone, 
text/email
Support to CYOS colleagues with new 
allocations OOCD and Court Orders to 
ascertain correct education situation, and 
if NEET support offered as above, 
accurate recording of all interactions
Continued support to Ambition Coventry 
young people, including when they are no 
longer supervised CYOS

 
 

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report 

Cabinet 13th October 2020

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Education and Skills – Councillor K Maton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Education and Skills

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title: Coventry One Strategic Plan for Education – Phase 2 of Secondary School Expansions

Is this a key decision?
Yes - the proposals will significantly affect all wards of the city.

Executive Summary:

Under Section 14 of the Education Act 1996, Coventry City Council has a statutory duty to ensure 
sufficient school places and fair, appropriate access to education. It is the Council’s role to plan, 
commission and organise school places in a way that raises standards, manages supply and 
demand and creates a diverse infrastructure.

The Coventry One Strategic Plan for Education, first presented to Council on 2nd October 2018 and 
again on 18th February 2020, sets out pupil forecasts for special, primary and secondary schools 
across education planning areas in response to rising or falling pupil cohorts across the city. It 
outlined the strategy proposed by the Local Authority and the Coventry Headteacher Partnership 
to meet the additional places required in provision from 2019 – 2024. 

A phase 1 of secondary expansions has previously been agreed by Cabinet in the both 2nd October 
2018 and 18th February 2020 reports. The strategy presented to Cabinet also outlined a provisional 
programme as to secondary school expansions that would be required, considering rising pupil 
numbers, between September 2022 and September 2024, a phase 2 of proposed secondary school 
expansions.

This report is not intended to provide a full update on the One Strategic Plan for Education, which 
is likely to be presented before Cabinet in July 2021, but instead to focus on the phase 2 works 
required for secondary expansion. This report will give specific details regarding schools 
recommended for inclusion and how this proposed programme of work will be funded. 

A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) has been established to ensure partnership commitment 
between the Council and secondary schools. These partnerships signify a commitment and 
cooperation between the Council, governing bodies and school leadership teams to meet the 
educational needs of children and young people in Coventry, ensure the sustainability of Coventry 
schools, and to enable the City Council to meet its statutory obligations.

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



2

This partnership commitment signifies a statement of intent to collaborate and work in partnership 
to achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young people in Coventry, ensure the 
sustainability of Coventry schools, and to enable the City Council to meet its statutory obligations. 
As part of this process, varying options have been discussed at both Secondary Headteacher 
Partnership meetings, and the Secondary Headteacher Executive. The recommended option 
presented below has been agreed by the Education Service, the Secondary Executive, and the 
Partnership, as being the best valid option keeping in line with our statutory requirement as outlined 
by the DfE to: 

i. Spend capital funding efficiently
ii. Safeguard the quality of places in the system
iii. Manage down spare capacity in the estate where it exists.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested:

1) To authorise the recommended programme of work outlined within this report on Secondary 
School expansions for September 2022 – September 2024.

2) To delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to agree the most appropriate 
procurement route for the works to be delivered and awarded. 

List of Appendices included:

N/A

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme  
Cabinet Report – 2nd October 2018 

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s41346/Coventry%20One%20Strategic%20Plan
%20and%20Education%20Capital%20Programme.pdf

Cabinet Report – 18th February 2020
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s46514/Coventry%20One%20Strategic%20Plan
%20and%20Education%20Capital%20Programme.pdf

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?

No 

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 78

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s41346/Coventry%20One%20Strategic%20Plan%20and%20Education%20Capital%20Programme.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s41346/Coventry%20One%20Strategic%20Plan%20and%20Education%20Capital%20Programme.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s46514/Coventry%20One%20Strategic%20Plan%20and%20Education%20Capital%20Programme.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s46514/Coventry%20One%20Strategic%20Plan%20and%20Education%20Capital%20Programme.pdf


3

Title: Coventry One Strategic Plan and Education Capital Programme 

1. Context (or background)

1.1. Overall, numbers in secondary schools have grown from September 2019 as larger cohorts 
transfer from primary schools. This will reach a peak in September 2023 entry to secondary 
school with a forecast Year 7 intake being 4482 pupils from a baseline figure of 4201 pupils 
in September 2020.

1.2. From September 2019, additional capacity has been added in Secondary schools to 
mitigate these larger cohorts. This is being provided through a model of both permanent 
and temporary expansions to ensure sufficiency of places, viability for schools, and cost -
efficiency. Temporary expansions are for a single year of Year 7 increase, and that increase 
then moves through the school as that cohort reaches Year 11. Adopting this mixed 
economy model of permanent and temporary expansions has enabled a more flexible 
approach to increasing and reducing capacity. 

1.3. Phase one covering the years (2019-2021) was presented to Cabinet in October 2018 and 
February 2020 and outlined the planned temporary and permanent increases up to 2021. 
Coventry City Council have worked closely with the schools identified as part of phase 1, 
to understand the needs and requirements of each school to accommodate the additional 
pupils. Due to the success of this approach in identifying the additional classrooms and 
ancillary space for each school, this partnership approach will be similarly followed for 
phase 2. 

1.4. To address the further forecast shortfall of places between 2022 and 2024, there has been 
a commitment between the Local Authority and the Coventry Secondary Headteachers that 
Phase Two expansions will be delivered internally within the existing school estate to 
provide the additional places. Due the declining pupil numbers post 2024 it is envisaged 
that the programme of work for phase 2 will largely temporary expansions in nature, this 
will help ensure the long-term viability of the school estate in response to the long-term 
declining pupil numbers. 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1. The below options are the outcomes of the conversations between the Council, governing 
bodies and school leadership teams, and list the schools which would be able to 
accommodate additional pupils and the number of additional pupils they would take.

2.2. Secondary School options and recommended proposal  

Recommended Option
 Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24

Ernesford Grange (30) Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30)
Finham Park (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30) Finham Park 2 (30)

Blue Coat (30) Finham Park 2 (30) Foxford (30)
Bishop Ullathorne (30) Foxford (30) Stoke Park (30)

Lyng Hall (30) Stoke Park (30) Lyng Hall (30)
Sidney Stringer (30) Bishop Ullathorne (30) Sidney Stringer (30)

Westwood (30) Lyng Hall (30)  
 Sidney Stringer (30)  
 Westwood (30)  

Schools for 
Expansion and 

additional pupils 
as part of 
Expansion

1 further secondary 
school to be identified 

1 further secondary 
school to be identified  

Page 79



4

2.2.1. Education will monitor the forecast number of pupils annually, and depending upon levels 
on demand, an additional form of entry (30 pupils) may be required at a Coventry secondary 
schools. If it is determined that additional capacity is required, Education will work in 
partnership with all Coventry schools, to understand which schools may benefit from 
inclusion in the expansion programme. 

2.2.2. This recommended option presents good value for money one of the key Department for 
Education criteria, as well as ensuring that the capital funding received is spread as equally 
as possible across the Secondary School estate. With the funding being utilised in as many 
areas of the city as possible where the school places are required. It was agreed at 
Secondary Executive that this proposal fulfilled the principles on providing high quality 
school places at Ofsted rated ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ schools.  

2.2.3. The recommended option will detail the school capacity against forecast demand as follows.
 

2.2.4.

140 170
249 249 249 249 249 249

100 30

120
240

300
180

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
4000

4100

4200

4300

4400

4500

4600

4700

Existing Capacity Permanent Temporary Forecast Pupil Number

Forecast Pupil Numbers and Capacity of Coventry Secondary 
Schools

2.2.5. This proposal, in addition, to the previously agreed phase 1, will provide Coventry with 
sufficient school places across the city, enabling it to fulfil its statutory duty of providing 
school places, and ensuring all children have access to high quality education. It is 
anticipated that this programme of work will facilitate a surplus places planning margin of 3-
4%, these surplus places will enable any additional pupils arising from new housing to 
secure a school place and also enable parental preferences trends to be more fully 
accommodated. 

2.2.6. The forecast accuracy for year 7 places since 2018 to September 2020, has been 99.56%, 
giving a level of security that these additional places will be required. 

2.2.7. Alternative options considered 

Alternative option 1
 Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24

Ernesford Grange (30) Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30)
Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30) Finham Park 2 (30)

Bishop Ullathorne (30) Finham Park 2 (30) Foxford (30)

Schools for 
Expansion and 

additional pupils 
as part of Finham Park (30) Bishop Ullathorne (30) Stoke Park (30)

Phase 1 Phase 2

Page 80



5

Lyng Hall (30) Finham Park (30) Lyng Hall (30)
Sidney Stringer (30) Foxford (30) Sidney Stringer (30)

Westwood (30) Lyng Hall (30)  
Sidney Stringer (30)  

 Stoke Park (30)  

Expansion

Alternative option 2
 Sep-22 Sep-23 Sep-24

Ernesford Grange (30) Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30)
Blue Coat (30) Cardinal Wiseman (30) Finham Park 2 (30)

Bishop Ullathorne (30) Westwood (30) Foxford (30)
Finham Park (30) Bishop Ullathorne (30) Stoke Park (30)

Lyng Hall (30) Finham Park (30) Lyng Hall (30)
Sidney Stringer (30) Foxford (30) Sidney Stringer (30)

Westwood (30) Lyng Hall (30)  
Sidney Stringer (30)  

 Stoke Park (30)  

Schools for 
Expansion and 

additional 
pupils as part of 

Expansion

  

2.2.8. These alternative options have been discussed in collaboration with the Secondary 
Partnership and Executive, whilst closely related to the recommended option, these options 
and how they will be managed from a school organisation perspective contain considerable 
site constraints along with limiting the amount of schools included in the Secondary 
expansion proposals. The site constraints associated with these two alternative options 
would likely result in a less cost-efficient option. 

2.3. Finance 

2.3.1. Capital allocations, often referred to as basic need allocations, to meet projected shortfalls 
in provision are provided by the Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) to all Local 
Authorities based on the data submitted in the annual School Capacity return (SCAP). This 
return informs the ESFA of the expected change in pupil numbers over the next few years, 
the current capacity of schools to meet those numbers and the planned changes to that 
capacity. 

2.3.2. In May 2020, a capital allocation was announced which granted Coventry with £23.7 million, 
based off the SCAP return, to provide additional school places. This amount was the 6th 
highest allocation in the country, and the 2nd highest in the West Midlands after 
Warwickshire. 

2.3.3. Capital allocations have been announced up until 2021/2022 financial year.

Received Funding £18,578,047

2020/21 Allocation £6,237,0001

2021/22 Allocation £23,733,503.95
Total Funding £48,548,550.95

1 Please note this is being paid in instalments by the ESFA, with to date £4,317,382 having been received, 
the remainder will be paid over the current financial year. 

Page 81



6

2.3.4. There is an anticipated budget of £11,900,000 set aside for this phase 2 secondary 
expansion works. It is envisaged that the recent capital allocation announcement will fund 
this programme of work, with the remainder of the capital allocation towards a proposed use 
for long term planning for the SEN, Primary, and Secondary estates. There will be a 
proportion of funding set aside within this £23 million for use within the SEN estate, this is 
likely to be used for expanding and improving secondary special schools. The proposed 
details on this will be submitted in the next iteration of the One Strategic Plan. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. As academies, the schools included in the secondary recommended option are required to 
consult for their expansion as part of the Significant Change process and inform the 
Department of Education of this consultation. As academies, the schools are required to 
conduct this consultation, rather than the Council.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

The timescale for the phase 2 of secondary expansions is set out in the following table:

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance

5.1. Financial implications

5.1.1. All financial implications are covered in sections 2.2 and 6.2 of the report.

5.2. Legal implications

5.2.1. Section 13 of the Education Act 1996 places the Local Authority under a duty to promote 
high standards and fair access to education. S14 of the Education Act 1996 sets out the 
Local Authority’s duty to secure sufficient schools in their area, and to consider the need to 
secure provision for children with SEN. This includes a duty to respond to parents’ 
representations about school provision. 

5.2.2. All the schools identified within this expansion proposal are academy schools, academy 
schools are responsible for conducting their own consultation process as set out in the 
‘Making significant changes to an open academy and closure by mutual agreement.’ The 
Local Authority offers guidance to schools on completing this process, and remains a 
statutory consultee in the process, but the academy trust is directly responsible for its 
completion and submission where applicable to the Secretary of State.

5.2.3. The School Admissions Code 2014 (SAC) provides that when changes are proposed to 
admission arrangements, all admission authorities must consult on their admission 
arrangements (including any supplementary information form) that will apply for admission 
applications the following school year. Where the admission arrangements have not 
changed from the previous year there is no requirement to consult, subject to the 
requirement that admission authorities must consult on their admission arrangements at 
least once every 7 years, even if there have been no changes during that period. Community 

Activity Approximate Timing
Consultation with Secondary Headteacher Partnership and 

Executive
November 2019 – 

June 2020
Secondary Headteacher Partnership and Executive agree to 

proposals July 2020

Cabinet Report to confirm proposals October 2020
Start to work with the schools included in the approved option to look 

at requirements to accommodate the additional pupils November 2020

Page 82



7

and Voluntary Controlled schools have the right to object to the Schools’ Adjudicator if the 
PAN proposed is lower than they would wish.

6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/) 

6.1.1. These proposals will support and synergise with the Councils Policies as set out below:
 Making the most of our Assets – utilising existing estate to maximum potential and 

ensuring value for money.
 Improving Educational Outcomes – by providing additional school places in ‘Good’ or 

‘Outstanding’ schools.
 Raising the Profile of Coventry - by providing additional school places in ‘Good’ or 

‘Outstanding’ schools.
 Creating the Infrastructure – Aiding in schools to be self-sufficient.
 Rationalising our property portfolio – Enabling schools to reach their potential.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

6.2.1. Monitoring is carried out through a number of different processes. This programme will be 
monitored through a project management team and will be subject to scrutiny and regular 
assessment on progress towards identified milestones. Further monitoring will be carried 
out through progress reports to the Cabinet Member for Education and Skills, and quarterly 
budgetary control monitoring.

6.2.2. Of the £48,548,550 identified in the Education Capital Basic Need, only £22,895,429 has 
been received. The further resources of the remainder of the £6,237,000 and the full 
allocation of £23,733,503 are payable in due course. However, the Council are not 
anticipating any reduction in its Basic Need Allocations. 

Received Funding £18,578,047

2020/21 Allocation £6,237,0002

2021/22 Allocation £23,733,503.95
Total Funding £48,548,550.95

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

6.3.1. There are no specific impacts on the organisation.

6.4. Equalities /EIA

6.4.1. Children and young people with SEN often experience greater discrimination and have 
fewer opportunities than children without such difficulties. The proposal aims to ensure that 
all Coventry children have access to education in accordance with their needs. Any revised 
accommodation changes and admission arrangements take into account the provisions of 
the Equality Act 2010 in the context of their possible impact on equal opportunities.

6.4.2. Public authority decision makers are under a duty to have due regard to 1) the need to 
eliminate discrimination, 2) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not 3) foster good relations between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not (public sector equality duty 
- s 149(1) Equality Act 2010). The applicable protected characteristics are disability, gender 
reassignment; race, religion or belief, sex; sexual orientation, pregnancy or maternity.

2 Please note this is being paid in instalments by the ESFA, with to date £4,317,382 having been received, 
the remainder will be paid over the current financial year. 

Page 83

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


8

6.4.3. Decision makers must be consciously thinking about these three aims as part of their 
decision-making process with rigour and with an open mind. The duty is to have “due 
regard”, not to achieve a result but to have due regard to the need to achieve these goals. 
Consideration being given to the potential adverse impacts and the measures needed to 
minimise any discriminatory effects.

6.4.4. Each school has been assessed thoroughly in line with the Disability Discrimination Act 
2004’ and meet the requirements of the Building Regulations and relevant British Standards 
including BS 8300 2009. Specific provisions of inclusion for wheelchair users; hard of 
hearing and visually impaired have been included in the designs. An access statement is 
provided for each school to act as an on-going live document. It documents the initial 
building approach and becomes an effective building management tool for the users to 
ensuring long term accessibility. 

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

6.5.1. Coventry's schools currently account for 28% of the City's carbon footprint and this scheme 
will support the reduction of that level through replacing old school buildings with modern, 
energy efficient facilities. The Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency 
Scheme as amended is a mandatory carbon emissions tax covering non-energy intensive 
users in both public and private sectors and is a central part of the UK’s strategy to deliver 
the emission reduction targets set in the Climate Change Act 2008. Emissions from schools 
(including PFI Schools) are to be included in the total reported carbon emissions for their 
participating Local Authority. The new school buildings would also be designed to mitigate 
the effects of climate change fluctuations and to help reduce surface water run off as a result 
of flash or extreme weather events, reducing any negative effects on the local community 
and environmental infrastructure.

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

6.6.1. Planning for additional places requires close partnership with the PCT, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership Trust, Social Care and 
Private/Voluntary Organisations and will enable multi-agency support and provision for 
vulnerable children.

Page 84



9

Report author(s):

Name and job title:  
Kirston Nelson, Director of Education and Skills 
Sarah Mills, Head of Service Education Entitlement 

Service: 
Education and Skills

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 832785 
Email: sarah.mills@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person

Contributor/
approver name Title Service Date doc 

sent out

Date 
response 

received or 
approved

Elaine Atkins Lawyer - Finance and 
Corporate Services

Law and 
Governance 20/08/2020 27/08/2020

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 
Officer

Law and 
Governance 20/08/2020 24/08/2020

Sarah Mills Head of Service 
Education Entitlement

Education and 
Skills 20/08/2020 21/08/2020

Helen Williamson
Lead Accountant 

Capital and Grants 
Team

Finance 20/08/2020 25/08/2020

Names of approvers 
for submission:
(Officers and Members)

Rachael Sugars Finance Manager - 
Resources Finance Finance 07/09/2020 21/09/2020

Julie Newman
Director of Law and 

Governance and City 
Monitoring Officer

- 07/09/2020 11/09/2020

Kirston Nelson Director of Education 
and Skills - 07/09/2020 21/09/2020

Councillor K Maton Cabinet Member for 
Education and Skills - 07/09/2020 07/09/2020

Gail Quinton Deputy Chief 
Executive - 07/09/2020 21/09/2020

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 85

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Trees & Development Guidelines for 

Coventry 

 
Draft Supplementary Planning Document 

October 2020 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

“The tree which moves some to tears of joy is in the eyes of others only a green thing 

that stands in the way” 

Letter to Revd. Dr. Trusler; William Blake, 1799 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
“There is little in the architecture of a city that is more beautifully designed than a 

tree” 

Jaime Lerner, Architect and Urban Planner – 

Mayor of Curitiba (1971-1974, 1979-1983, 1989-1992) 

Page 88



Abbreviations 

AIA – Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

AMS – Arboricultural Method Statement 

BS – British Standard 

CAVAT – Capital Assessment Value for Amenity Trees 

CEZ – Construction Exclusion Zone 

LPA – Local Planning Authority 

LTOA – London Tree Officer’s Association 

NATO – National Association of Tree Officers 

NHBC – National House Building Council 

NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework 

PPG – Planning Practice Guidance 

RPA – Root Protection Area 

SMS – Site Monitoring Sheet 

SPD – Supplementary Planning Document 

TCP – Tree Constraints Plan 

TPM – Tree Protection Measures 

TPO – Tree Preservation Order 

TPP – Tree Protection Plan 

Page 89



1  

Index 
1.0 Introduction and Purpose     Page 2 
2.0 Context and the Importance of Trees   Page 5 
3.0 Planning for Trees Pre-Development   Page 13 
4.0 Planning for Trees Pre-Development   Page 21 
5.0 Implementation, Monitoring and Review   Page 35 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



2  

Introduction 

Purpose 

1.1. Trees are a significant and highly visual component in the landscape, and as public 

awareness of environmental issues becomes more influential, there is an 

increasing need to focus attention on trees and their role in providing not only a 

pleasant environment, but their value to biodiversity and mitigating the adverse 

impacts of climate change, as well as positive health and wellbeing impacts 

 
1.2. This draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) allows Coventry City Council to 

respond to these sentiments and build upon the policies included in the Coventry 

Local Plan 2016 (hereby referred to as the Local Plan) when and where it relates to 

trees in Coventry, and the preservation and protection of trees during new 

development, and on existing sites. More generally, it describes and explains how 

the Council will interpret and apply the relevant sections of Planning Practice 

Guidance (PPG), and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

 
1.3. Furthermore, it will help to inform developers, land-owners, agents, architects, 

planning consultants, landscape architects, arboriculturists, contractors and other 

interested parties of the standards that the Council expects from new 

development proposals with regard to existing trees. It seeks to ensure that 

important trees are afforded due consideration in the planning process, so that 

they can be effectively integrated into new developments. 

 
1.4. This document provides a comprehensive guide to the planning system, and the 

preservation and protection of trees during development in Coventry. For this 

reason, the intention of this document is to lead to an improved approach to the 

retention and planting of trees; thus making an important contribution to sustainable 

development in the city. 

 
1.5. The structure of this document has been set out to follow the logical sequences by 

which development matters are generally processed; i.e. site surveys, 

development planning and organisation, obtaining planning permission and 

subsequent implementation; as identified in BS 5837:2012 - Trees in Relation to 

Design, Demolition and Construction1. 

 
1.6. Applicants, developers and interested parties would benefit from reviewing this 

SPD in conjunction with the Council’s latest Tree Strategy as well as, Green 

Infrastructure and Biodiversity Strategies, which are in the process of being drafted 

at the time of publication and will be available on the Council’s website in due 

course.  

 

Aims & Objectives 

1.7. The Council is committed to ensuring that development proposals provide positive 

environmental benefits; including promoting the benefits of trees throughout the city, 

and thus encouraging sustainable management of the city’s trees and enhancing 

the quality of their tree cover. This will be achieved in the first instance through 

negotiation, or if necessary, by using council planning powers. 
 

1 Permission to reproduce extracts from British Standards is granted by BSI Standards Limited 

(BSI). No other use of this material is permitted. British Standards can be obtained in PDF or hard 

copy formats from the BSI online shop: www.bsigroup.com/Shop 

Page 91

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/zhC9CmwK2s5AzkDCGatme?domain=bsigroup.com


3  

1.8. The necessity for an organised, methodical, coordinated and standard 

approach to ensure the effective integration of trees into new development 

is formalised within BS5837:2012. It is considered as the national 

standard for the approach to tree protection. 

 
1.9. It is intended that this document will help to facilitate a quality, systematic approach 

to the retention and planting of trees, by explaining the approach to tree and 

development issues that will be required by the Council to comply with its own 

planning policies as established and adopted in the Local Plan. 

 
1.10. For these reasons, this document is underpinned by the following aims: 

• To provide details around the tree related Local Plan policies (most notably 

Policies GE3, GE4 and HE2). 

• Aid the process of determining planning applications where trees are concerned. 

• Assist in the arboricultural management practices of parks, garden and city trees. 

• Provide advice about trees in Coventry. 

• Guide development to meet and exceed best-practice examples and proven 

standards. 

 
1.11. The following guidelines set out the procedures and design criteria necessary to 

ensure the successful integration of existing trees, and the planting of new trees, into 

development proposals. Compliance with these will ensure that sufficient information 

is submitted to enable the Council to assess the full long- term effect and impact of 

any new development and avoid unnecessary delays in the decision-making 

process. 

Page 92



4  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Bannerbrook Park 

Existing mature trees successfully integrated into new residential 

development by careful consideration and protection throughout the 

survey, design and construction stages. 

Page 93



5  

Context 

The Importance of Trees 

2.1. Trees are of fundamental importance to the landscape and are widely appreciated for 

enhancing the urban and rural environment. They make a positive contribution to the 

scenic character and diversity of the landscape and built environment. Furthermore, 

their role in sustaining and enhancing biodiversity is vital as their physical structure is 

crucial to vast amounts of life, primarily by providing shelter and nutrients. 

 
2.2. In addition, trees play an essential role in mitigating the adverse impacts of climate 

change by absorbing carbon dioxide and other pollutant gasses and producing 

oxygen. By reducing localised extremes in temperatures, trees can also lower energy 

consumption and costs for heating in winter, and air conditioning in summer. 

 
2.3. In a planning and development context, the retention of trees provides an immediate 

sense of maturity which benefits sites and their surroundings; helping to raise the 

overall quality of schemes and support enhanced property values. However, where 

trees are damaged and subsequently decline and die, or where inappropriate design 

leads to conflict, trees can become a source of complaint and ultimately, any positive 

benefits are lost. 

 

History of Trees in Coventry 

2.4. The area where Coventry now stands was once covered by the Arden Forest. Large 

areas of the Forest were cleared for agriculture during the Bronze Age and 

subsequent Roman occupation. The Forest may have grown back to some extent 

after the Romans left, but it is also possible that the Roman and medieval landscape 

character were broadly similar anyway i.e. a mosaic of enclosed and unenclosed 

pasture, inter-mixed with woodland. 

 
2.5. This ancient landscape now exists mainly only in the north west of the city in 

Coventry's Ancient Arden Historic Landscape Area. However, remnants of the 

hedges and hedgerow Oaks still remain scattered throughout the urban area. 

Medieval Oak woodlands have survived quite well on the west and south- west of 

Coventry, and these and are also frequently associated with archaeological interest. 

 
2.6. Many of the grandest trees remaining in Coventry originate from the Victorian period. 

They are the result of designed landscapes during a wealthy period in the city’s 

history. Traders in the 19th Century built homes with large gardens planted with 

fashionable trees of the time, including mixed groups of non-native conifers such as 

Cedars and Redwoods. The tree which has safely remained as the oldest tree within 

the inner-City is the historic Mulberry tree which was originally located within a Spon 

Street Victorian Watchmaker's garden. It can now be found to the rear of this 

property (21 Spon Street), within the curtilage of Croft Road car park. Many of these 

large houses have since been converted into schools, nursing homes etc., yet the 

trees have been relatively well preserved. 

Page 94



 

5 

 

Page 95



6  

2.7. 'Spinney', on the south of the city, evolved from waste land and was formalised by 

the Victorians. It combines with a double Oak avenue, planted about 220 years ago 

along the Kenilworth Road, to form one of the finest assets of Coventry in 

arboricultural terms, providing a very attractive and grand entrance into the city from 

the South. This is incorporated into the Kenilworth Road Conservation Area. 

 
2.8. Sir Joseph Paxton, who established the first major arboretum in the country at 

Chatsworth, also created a fine arboretum in Coventry as part of his design for the 

London Road Cemetery. Many of the originally planted trees remain today. These 

include an avenue of unique high-grafted Candelabra Weeping Silver Limes, high- 

grafted Narrow Leaved Ash, and a selection of introduced exotic coniferous trees 

from around the world. The design of the cemetery carries the prestigious award of 

Grade 1 listed Parks and Gardens, by Historic England. 

 
2.9. Other mature trees from the 20th Century mainly relate to municipal planting such as 

the London Plane avenue along Holyhead Road, and Limes planted as street trees in 

areas such as the Butts. Unfortunately, during the 1970s, along with the rest of the 

country, Coventry lost thousands of Elm trees through civic felling programmes. 

Climate change brings new threats of pests and disease to our trees including 

Phytophthora, Oak Processionary Moth, and Ash Dieback amongst others. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Top row: Victorian Planting at Coundon Court 
School. 

Bottom left: Cadelabra Weeping Silver Lime. 

Bottom right: Arboretum at London Road Cemetery. 

Page 96



7  

Legislation, Guidance and Policy 

2.10. The Council will take account of adopted local plan policies, relevant supplementary 

planning statements and documents, and the most up-to-date legislation, government 

advice and recommendations (as issued through the NPPF and PPG). 

 
2.11. This document is informed by, and must conform to, those relevant pieces of 

legislation, guidance and policy issued by government. They are set out below. 

 
2.12. The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (Part VIII, Section 197)2 recognises the 

importance of trees and charges local planning authorities with a specific ‘duty’ in 

relation to their preservation and planting. Subsequent sections (up to and including 

Section 214) provide the powers and details surrounding Tree Preservation Orders 

(TPO), and Trees in Conservation Areas. 

 
2.13. At present – in terms of statutory tree protection – there are over 460 TPO’s, covering 

approximately 4500 trees, whilst there are also 16 Conservation Areas in Coventry 

covering many more. In the interests of transparency, the Council’s evaluation 

method for TPO assessment, and its making and serving procedure are included in 

Appendix 1 and 2. 

 
2.14. The Hedgerow Regulations 1997 (SI 1997/1160)3 , implemented under Section 97 of 

The Environment Act 1995, require Local Planning Authorities, in determining 

planning applications, to consider the effects of proposed developments on 

'important' hedgerows. Specifically it was created to protect rural hedgerows which 

are at least 30 years old, or play a significant role in archaeology/history of an area. 

 
2.15. The Natural Environment and Communities Act 20064 provides that any public body 

or statutory undertaking in England and Wales must have regard to conserving, 

enhancing, restoring and/or protecting biological diversity in the execution of its 

functions. 

 
2.16. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)5 and Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG)6 set out the government requirements for the planning system, this includes 

ancient woodlands and veteran trees. 

 
2.17. The NPPF was updated in February 2019 and sets out the UK Government’s planning 

policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. Of particular relevance 

to this document are paragraphs 170, 171, 175, 180 and 181. Within these sections, it 

is made explicitly clear that the planning system and the decision-making process in 
 

2 Part VIII of the Act can be found using the following hyperlink: 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII 

3 The entire regulations can be found using the following hyperlink: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/1160/contents/made 

4 The entire Act can be found using the following hyperlink: 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents 

5 The NPPF can be found using the following hyperlink: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 

6 PPG can be found using the following hyperlink: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 

Page 97

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/1160/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


8  

relation to planning applications must protect and minimise the impact upon ecological 

networks on a broad level, whilst also enhancing the local natural environment. 

 

2.18. Trees are given specific protection through paragraph 170(b) and 175(c). On a general 

level, ancient woodland is considered to be an “irreplaceable habitat”, and thus 

emphasising the significant importance attached to these areas. Furthermore, Ancient 

and Veteran trees and Ancient Woodland are now specifically protected under the 

notion of; “presumption in favour of sustainable development”, therefore, development 

that involves the loss of Ancient and/or Veteran trees or Ancient Woodland should be 

refused. In addition, all benefits of trees and woodland (including economic) should be 

protected and enhanced, even on the scale of simply recognising the beauty and 

character that natural capital provides. 

 
2.19. The important role that trees play in the maintenance and improvement of air quality 

alongside noise and visual damping/buffering qualifies them for protection through 

paragraphs 180 and 181 amongst others. 

 
2.20. Further detail including a suite of information underpinning the NPPF is available in the 

form of PPG. Ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees: protecting them from 

development (Rev 5-11-18) The PPG is continuously updated and provides further 

details to the NPPF. It is regularly updated in line with changes to government policy 

and legislation. The most significant chapters concerning trees are; ‘Natural 

environment’, ‘Tree Preservation Orders and trees in conservation areas’, ‘Air quality’ 

and ‘Ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees’. Within them there are strong 

references to the safeguarding of Ancient Woodlands and Ancient and Veteran Trees. 

For this reason, the Council will consult with the Forestry Commission and Natural 

England to seek their advice and assistance when appropriate. 

 
Defining Ancient and Veteran Trees 

2.21. It is acknowledged that in defining ancient and veteran trees, the NPPF takes primacy 

and the associated PPG should be read alongside it. The definition of Ancient and 

Veteran Trees is set out in Annex 2 – Glossary of the NPPF. The key features of both 

types of tree include the aspects of exceptional relating biodiversity, culture and 

heritage value. All ancient trees are veteran trees. Not all veteran trees are old enough 

to be ancient but are old relative to other trees of the same species. Very few trees of 

any species reach the ancient life-stage. The NPPF definition of an ancient and veteran 

tree states: ‘’A tree which, because of its age, size and condition, is of exceptional 

biodiversity, cultural or heritage value. All ancient trees are veteran trees. Not all 

veteran trees are old enough to be ancient but are old relative to other trees of the 

same species. Very few trees of any species reach the ancient life-stage’’. Key word 

being: relative. This definition of Veteran is similar to that of BS5837 :2012 and BS3998 

for Tree work: 2010 which recommends that a Veteran tree a tree that by recognized 

criteria shows features of biological, cultural aesthetic value that are characterised of, 

but not exclusive to, individuals surviving beyond the typical age range for the species 

concerned. Noting that these characteristics might typically include a large girth, signs 

of crown retrenchment and hollowing of the stem7. 

 
2.22. An appropriate model which illustrates the 10 developmental life stages of a tree, is the 

Pierre Raimbault’s model where full maturity is illustrated at phase 7. Therefore, 
 

7 https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030213642 

Page 98



9  

the majority of and the greater population of other trees of the same species are 

younger and smaller than a tree at mature age class, with very few trees of any species 

reaching the ancient life-stage. 

 
2.23. Also included in Annex 2 – Glossary of the NPPF is the starting point for defining 

Ancient Woodland. The Council recognises the importance of an existing continual 

historic record since 1600 when determining when an Ancient Woodland is present. 

 
2.24. In addition to the NPPF, PPG adds more detail to the unique defining features of a 

Veteran tree and also of an Ancient tree and also Ancient Woodland. Ancient 

Woodland is identified by its irreplaceability based upon its wildlife, soil, wood pasture, 

historical, cultural and/or landscape value(s). 

 
2.25. Paragraph 175 (part c) of the NPPF and paragraph 009 of PPG ‘Natural 

environments’8, identifies that both Ancient Woodland and Ancient/Veteran Trees are 

“irreplaceable habitats”. As such, it is very difficult to undervalue the importance that 

these types of trees should be afforded. The NPPF further highlights the significance 

of conserving, restoring and enhancing; priority habitats, priority species, ecological 

networks and biodiversity (paragraph 174, part b) which PPG states are likely to be 

found in veteran tree environments. This must include appropriate mitigation measures 

and adoption of an appropriate ‘buffer zone’ to reduce such harm (paragraph 175, part 

a). Therefore, another key feature of Ancient or Veteran Trees and Woodland notes 

how they support important ecological features such as valuable and high-quality 

biodiversity, and in some cases species and habitats which may be of priority or 

threatened either on a local or national scale. It is important to conserve, restore and 

enhance these networks and biodiversity through the adoption of an appropriate buffer 

zone. Ancient Trees are in the ancient stage(s) of life, whereas veteran trees may not 

be very old – but exhibit decay features. Trees may become veteran because of their 

age, size or condition, but not all three of these characteristics are required to be 

present. Please see appendix 4 with regards to the level of specialist ecological survey 

information required, with examples of impacts of Indirect Damage upon an Ancient 

Woodland as a whole and upon its ecology for the requirement of adequate buffers 

depths. 

 
2.26. Natural England (NE) define the term Veteran more in line with PPG, BS 5837 and 

BS3998. The NE Specialist Survey Method is the industries survey method for the 

collection and monitoring of a tree’s wildlife and ecological features and other qualities 

over a period of time, where scores values and sets out individual 25-30 year Veteran 

tree management plans in order to prolong the Veteran trees safe life spans, such as 

the work the Council have achieved at Coombe Country Park (see the Council’s Tree 

Strategy). 

 
2.27. As noted within paragraph 031 of PPG ‘Natural environments’7, in the first instance, 

identifying Ancient Woodland can be achieved by utilising the Ancient Woodlands 

Inventory9. Although continually updated, this dataset only includes woodland that 

exceeds 2Ha. Furthermore, many ‘wood pastures’ and ‘historic parkland’ are not 

recorded because of their low tree density not registering as woodland on historic 

maps. As such any spatial or density criteria is not required for either Ancient/Veteran 
 

8 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/natural-environment 
9 https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/ancient-woodlands-england 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/natural-environment
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/ancient-woodlands-england


10  

Trees or Ancient Woodland due to the fact that all such trees/woodland are important, 

regardless of spatial extent and concentration. 

 
2.28. It is also important to be aware that there exist no conditional aspects to Ancient 

Woodland definition according to PPG (paragraph 033). In other words, Ancient 

Woodland can be of low quality or in poor health. Protection and subsequent 

enhancement through good and proper management can improve their quality and 

health. The Council will not define Ancient Woodland and/or Ancient/Veteran Trees by 

using quality or health indicators, or any minimum trunk diameter. A site which contains 

Veteran and/or Ancient trees will need to have such trees assessed under a specialist 

veteran tree survey method such as Natural England’s Specialist Survey Method levels 

1-6, which undertakes a detailed record of a complex list of wildlife features of a 

Veteran and/or Ancient tree, and requires a 25-30 year Veteran Tree Management 

Plan. 

 
2.29. The Woodland Trust and Ancient Tree Forum provides an alternative definition of both 

an Ancient Tree and a Veteran Tree to the NPPF but still in line with the PPG. The key 

points to note from the Woodland Trust is that an Ancient Tree has passed through 

maturity and is old in comparison with other trees of the same species. Whereas 

Veteran Trees are delineated irrespectively of their chronological age, but rather 

through their marked ancient characteristics which offer habitat and forage to local 

wildlife and ecology. The Woodland Trust’s Ancient tree guide 4, defines an Ancient 

tree as one that has passed beyond maturity and is old, or aged, in comparison with 

other trees of the same species. Its canopy may be small. It will probably have a very 

wide trunk relative to other trees of the same species. Veteran is a term describing a 

tree with habitat features such as wounds or decay. The terms ancient and veteran 

have been used interchangeably in the past, however, it is important to know what the 

differences between them. A veteran tree is a survivor that has developed some of the 

features found on an ancient tree, not necessarily as a consequence of time, but of its 

life or environment. Ancient veterans are ancient trees, not all veterans are old enough 

to be ancient. A veteran may be a young tree with a relatively small girth in contrast to 

an ancient tree, but bearing the ‘scars’ of age such as decay in the trunk, branches or 

roots, fungal fruiting bodies, or dead wood. These veteran features will still provide 

wildlife habitat. Guidance from the Ancient Tree Forum and the Woodland Trust also 

states that a dead tree can provide benefits for wildlife and ecology as veteran or 

ancient. A dead tree could not thus be positively included within a BS 5837 survey, but 

it could be included in an ecological or habitat report for planning purposes. 

 
2.30. The Woodland Trust10 provides a short definition of an Ancient Woodland. It 

emphasises the importance of a continual historic record of wooded areas since at 

least 1600CE. 

 
2.31. The definition provided by the Forestry Commission and Natural England11 for Ancient 

Trees and Veteran Trees note how they can be individual or groups of trees, often 

found alongside Ancient Woodlands which are of exceptional value based on their 

irreplaceability. 
 

 

10 https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/publications/2008/11/what-are-ancient-veteran-and-trees-of- 
special-interest/ 
11 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences 

Page 100

https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/publications/2008/11/what-are-ancient-veteran-and-trees-of-special-interest/
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/publications/2008/11/what-are-ancient-veteran-and-trees-of-special-interest/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences


11  

2.32. VETree12 (Vocational Education and Training on Veteran Trees) makes the point that 

Veteran Trees do not need to be of large chronological age, and can be quite ‘young’. 

 

The Recognition of Veteran Trees 
2.33. Natural England offer a definition on veteran trees taken from their Veteran Trees 

Initiative Specialist Survey Method. This is the only complex method for collecting 

veteran tree habitat features and the following is an extract from levels 1-3: 

 
2.34. Veteran status is associated with late maturity. However, trees of different species 

approach late maturity at different ages. Although there is no precise definition of 

veteran status for the purposes of field work, knowledge of species longevity, size 

typically associated with old age and local conditions affecting tree growth contributes 

to the recognition of veteran trees in the field. Their special quality in the landscape is 

reflected in the view that these trees “are of interest biologically, aesthetically, or 

culturally because of their age” (see 'Guide to the care of ancient trees', Veteran Trees 

Initiative, English Nature 1996). 

 
2.35. Apart from obvious veteran candidates of massive scale and known antiquity, the 

surveyor is often likely to encounter uncertainty in the field as to the veteran status of 

certain trees. In such instances, reference should be made to the range of veteran 

attributes indicating habitat and associated flora and fauna addressed on the recording 

form, rather than tree size alone. If in doubt record the tree. 

 
2.36. The Council accepts the most recent PPG definitions of the difference between an 

Ancient tree and a Veteran tree as being complimentary to the NPPF definition but that 

the NPPF has primacy. Planning Practice Guidance (Natural Environmental pages 21st 

July 2019), Ancient & Veteran Trees: 

“Ancient trees are trees in the ancient stage of their life. Veteran trees may not be very 

old but exhibit decay features such as branch death or hollowing. Trees become 

ancient or veteran because of their age, size or condition. Not all of these three 

characteristics are needed to make a tree ancient or veteran as the characteristics will 

vary from species to species.” 

PPG Paragraph: 032. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/natural-environment  

 
2.37. On balance, the Councils preferred approach is the definition of the PPG above but 

the Council does recognise that the NPPF does take primacy. 

 
Ancient Woodland Buffers 

2.38. The current national guidance at the time for minimum buffer depths will be assessed 

to be provided and maintained for Ancient Woodlands when proposals come forward; 

including at the construction phase. This SPD responds to take national guidance and 

focuses on how the Council will implement this ‘minimum buffer’ approach dependent 

upon the type and scale of development. 
 
 
 

12 https://vetree.eu/en/page/98/Veteran+tree+definition 

Page 101

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/natural-environment
https://vetree.eu/en/page/98/Veteran%2Btree%2Bdefinition


12  

2.39. The National Practice Guidance issued by the Forestry Commission and Natural 

England 'Ancient woodland and veteran trees: protecting them from development' 

currently recommends that they require a Root Protection Area (RPA) buffer radius 

equivalent to x15 times their trunk diameter rather than the x12 trunk diameter given 

by BS 5837:2012, or 5m from the edge of its canopy, whichever is the greater. 

 
2.40. It is the Council’s view that there is no ‘one size fits all’ approach to buffer design, or in 

respect of Ancient Semi-natural Woodland, Ancient Trees & Veteran Trees which is 

backed up by recent research13. Each proposal should be designed to fulfil the 

sensitivity of species and woodland specific requirements of its location and the type 

of scale of development proposed plus type and scale of likely direct and indirect 

damage. Nevertheless, the minimum buffer of an Ancient Woodland should be the 

minimum recommended buffer to the PPG at the time. As a precautionary principle, 

the Council will apply this most recent (national) minimum buffer as the starting point 

for assessing and maintaining buffer zones in relation to development proposals. 

 
2.41. The preferred design approach for a buffer is to create an open corridor adjacent to the 

woodland edge in order to maintain accustomed light through the woodland edge for 

ground and aerial fauna and flora, and to maintain bat foraging routes, ideally of 5- 10m 

depth. The outer buffer would preferably be made up of native shrub layer and small 

species native trees which are appropriate for the area, to provide for new habitat 

including native woodland, around existing Ancient Woodland. This will help reverse 

the historic fragmentation of this unique habitat. The consequent increase in ecological 

connectivity between areas of Ancient woodland will create the resilient landscapes 

recommended in DEFRA’s ‘Making Space for Nature’. To this extent, the Council are 

conscious of guidance from the Woodland Trust with recommendations for buffer 

zones in excess of 50m. 

 
2.42. It is important to appreciate that a woodland as we see it today, is just one snapshot 

of time and how it has developed within the past 11.000yrs. We need to recognise 

that it will change again in the future as it has in the past, and we must allow nature 

to take its cause without interruption, for new trees to naturally grow and where 

others die. Such new trees of the future may grow to be of champion sized girths and 

crown dimensions in locations where we today see only small trees or currently no 

trees present. 

 
2.43. Therefore, each proposal will be managed and considered on its own merits. The 

Council will work with applicants to determine any additional buffer requirements over 

and above a statutory minimum. This will have regard to the following key points which 

should all be robustly assessed by the applicant at the point of submitting a planning 

application. These include the following: 

• Impact upon Root Protection Areas; 

• Impact upon Ecology; 

• Assessment of buffer(s); 

• Impact of animal predation 

• Impact of light pollution; and 

• Risks to woodland and buffer areas through pedestrian trampling. 
 
 

13 Andrews, L Pearson, J McGill & J Mullholland (2019) Introducing the “Derived Root-system Radius” 
Arboricultural Journal, 41:3. 

Page 102



13  

2.44. Just as important are the heritage polices of the local plan; HE1, HE2 and HE3. Of 

particular worth to tree protection is policy HE2 which sets out how the Council will 

sustain the historic character and local distinctiveness of areas recognised to contain 

special historic, landscape and/or townscape significance. It is acknowledged that 

trees play a fundamental part of these significances and therefore are afforded a high 

level of protection as a result. Indeed, trees located within Conservation Areas are 

automatically protected to the equivalent level of a TPO. 

 
2.45. Furthermore, the Local Plan makes consideration to planning for climate change 

through policy EM1. It has been established that adaption to, and prevention of, climate 

change impacts can partly be met through the appropriate application of green 

infrastructure. This includes the retention and planting of trees as tools for; urban 

cooling, shading, flood risk management and ecological sustainability. 

 
2.46. Should exceptional circumstances be proven, and it is considered that the benefits of 

conserving any trees is outweighed by the benefits of development, then compensatory 

provisions will be mandatory. This could be in the form of replacement trees as close 

as possible to the proposed development, or alternatively the Council will request a 

financial contribution from the developer; a sum equivalent to the value of the removed 

tree(s). This valuation should be calculated using an appropriate assessment agreed 

with the Council. The Council recommends employing the CAVAT approach. Please 

refer to paragraph 3.16-3.25 of this SPD for details on this methodology. 

 

Planning for Trees Pre-Development 

3.1. The format of the rest of this document has been set 

out to follow the logical sequences by which 

development matters are generally processed; i.e. 

site surveys, development planning and organisation, 

obtaining planning permission and subsequent 

implementation; as identified in BS 5837:2012. 

 
3.2. Existing trees on development sites are particularly 

vulnerable to damage during the construction 

process. Careful planning is essential to achieve a functionally effective, 

sympathetic development, whilst at the same time ensuring the long-term retention 

of trees. The starting point to producing a successful design that achieves this is the 

gathering of information, particularly from carrying out a thorough and 

comprehensive site survey, both topographical and arboricultural. 

 

Land Surveys 

3.3. A Land Survey should show all existing features in and around the site, detailing the 

accurate locations of all vegetation (trees, hedges and shrub masses), structures, 

old buildings, watercourses, ponds, ditches, services, service runs, roads, 

driveways, walls and any areas of nature conservation interest. 

Page 103



14  

3.4. A detailed levels survey should be incorporated showing existing contours or spot 

heights throughout the site. Levels information is very important in order to ensure 

that existing ground levels are maintained around retained trees. 

 
3.5. Land surveys will be expected to meet the requirements of Section 4.2 of BS 

5837:2012 and should follow the standard drawing conventions within BS 

1192:2007. For the avoidance of doubt, should the land survey not meet the 

requirements set out above, the application would either; not be validated, refused, 

or advised to be withdrawn. 

 

Tree Surveys 
3.6. The majority of planning applications involve development proposals on sites which 

contain, or are in close proximity to, existing trees. In such cases, the Council will 

normally require the submission of a detailed Tree Survey produced in accordance 

with Section 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6 of BS 5837:2012, in conjunction with the 

aforementioned Land Survey. 

 
3.7. Tree surveys should plot the accurate locations of all existing trees and should detail 

the following information, in accordance with Section 4.4[.2.5] of BS 5837:2012 in 

plan or tabular form: 

a) Reference Number – for each specific individual tree. 

b) Species – common and scientific names. 

c) Height (m) – from ground to top. 

d) Stem Diameter (mm) – measured at 1.5m above adjacent ground level (on 

sloping ground to be taken on the upslope side of the tree base) or immediately 

above the roof flare for multi-stemmed trees. 

e) Branch Spread – taken at the four cardinal (compass) points to derive an 

accurate representation of the crown. 

f) Height (m) – of crown clearance above adjacent ground level (to inform on 

ground clearance, crown stem ratio and shading). 

g) Age Class – for example; young, middle aged, mature, over-mature, veteran. 

h) Physiological Condition – for example; good, fair, poor, dead & Structural 

Condition – for example; collapsing. Presence of any decay or physical defect 

along with any Preliminary Management Recommendations including further 

investigation of suspected defects and potential wildlife habitats. 

i) Estimated Remaining Contribution (years) – for example; less than 10, 10-20, 

20-40, greater than 40. 

j) Tree Quality Assessment – (see table 1 of BS 5837:2012) to be recorded in plan 

on the tree survey drawing. This should also include sub-categories: 1 – mainly 

arboricultural value(s), 2 – mainly landscape value(s), 3 – mainly cultural 

value(s) including conservation. 

 
3.8. It is important to note that Tree Surveys must be prepared by professionally qualified 

and experienced arboricultural consultants and should be available before any 

detailed design decisions are made in relation to the development proposals. 

 
3.9. Where hedgerows or lengths of hedgerow are to be removed to facilitate 

developments, sufficient information should be submitted to allow the Local Planning 

Authority (LPA) to: 

• Assess whether the proposed removals fall within the scope of the Hedgerow 

Regulations 1997. 

Page 104



15  

• Assess whether the hedgerows to be removed are 'important' by virtue of the 
Hedgerow Regulations 1997. 

 
3.10. Where development proposals abut woodland, normally only the woodland edge trees 

will need surveying. Where development is proposed within a woodland, all the trees 

will need to be surveyed. 

 
3.11. Trees on some sites may form the basis of locally important wildlife habitats or 

enhance other adjoining valuable habitats. In such cases, qualified ecological advice 

should be obtained and where appropriate, an evaluation report added to the survey 

information. 

Page 105



16  

 
Best-practice example of a Tree Survey Schedule. Reproduced with kind permission 
from Indigo Surveys ltd. 

Page 106



17  

Tree Constraints Plan 

3.12. The Tree Constraints Plan (TCP) is an essential tool to help the design team plan 

the development, whilst retaining 'important' trees. It shows the 'above and below 

ground constraints' from existing trees that need to be considered. It must include: 

• Below ground constraints; the Root Protection Area (RPA) around each tree or 

group of trees and hedges, which should be determined by reference to Section 

5 of BS 5837:2012. Please refer to paragraphs 4.22 to 4.31 of this document for 

further details concerning RPA’s. 

• Above ground constraints; the current and ultimate height and spread of 

Category A, B and C trees, where this would cause unreasonable obstruction of 

sunlight/daylight to the development. The extent of shadowing should be shown 

also be superimposed upon the proposed layout plan. This can be calculated 

using proprietary software, but in practice, can be represented by a segment 

with a radius from the centre of the stem equal to the height of the tree drawn 

from due North West to due East to indicate the shadow pattern during the main 

part of the day. 

 
3.13. The current and ultimate height and spread of a tree are also constraints due to 

size, dominance and movement in strong winds, and should be taken into 

consideration as a constraint at the design stage. 

 

Arboricultural Method Statement 

3.14. The submission and approval of a detailed Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 

will generally be required as part of a tree protection planning condition and will be 

expected to address the following: 

• Timing and phasing of all arboricultural works in relation to the proposed 
development. 

• Implementation, monitoring, supervision and maintenance of the TPS. 

• Implementation, monitoring, supervision and maintenance of the tree work 
specification/schedule/scheme. 

• Provision for regular monitoring of ongoing development operations to ensure 

full compliance with the approved TPS and AMS for the duration of the 

development. 

• The setting up of an agreed framework for maintaining appropriate levels of 

communication between all involved parties. 

• Provision for qualified arboricultural supervision. 

 
3.15. Planning conditions and/or legal agreements will be attached to planning 

permissions to ensure full compliance with the approved AMS. Failure to comply 

with the terms of the approved AMS or any other conditions or legal agreement 

imposed upon a planning consent, or any other action which results in the loss of or 

damage to trees or hedgerows which have been specified for retention, may result 

in enforcement proceedings. Or where appropriate, prosecution under the relevant 

sections of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; Town and Country Planning 

(Trees) Regulations 1999 (as amended), Town and Country Planning (Trees in 

Conservation Areas) Regulations 1975 (as amended), Hedgerow Regulations 1997, 

and the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) Regulations 2012; and their 

subsequent revisions. 

Page 107



18  

Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees 

3.16. Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees (CAVAT) is a UK developed approach to 

express the amenity value of trees in terms of cost for equivalent replacement. This 

is the popular method within the arboricultural industry for managing trees as public 

assets. Furthermore, the functional value of the tree factors in the local population 

density to represent its role in the amelioration of a particular locality. 

 
3.17. This approach is intended particularly for councils and other public authorities and 

primarily for publicly owned trees. However, it may be used by other public bodies 

(including the courts), private institutions and individuals to assess other 

components of an areas stock. This is because the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (sections 198 & 199) establishes that trees have value as a public amenity and 

that local planning authorities have a duty to act to protect trees in the public 

interest. It is therefore of particular value to trees benefiting from a TPO or that meet 

the criteria for such an order. 

 
3.18. The system is designed not only to be a strategic tool and aid to decision-making in 

relation to the tree stock as a whole but can be applied to both individual and 

groups of trees; as well as healthy and damaged trees (Directly and Indirectly) or 

trees which are accused of damaging property. 

 
3.19. In the case of damaged or destroyed trees, a compensatory value is calculated; in 

the case of damaging trees, trees are ranked to set the required levels of evidence 

as part of the Joint Mitigation Protocol. In all circumstances where the value of a 

single tree needs to be expressed in monetary terms, it is beneficial. 

 
3.20. CAVAT sets out to assess the monetary value of a tree by calculating a unit value 

for each square centimeter of tree stem based on the average tree cost and using 

that figure to produce an average cost for each centimetre of trunk diameter. For the 

purposes of assessing the monetary value of the tree(s), they must be considered 

as individuals using the Full Method (detailed below). For information, the 

Community Tree Index (CTI) factor for Coventry is calculated to be 125% for its 

population density, as sourced from Office of National Statistics14. 

 
3.21. The full method involves seven steps, and sets of key variables: 

• Basic value/unit value of tree size. 

• CTI value/location, in terms of population density. 

• Location value, based on a tree’s visibility from public vantage points and the 

tree’s public accessibility. 

• Functional crown value/structural value – part 1. 

• Functional crown value/structural value – part 2. 

• Amenity value/positive and negative factors. 

• Full value/life expectancy of tree. 

 
3.22. The full method is used in situations when a more detailed and precise assessment 

of the value of trees as individuals are required. 
 
 

14
 https://www.ltoa.org.uk/documents-1/capital-asset-value-for-amenity-trees-cavat/125-national- 

community-tree-index 

Page 108

https://www.ltoa.org.uk/documents-1/capital-asset-value-for-amenity-trees-cavat/125-national-community-tree-index
https://www.ltoa.org.uk/documents-1/capital-asset-value-for-amenity-trees-cavat/125-national-community-tree-index
https://www.ltoa.org.uk/documents-1/capital-asset-value-for-amenity-trees-cavat/125-national-community-tree-index


19  

3.23. The replacement value is calculated for the cost of the tree at the present time of 

purchase, plus any additional cost including delivery, planting, maintenance etc to 

enable replacement and/or compensation to be achieved in relation to: 

• Development Management functions. 

• Management decisions, including trees subject to TPOs, or of TPO quality upon 

site or within Conservation Areas. 

• Assist in legal proceedings (for example to advise a court as to the value of a 

tree, either publicly or privately owned, following the tree having been illegally 

removed or damaged, or in planning enquiries/appeals). 

• Management of the tree stock, to allow agreement as to adequate funding of 

replacement planting as detailed above. 

 
3.24. Given its links to public sector organisations and recognised weight in matters of 

planning, appeals and court proceedings, the CAVAT approach represents the 

Council’s preferred method for calculating tree values when circumstances require 

it. However other approaches are available for use including the ‘Helliwell System’, 

‘CTLA approach’ and ‘i-Tree’ etc. Should an applicant wish to rely on an alternative 

method, they should notify the Council at the earliest possible opportunity. 

However, for clarification, the use of any approach will be a last resort as the 

Council’s preferred position will always seek to ensure the retention of trees. 

 
3.25. Further details of CAVAT can be found on the London Tree Officer’s Association 

website: https://www.ltoa.org.uk/. An example CAVAT sheet is included in the 

appendices to this SPD. 
 

Design Criteria 
3.26. The Council will take account of adopted local plan policies, relevant SPDs, and the 

most up-to-date legislation, Government advice and recommendations (as issued 

through refreshed PPG). The Council will not normally grant planning permission for: 

• Developments which directly or indirectly threaten trees or woodlands of 

significant amenity value. 

• Developments which have inadequate or inappropriate landscape proposals that 

fail to provide measures to conserve, or where appropriate, enhance the 

character of the landscape. 

• Developments which directly or indirectly threaten ‘important’ hedgerows. 

 
3.27. The creation of a sustainable tree stock is a prime consideration when planning any 

landscape scheme. It is important that the tree stock incorporates trees of all age 

ranges and a diversity of species; appropriate to the particular location and 

landscape character. 

 
3.28. In general, site layouts will be expected to: 

• Provide for the retention of as much of the existing tree cover as is practicable. 

The allocation of space of trees must be assessed in terms of the overall 

landscape of the area; continuity and long-term sustainability of tree cover are 

important criteria to be considered. 

• Make adequate provision for long-term retention of trees, groups of trees or 

areas of woodland, which are identified as having significant current or potential 

future amenity value as set out in BS 5837:2012. Preference should be given to 

retaining A and B category trees, however there will be instances where C 

Page 109

https://www.ltoa.org.uk/


20  

category trees should be retained; for example, until new planting 

 is established (generally allow 5-10 years) or to provide temporary screening. 

• Provide for the retention of as much of the existing hedgerow cover as 

practicable. 

• Ensure the long-term retention of all ‘Important Hedgerows’ according to the 

Hedgerow Regulations 1997. 

• Allow appropriate space for new planting. 

• Ensure that where proposals include the felling of existing trees, landscape 

schemes make provision for sufficient replacement planting to compensate 

adequately for any resulting loss of amenity. 

• Include sufficient information to allow for a full, detailed assessment of the short 

and long-term arboricultural and landscape implications of the development 

proposals to be made. 

 
3.29. The layout of any development must be designed with detailed reference to the site 

survey information, particularly the Tree Survey and the Arboricultural Impact 

Assessment (AIA). 

 
3.30. The AIA should also identify the impact of the proposed design and layout on 

existing trees and detail measures to mitigate adverse effects. 

 
3.31. Whilst the AIA should inform site layout design, it is recognised that with the 

competing needs of development, trees are only one factor requiring consideration. 

Therefore, it is essential to identify the most 'important' trees for retention and 

ensure that sufficient attention is given throughout the design and construction 

process to ensure that these can genuinely be retained in the long term. 

 

Applying for Planning Permission 

3.32. It is essential that all relevant information pertaining to the assessment of trees and 

landscape issues on a site is submitted with the planning application. 

 
3.33. Where a development is likely to affect existing trees on or adjacent to a site, the 

applicant will be expected to give due regard to the full range of construction-related 

activities that have potential to cause damage to trees. In these instances, the 

applicant will be expected to forward all the relevant detail necessary for the Council 

to make an accurate assessment of the short and long-term arboricultural 

implications of the proposals. 

 
3.34. Please refer to the Council’s Local Validation Requirements for the details required 

prior to; validation of an application, determination of an application, or the discharge 

of the planning Condition relating to tree protection. 

 
3.35. Permitted development which affects protected trees or hedgerows, may still 

require a formal application for consent under the Tree Preservation Order, 

Conservation Area or Hedgerow legislation. As part of the Council’s pre-application 

service, the Council's officers are available to provide detailed, technical advice on 

such matters and it is advisable to discuss permitted development proposals with 

them prior to the commencement of any works. 

Page 110



21  

Planning for Trees Pre-Development 
 
4.1. Trees are material considerations in the formal planning system and developers 

should anticipate the need to accommodate trees within a development; whether 

through the retention of existing trees, tree planting directly, or through the provision 

of sufficient private space for future occupiers to carry out their own planting. 

 
4.2. Trees impinge on many aspects of site development. It is therefore essential that 

due consideration should be given to the requirements of trees by all members of 

the development team throughout the design stages. Developers are encouraged to 

produce layouts or development site master-plans for discussion, prior to the 

submission of details at the application stage(s). Such plans should be prepared 

with professionally qualified arboricultural and landscape design input. 

 
Avoiding Damage to Existing Trees 

4.3. Trees’ roots are fragile; careful consideration must therefore be given to ensuring 

that trees and hedges, which have been identified for retention, are not directly or 

indirectly damaged by any proposed works. This can be done by paying attention to 

the Tree Survey and constraints information which enables a Construction Exclusion 

Zone (CEZ) to be determined based on the RPA15. 

 
4.4. The CEZ will be expected to remain undisturbed for the duration of the 

development. Site layouts should therefore be designed to avoid any construction 

works within the identified exclusion zones and should make adequate provision for 

sufficient working space and movement around the site. 

 
4.5. Where development proposals include construction works within the identified 

exclusion zones, or where it is considered that a site cannot accommodate all of the 

operations associated with the implementation of a proposed development, without 

the need to intrude into the exclusion zones, the Council will request the submission 

of detailed construction specifications and method statements, in order to determine 

the likely effects of such works on the long- term health and structural stability of the 

trees. The Council expects full details of all such works to be submitted as 

supporting documentation to an application and is unlikely to agree to conditional 

approval otherwise. 

 
4.6. Where 'minimal dig' or 'no-dig' engineering treatments, using geotextiles and/or 

cellular confinement systems, are proposed for new areas of hardstanding within 

defined exclusion zones, the Council will usually require a detailed site and 

construction-specific method statement to be submitted as part of the planning 

application. Where such proposals are deemed acceptable, the Council will expect 

provision to be made for qualified arboricultural supervision and monitoring of all 

works within the agreed exclusion zones. 

 
4.7. The provision in Section 4.2 of BS 5837:2012 for off-setting the RPA by up to 20% 

in one direction, will only apply in certain specific circumstances, and should not be 
 

15 RPAs are calculated by multiplying the diameter of the tree in millimeters at 1.5 meters above the 
ground by 12 (diameter (mm) at 1.5m height x 12). RPAs should be calculated by the qualified 
arboricultural consultant. Development should be kept out of these areas or the drip-line of the tree – 
whichever is greater. 

Page 111



22  

taken as a generalisation. There will be a presumption against such reductions, 

which will only be considered when accompanied by a detailed justification, based 

on accepted arboricultural principles. 

 
4.8. Where proposed construction works are deemed likely to compromise the structural 

stability or long-term health of trees and hedges, which are not subject to any legal 

controls and are situated outside the site, the applicant will be expected to liaise with 

the respective landowners. Removal of, or damage to such trees, may require the 

prior consent of the owner. 

 
4.9. Foundation and/or superstructure designs should take account of BS 8004:2015 – 

Code of Practice for Foundation, and National House Building Council (NHBC) 

Standards, Chapter 4.2 (2018)16 – Building near Trees. 

 
Avoiding Damage to Existing Trees or Woodland- including its ecology. 

4.10. Direct Damage is caused by the physical/mechanical damage to the crown, trunk 

and roots resulting from above ground physical contact, and trenching and 

excavation work within the RPA of a tree. 

 
4.11. Indirect Damage may be caused by soil compaction, toxicity or changes in 

temperature or to hydrology, light pollution, sound pollution etc within the tree's RPA 

or Woodland Buffer. Soil and root compaction usually results from the driving of 

heavy machinery especially during wet conditions, or the stockpiling of the heaps of 

heavy soils or building materials upon the RPA. This may result in significant 

damage to the tree’s rooting environment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Damaged soil structure from the passing site vehicles within the Root Protection Zone. 

 

16 The standards can be found using the following hyperlink: 
http://www.nhbc.co.uk/builders/productsandservices/standardsplus2018/#40 

Page 112

http://www.nhbc.co.uk/builders/productsandservices/standardsplus2018/#40


23  

4.12. Soil compaction disrupts the plant’s vital function of root respiration, as required by 

all living organisms. Tree roots respire by the upward vertical uninterrupted diffusion 

of gasses from the roots through to the atmosphere via the soil’s upper surface. The 

compaction can also kill off a trees’ symbiotic relationships with mycorrhizae and 

other soil associates. 

 

Tree Works 
4.13. All tree work schedules and specifications should be detailed, precise and accurate; 

be drawn up in accordance with current arboricultural best practice and in-line with 

the requirements of BS 3998:2010 – Recommendations for Tree Work. They should 

include sufficient levels of detail for an accurate assessment of the full implications 

of the proposals to be made. 

 
4.14. Tree Work Schedules must be approved by the Council, prior to implementation. In 

some cases, an additional Tree/Woodland Management Plan and related Method 

Statement may be required to be submitted for approval. 

 
4.15. The Council expects all tree work operations to be carried out to the highest 

standards as set out in British Standards, and will apply planning conditions and use 

TPOs, where necessary, in order to ensure that such standards are upheld. 

 
4.16. It is the responsibility of the developer appointed, qualified arboriculturist to ensure 

all retained trees are monitored throughout the construction period, and any 

changes to tree protection measures are agreed in writing by the Council’s Tree 

Preservation Officer. 

 
4.17. The Council recommends the use of qualified arboriculturists, with appropriate levels 

of expertise, qualifications and insurance cover. The Arboricultural Association is an 

organisation that maintains an approved list of such parties17. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

17 Copies of Directories are available from the Arboricultural Association. This can be found using the 
following hyperlink: https://www.trees.org.uk/Registered-Consultant-Directory 

Historic TPO Black 
Mulberry tree safeguarding 
by tree protection barriers 
during development of Croft 
Street. 

Page 113

https://www.trees.org.uk/Registered-Consultant-Directory


24  

Tree Protection Measures 

4.18. Trees on development sites are particularly vulnerable to disruption during the 

construction process, and damage is often irreparable leading to decline and 

premature death. Tree root systems are especially sensitive to construction 

damage. Such damage is not usually deliberate, but more often than not, due to a 

lack of understanding of how easily trees can be harmed by nearby activities. 

 
4.19. BS 5837:2012 provides clear guidance on the implementation of a Tree Protection 

Plan (TPP), and the Council expects the contents of this document to be complied 

with. 

 
4.20. Planning conditions will be used to ensure that: 

• Tree protective barriers are erected prior to the commencement of any 

construction works, including demolition and preparatory site clearance and site 

set-up. 

• No development or other operations will take place until all preparatory works 

required by the TPP are in place (except pre-development tree works, with the 

prior written agreement of the Council). 

• All subsequent development operations are carried out in accordance with the 

approved scheme. 

• No development operation or construction activity, which could potentially cause 

damage to trees or hedges, is permitted within any areas designated in the 

approved scheme as being fenced off or otherwise protected. 

• Protective barriers are retained intact for the full duration of the development and 

are not re-positioned or removed without the prior written approval of the LPA. 

 
4.21. Tree Protection Measures (TPM) will be expected to address the following issues: 

• Protective barriers should be positioned so as to enclose as large an area 

around each tree, group of trees and hedgerows as is practicable. It must also 

contain at least the area of the exclusion zone previously identified by reference 

to the TPP of the Tree Survey. 

• The type of protective barrier should be appropriate to the degree of 

construction activity taking place upon the site. Figure 2 of BS 5837:2012 is 

appropriate for most situations as it is readily available, resistant to impact, can 

be re-used and enables inspection of the protected area. 

• The positioning of the protective barrier must ensure that the development can 

be implemented without intruding into the exclusion zone. 

Page 114



25  

 

 

Best-practice example of a Tree Protection Plan. Reproduced with kind permission from 

Middlemarch Environmental ltd. 

Page 115



26  

Root Protection 

4.22. As the morphology of the tree crown establishes from sapling stage to maturity, it 

develops a more spreading crown. In ratio to this its root system modifies from its 

initial deep rooting taproot, to that of a more efficient spreading system of rapidly 

subdivided lateral woody roots comprised of dropper and sinker roots, which extend 

well beyond the drip line edge of the crown's outermost branch tips. These systems 

display a rapidly subdividing fibrous non-woody root structure. 

 
4.23. Most of the roots of a mature tree are within the upper 600mm of the soil surface 

where the higher levels of moisture, oxygen and nutrients are found, for healthy 

growth and survival. 

 
4.24. The health of a tree’s root system is vital to its long-term well-being, and any 

activity which affects the soil structure may also damage or kill the fine roots or alter 

the balance of moisture, oxygen and nutrients within the rooting zone. This can 

affect the whole tree. 

 
4.25. The root system is equally important in terms of structural stability. The mass of soil 

particles bound together by the fibrous roots create a structural counter-balance to 

the above ground parts of a tree. Structural stability may also be impaired by 

excavation within the rooting zone, even where major roots have not been severed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.26. Damage or severance of main structural roots, as well as killing off the distal 

portions of the fine root system, may also affect a trees stability rendering it 

dangerous by increasing its chances of structural failure. 

Page 116



27  

4.27. Potentially damaging operations include; 

• Excavation within the rooting zone, 

• Raising or lowering of ground levels. 

• Compaction of the soil by construction works, machinery or vehicles and the 

storage of materials and debris, 

• The dumping or spillage of toxic or caustic material such as diesel, solvent or 

cement, 

• The installation of impermeable surfacing, 

• Direct damage to trunks and branches by construction vehicles, and 

• Fries built closer than 20m from the outer crown. 

 

4.28. The Council will normally require detailed TPMs to be submitted for approval if any of 
the above are proposed. It will be expected to make provision(s) for the retention and 
protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site.  This will 
also include locations for new tree planting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Default specification for protective barrier. Reproduced with kind permission from the British 

Standards Institute. 

Page 117



28  

 

4.29. Ground protection may be required during development to avoid compaction. Where 

it has been agreed during the design stage and shown on the approved TPP that 

certain operations may take place within the RPA, ground protection will be 

necessary in addition to protective barriers. Refer to Figure 2 of BS 5837:2012 for 

scaffolding within the RPA. 

 
4.30. Where trees are of TPO quality, the LPA may require site monitoring by a qualified 

arboriculturist. The AMS would illustrate a Site Monitoring Sheet (SMS) where key 

phases of construction are monitored and signed off by a qualified arboriculturist. 

This is to ensure that the tree protection pens and any ground protection have been 

correctly erected prior to any site activity taking place, and where they must remain 

in place until the end of the build phase. The final phase would be to confirm the end 

of this construction phase, when the tree protection pens may then be dismantled. 

 
4.31. The long-term implications of any construction work within the exclusion zone(s) 

should also be carefully assessed in relation to Table 3 of BS 5837:2012. New 

structures, drains, services, walls, paths, driveways and areas of hardstanding 

should be sited or designed so as to avoid direct damage from future growth of the 

bole and main structural roots of retained trees18. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18 For guidance on avoiding indirect damage by trees to structures, please see the 

NHBC Standards: Chapter 4.2(.3) using the following hyperlink: 

http://www.nhbc.co.uk/Builders/ProductsandServices/Standardsplus2018/#1 

Page 118

http://www.nhbc.co.uk/Builders/ProductsandServices/Standardsplus2018/#1


29  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Principles of Tree Planting 
4.32. Quality tree planting schemes on development sites can contribute to the creation of 

a high level of amenity and an attractive environment, whilst maintaining a relation to 

the character of a site and its surroundings. 

 
4.33. Tree planting should be recognised from the outset as an integral part of any 

development scheme landscape plan, and should be purposefully designed to 

complement the proposed features of the development and those existing features 

intended for retention. On sites that have no existing trees, it is especially important 

to plan for the planting of trees as part of the development. 

 
4.34. Tree planting will be expected to contribute, on an effective scale, to the 

conservation or enhancement of the landscape, providing an overall environmental 

benefit in terms of public amenity and nature conservation. 

 
4.35. Planting schemes should be appropriate for the intended use of the development 

and will be expected to contribute to the establishment of a well- structured 

framework of diverse ages, sizes and species with the potential to be managed 

constructively over decades or even centuries. It is very important to incorporate 

some large-stature, long-term trees whenever possible, but it is essential that 

sufficient space is allowed in the layout for their ultimate size. 

 
4.36. Developers should recognise the functional role of tree planting in enhancing the 

physical characteristics of a development: providing shelter, screening, enclosure, 

Page 119



30  

‘softening’ the outline of buildings, defining space, directing routes and views, or 

simply to enhance the visual amenity of an area. Particular attention should be given 

to the use of tree planting to enhance public areas within developments, and views 

into the site from surrounding public spaces. 

 
4.37. In locations where nature conservation objectives are particularly important, planting 

schemes will be expected to maximise the benefits to wildlife, through the use of a 

range of native trees and shrubs suited to the ecology of the locality. Due 

consideration should be given to layout configuration, planting density, choice of 

species, species mixes, proportions and edge characteristics. Such schemes should 

always be prepared with input from professionally qualified ecological advisors 

including the authorities own Ecology Officer. 

 
4.38. The overall principles are set out in appendix 2 and 3; and should include: 

• Principles of Planting Design: where percentages of appropriate tree, shrub and 

herbaceous species are considered from Ancient Arden, wider native species 

including species to encourage wildlife and ecology, and decorative species. 

• Plant as Elements of Landscape: to include prospective planting, planting as 

focal points, to create barriers for screening, windbreaks and mark boundaries 

etc. 

• Planting Layout: to consider appropriate species of a tree’s ultimate height, 

crown spread and root morphology, for open spaces, site entrances, junctions, 

marginal planting for internal roads dependent upon space availability from the 

more special boulevard planting to a site’s more restricted narrow road layouts 

where narrow fastigiate species may be selected. 

 

 
4.39. Additional information on tree planting design are available through the Council's 

SPD: Urban Extension Design Guide and Residential Design Guide. 

 
Avoiding Future Conflict 

4.40. As set out in PPG ‘Natural Environment’; trees, as a component of green 

infrastructure, must provide benefits in the long-term. This should be factored into 

the way that proposals are designed and implemented. 

 
4.41. Development layouts, even if not affecting trees directly, may not be acceptable if 

they would result in undue pressures, in the short or long term, for felling or 

excessive pruning of important trees by future home-owners and commercial 

landlords. 

 
4.42. Site layouts which merely avoid exclusion zones may not necessarily be adequate. 

Other factors must be taken into account to ensure that trees, which are to remain, 

can reasonably be retained to maturity, thereby providing maximum amenity 

benefits with minimum maintenance requirements. 

 
4.43. In considering the juxtaposition of trees and buildings, site layout designs will be 

expected to ensure that trees which are to remain are given adequate space, 

including sufficient allowance for future growth, without the need for excessive or 

unreasonable pruning. 

Page 120



31  

4.44. Site layouts should ensure that private garden areas are of adequate size by being 

large enough to enable normal domestic use and can reasonably accommodate 

trees, including allowance for their future growth. Private garden areas should 

normally be sufficient to allow reasonable extension of the main dwelling and other 

permitted development rights without reducing the amount of usable garden space 

to unacceptable levels. 

 
4.45. The predicted mature height, branch spread, and crown form of individual trees 

should be assessed in conjunction with site factors such as aspect, topography, soil 

conditions and exposure. (The ultimate mature size of any individual tree will be 

dependent on site specifics, and an assessment from a qualified arboricultural 

consultant should be sought). 

 

Planting New Trees 

4.46. Tree planting should aim to make the optimum long-term use of allocated space 

without causing unreasonable future inconvenience to occupiers. 

 
4.47. In order to ensure that new trees do not interfere to such an extent that unsightly, 

heavy pruning or removal becomes necessary, the following factors will require 

attention: 

• There should be careful choice of species and sitting to ensure maximum long- 

term amenity benefits and minimising potential future conflict. 

• Decisions regarding species and siting should be taken based on an assessment 

of the potential dimensions and growth habit and maturity; which will give an 

indication of whether future pruning requirements are likely to be acceptable. 

• Careful siting of new trees with reference to Table A.1 of BS 5837:2012 will 

ensure that future root damage to structures, drains, services, walls, paths and 

drives is prevented, or at the very least minimised. 

• The inclusion of professional arboricultural input into the landscape design 

stages is highly recommended, whenever new tree planting is proposed. 

 
4.48. Planning conditions will normally be used to ensure that planting schemes are 

planned, implemented and maintained to provide maximum long-term benefits. 

Therefore the submission of a fully informed planting scheme, in support of a 

planning application, will usually be required for development sites. 

 
4.49. The Council expects sufficient information to be provided to judge the value of 

planting schemes. Consideration should be given to augmenting proposals with 

cross-sections, projections and illustrative drawings. 

 
4.50. The minimum level of detail required for new tree planting proposals are: 

• An accurate, detailed planting plan and schedule. 

• A comprehensive list of species and stock specification. 

• Details of planting densities and spacing. 

• Individual locations of specimen trees and shrubs. 

• Clear indication of existing trees specified for retention and those for removal. 

 
4.51. The long-term aims of a scheme can only be achieved if the new planting succeeds. 

The Council will pay particular attention to practical measures that are proposed as 

Page 121



32  

part of any scheme, to ensure successful establishment. Planting schemes are 

expected to include the following provisions: 

• Preparation of the planting environment (including decompaction and drainage) 

should be at least to the standards set out in the BS 4428:1989 – Code of 

Practice for General Landscape Operations (excluding hard surfaces). 

• All plant material provided will be expected to comply with, and be planted, in 
accordance with the requirements of; The Horticultural Trades Association 
National Plant Specification, BS 8545:2014 – Trees: from nursery to 
independence in the landscape – Recommendations, as appropriate. 

• Final planting positions for new trees will be expected to take account of the 
requirements of BS 5837:2012. 

• The inclusion of a management plan and detailed maintenance schedule in 

accordance with the requirements of BS 4428:1989. 

 

Site Layout 

4.52. Site layouts must also ensure that trees at maturity will not dominate buildings, 

which would lead inevitably to concerns about safety and ultimately to requests to 

fell or heavily prune. Where large, mature, aged or Veteran Trees or Ancient 

Woodland are located on or adjacent to the site, an adequate buffer and space must 

be allowed for their development and long-term physical protection and 

maintenance by incorporating into open space. 

 
4.53. Furthermore, site layouts must ensure that trees will not cause unreasonable 

obstruction of direct sunlight or daylight to properties19. Reference should be made 

to the information provided on the AIA. Factors requiring detailed deliberation 

include; individual species characteristics (e.g. potential for future growth), and 

garden size and layout (e.g. the aspect of the tree from the building, building to tree 

clearances, building orientation, and the positioning and size of windows - especially 

in habitable rooms). 

 
4.54. In addition, site layouts must ensure that due consideration is given to the pruning 

requirements of retained trees (full details should be included in the tree survey). 

Where pruning regimes, present or future, are recommended as a way of reducing 

the adverse effects of trees on a development, the Council will carefully assess 

whether such proposals are consistent with prudent arboricultural management, are 

likely to meet the suggested long-term objectives and whether they are reasonable, 

enforceable and can practically be implemented. All tree works will be expected to 

comply with current arboricultural best practice and meet the requirements of BS 

3998:2010. 

 

Site Access 
4.55. The provision of permanent and temporary site access is an important part of the 

layout design stages and full details will normally be required in support of any 

planning application. 
 
 
 
 

19 The 45° ‘Rule of Thumb’: The sun is 45° or more above the horizon from mid-April to mid-August 
between approximately 11:00 and 15:00 BST. If a tree is no closer to a property than its ultimate 
mature height, the sun will be above the tree’s canopy during these periods, and that property will 
receive reasonable levels of natural light. 

Page 122



33  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4.56. For safety reasons, site access layouts and visibility splay clearances may require 

the removal or pruning of trees and hedges. Where this is likely, applicants are 

encouraged to liaise with the Council through the pre-application process (as 

appropriate) to seek clear guidance of their requirements, prior to submission of an 

application. Although generally, permanent and temporary site access designs will 

be expected to avoid tree and hedgerow removals and ensure the long-term 

retention of all important trees and hedges. 

Page 123



34  

4.57. The need to make provision for site access on a temporary basis must also be given 

due consideration. Sites may require temporary access for long, wide, or high loads, 

and provision may be required for unusually large vehicles or machinery. The need 

to provide adequate operational space within the site, for specialised equipment, 

machinery and/or vehicles (including cranes and piling rigs), must also be 

considered. Any resulting short and long-term implications for trees and hedges 

which are to remain must be carefully assessed and full details submitted as part of 

any planning application. 

 
4.58. Drainage and service layouts must be designed in such a way as to allow for 

installation and future maintenance without adversely affecting trees and their root 

systems. The provision of common service trenches may help to minimise potential 

conflicts. 

 
4.59. Full details of service layouts should be submitted with any planning application. 

Service layout planning and installation should be carried out in accordance with 

methodology requirements set out within BS 5837:2012. 

Page 124



35  

Implementation, Monitoring and Review 
 
5.1. The provisions of this SPD will be implemented through the development management 

process, principally the determination of planning applications which involve trees. 

 
5.2. Whilst this document does not have the status of the Local Plan (for the purposes of 

Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004), it will be a key 

material consideration in determining planning applications. 

 
5.3. The effectiveness of this SPD will be assessed periodically through the planning 

departments review mechanism, namely the Local Development Scheme. The 

Council’s Tree Officer(s) will continue to monitor the impacts that this document is 

having on the planning process and ultimately upon trees within development. It will 

also help to establish whether the intended effects, as set out in the aims and 

objectives, are being met. 

Page 125



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“If a tree is treated as a living organism, with an understanding of its vital functions, it will 

be a constant source of profit and pleasure.” 

Professor N.T. Mirov, University of California 

 

 

Page 126



Draft Trees & Development Guidelines 

Appendices 

Page 127



Appendix 1 – TPO Amenity Assessment Sheet 

 
The TPO Amenity Assessment Sheet is used by the Council to assess a tree for protected status. 

The next page illustrates an example of such a sheet. Note, it is only an example provided and 

the contents of the sheet will differ depending on the tree under assessment. 

Page 128



 

Page 129



Appendix 2 – Coventry City Council TPO Making Process 

Tree Preservation Order Procedures 
 
1. Scope 

This process defines how Tree Preservation Orders are made and recorded. 

2. Objectives 
The preservation of the environment for the citizens of Coventry is a core service. The 

success and implementation of the process is monitored using performance indicators. 

Continuous improvement is reviewed through audits. Communications takes place 

through performance monitoring & team meetings. 

3. Process 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Trees which may be considered to warrant 

protection by a TPO are identified 

- Planning applications 
- From Ward Councillors 
- City Council Officer 
- During TPO Review 

- Members of the public 

A check is made to establish whether the tree in 

question is already protected by a TPO by 

reference to the TPO Register. This data is also 

maintained in the computerised GIS system for 

checking purposes and additions, as arising. 

The Tree Preservation Officer provides 

recommendations as to whether trees should be 

protected by Tree Preservation Orders, and 

additions, as arising. Liasons with the Planning 

Officer and Head of Service are carried out to 

ensure agreement to any potential TPO. 

Page 130



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Liaison with Planning Officers ire carried out to 

ensure agreement to any potential TPO to be 

confirmed. 

The Officer visits the site to complete a visual tree 

inspection using Government Guidelines and 

Considerations for: 

- Amenity Values 
- Expediency 
- Condition 
- Life expectancy 
- Past management history 
- Proximity to buildings, highways etc 
- Future growth of tree 
- Amenity threat/development etc. 

Photographs are taken plus a plan to record and 

identify the position of the tree relative to the 

surroundings. Details of the inspection and 

assessments are recorded on the TPO amenity 

assessment sheet. 

If it is considered to be appropriate for an Order to 

be made, the TPO Officer marks the tree(s) onto 

an ordnance survey plan, generally at 1:500 or 

1:1250 scale. The plan and TPO amenity 

assessment sheet and plan are checked and 

approved. 

 
A TPO sequential number is recorded on the 

drawing prior to issue. The draft TPO plan is sent 

with a Schedule stating the tree details and 

locations, address of the tree owner and adjacent 

landowners, and the instruction letter to Legal 

Services stating the order’s justification. 

Page 131



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

4. Responsibility 

It is the responsibility of the Tree Preservation Officer to carry out the processes listed and 

it is the responsibility of their line-manager to oversee, ensuring the process is carried out 

correctly. 

In the absence of the TPO Officer and in an emergency, the line-manager is responsible 

for carrying out the process, with the assistance of another Council Tree Officer.

An electronic TPO file is set up for the proposed 

order and is identified by a sequential number from 

the drawing register. The TPO file will will be 

appended with the information sent to Legal 

Services. Pending confirmation, the TPO file is 

stored in sequential order on the Council’s internal 

computer system. 

Legal Services issue a 28-day period of notice 

Regulation 6 Notice with provisional TPO, for 

receiving any objections or representations. 

 
If no response or representations are received with 

a six month period, a confirmed TPO is sent to the 

original parties. 

If an objection is raised during the 28-day objection 

period then it goes to Committee not later than six 

months further on. A site visit may be carried out by 

the committee accompanied by the TPO Officer 

and/or Planning Officer. If the Committee is in 

agreement with the officers, the order is confirmed 

and a Confirmed Order with or without 

Modifications is sent to the owner, neighbours 

and/or objector. There is no further right of appeal, 

apart from a High Court Challenge. 

 
If the Committee do not agree with the making of 

the order, it is not confirmed and the decision notice 

is issued. Decision notices are placed on the TPO 

file, including any modifications. 

Page 132



  Appendix 3 – Tree Selection Guide 

 

Sacre, K., 2018. Species Selection: A guide to informed decision-making. Ely: Barcham Trees. Available at: https://www.barchampro.co.uk/guide/species-
selection-2/. 

 

P
age 133

https://www.barchampro.co.uk/guide/species-selection-2/
https://www.barchampro.co.uk/guide/species-selection-2/


 

 

P
age 134



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 135



 

Appendix 4 – Ancient Woodland and Ecology 
 

 

Surveys for  Ancient Woodlands should include a Phase 2 Ecological Survey to include flora and fauna including birds, invertebrates and 
lichens. Ancient woodlands are increasing rare and venerable habitats which together with their wildlife and ecology can be easily 
damaged from impacts of Direct Damage within a tree’s Root Protection Area, and by Indirect Damage to the woodland as a whole 
including its wildlife, should the Buffer not be sufficient enough. Some of the impacts are listed within the relevant PPG’s and further 
details can be found within the following reports listed upon the Ancient woodland PPG page for further reading;- Impacts of nearby 
development on ancient woodland (2012) Woodland Trust; Impacts of nearby development on the ecology of ancient woodland (2008) 
Just Ecology; A Review of the Impact of Artificial Light on Invertebrates (2011) Buglife; Bats and artificial lighting in the UK (2018) Bat 
Conservation Trust; Guidelines for consideration of bats in lighting projects (2018) EUROBATS.

P
age 136



Appendix 5 – Arboricultural Site Monitoring Sheet 

An example of an Arboricultural Site Monitoring Sheet is shown overleaf. This is an example that it used 

by a private contractor active within Coventry and represents a good practice example that the City 

Council are aware of. It is used to assist the Council to monitor the protection of trees during the 

construction phase of development, and to assess the trees health upon the completion of the sites 

building work. 

Page 137



 
 

 

Arboricultural site monitoring sheet 
 

Client  

Project  

Inspector  

Others present  

Date  

Weather  

Sheet detail  

Sheet number  

 
 

Aspect to be 
monitored 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Comments 

 

Date 
 

Signature 

1. Has the protective 
fencing been 
installed? 

     

2. Are  the 
information signs on 
the protective fencing 
in place? 

     

3. Has the protective 
fencing been moved? 

     

4. Have the trees 
sustained visible 
damage since the 
previous inspection? 

     

5. Has the condition 
of the trees altered 
since the previous 
inspection? 

     

6. Are there any 
scheduled works 
within the protective 
fencing? 

     

7. Have those works 
been agreed in 
writing with the local 
planning authority? 

     

8. Is the ground 
protection sufficient? 

     

9. Are any additional 
measures required to 
protect the trees? 

     

10. Can the 
protective fencing be 
removed? 

     

Page 138



 

Page 139



Appendix 6 – Copy of CAVAT Calculation 

 

CAVAT Catalpa tree example.  

 

 

Page 140



 

 

 

Page 141



Appendix 7 – Contact Details of Useful Organisations, Societies and 

Bodies 

 
Government & Official Bodies 

 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 

2 Marsham Street 

London 

SQ1P 4DF 

 
Telephone: +44(0) 30 3444 0000 

Email: newsdesk@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

Website:  https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-housing-communities- 

and-local-government 

 
 

The British Standards Institution 

389 Chiswick High Road 

London 

W4 4AL 

 
Telephone: +44(0) 20 8996 7001 

Email: cservices@bsigroup.com 

Website: https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/ 
 
 

Natural England 

County Hall 

Spetchley Road 

Worcester 

WR5 2NP 
 
Telephone: +44(0) 30 0060 3900 

Email: enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk 

Website: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/natural-england 
 
 

Forestry  Commission 

620 Bristol Business Park 

Coldharbour Lane 

Bristol 

BS16 1EJ 

 
Telephone: +44(0) 30 0067 4000 

Email: fe.england@forestry.gsi.gov.uk 

Website: https://www.forestry.gov.uk/england 

Page 142

mailto:newsdesk@communities.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government
mailto:cservices@bsigroup.com
https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/
mailto:enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/natural-england
mailto:fe.england@forestry.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.forestry.gov.uk/england


Professional Associations 

 
The Arboricultural Association 

The Malthouse 

Stroud Green 

Standish 

Stonehouse 

Gloucestershire 

GL10 3DL 

 
Telephone: +44(0) 12 4252 2152 

Email: admin@trees.org.uk 

Website: https://www.trees.org.uk/ 

 
 

National Association of Tree Officers 

3 Church Street 

Eccles 

Manchester 

M30 0DF 

 
Telephone: +44(0) 16 1870 6800 

Email: admin@nato.org.uk 

Website: http://nato.org.uk/ 

 

Landscape Institute 

107 Grays Inn Road 

London 

WC1X 8TZ 

 
Telephone:     +44(0) 20 7685 2640 

Email: contact@landscapeinstitute.org 

Website: https://www.landscapeinstitute.org/ 

 
 

Institute of Chartered Foresters 

59 George Street 

Edinburgh 

EH2 2JG 
 
Telephone: +44(0) 13 1240 1425 

Email: icf@charteredforesters.org 

Website: https://www.charteredforesters.org/ 

Page 143

mailto:admin@trees.org.uk
https://www.trees.org.uk/
mailto:admin@nato.org.uk
http://nato.org.uk/
mailto:contact@landscapeinstitute.org
https://www.landscapeinstitute.org/
mailto:icf@charteredforesters.org
https://www.charteredforesters.org/


Action Groups 

The Tree Council 

4 Dock Offices 

Surrey Quays Road 

London 

SE16 2XU 
 
Telephone: +44(0) 20 7407 9992 

Email: info@treecouncil.org.uk 

Website: https://www.treecouncil.org.uk/ 
 
 

Coventry Tree Warden Network 

Email: trees@ctwn.org.uk 

Website: http://www.ctwn.org.uk/index.html 
 
 

The Woodland Trust 

Kempton Way 

Grantham 

Lincolnshire 

NG31 6LL 
 
Telephone: +44(0) 33 0333 3300 

Email: england@woodlandtrust.org.uk 

Website: http://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/ 

 
 

Warwickshire Wildlife Trust 

Brandon Marsh Nature Centre 

Brandon Lane 

Coventry 

CV3 3GW 

 
Telephone: +44(0) 24 7630 2912 

Email: enquiries@wkwt.org.uk 

Website: http://www.warwickshirewildlifetrust.org.uk/ 
 
 

Campaign to Protect Rural England 

5-11 Lavington Street 

London 

SE1 0NZ 
 
Telephone: +44(0) 20 7981 2800 

Email: info@cpre.org.uk 

Website: http://www.cpre.org.uk/ 

Page 144

mailto:info@treecouncil.org.uk
https://www.treecouncil.org.uk/
mailto:trees@ctwn.org.uk
http://www.ctwn.org.uk/index.html
mailto:england@woodlandtrust.org.uk
http://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/
mailto:enquiries@wkwt.org.uk
http://www.warwickshirewildlifetrust.org.uk/
mailto:info@cpre.org.uk
http://www.cpre.org.uk/


 

Coventry City Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Trees & Development Guidelines for Coventry Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Regulation 12(a) Report of Consultation and Consultation Statement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



Introduction  

This report sets out the consultation that took place in the lead up to and during public consultation 

of the Coventry Draft Trees & Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (in this 

document referred to as the Draft SPD) from 6 January 2020 to 17 February 2020. It reviews the 

consultation responses received, the number of representations made, and a summary of the main 

issues raised by the representors. 

This document has been prepared in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 which requires that Local Authorities set out the persons the 

local planning authority consulted when preparing the supplementary planning document, a 

summary of the main issues raised with the consultation responses, and how those issues have been 

addressed. Once adopted, the Trees & Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document 

will form part of the Council’s Local Plan. 

Background 

The Trees & Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document has been prepared to 

provide technical guidance and support to Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Local Plan. This will help deliver 

one of the overall objectives of the Plan which is to help protect and manage trees through the 

planning process. The Trees & Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document is aimed 

at individuals and organisations involved in submitting a planning application as well as those 

involved in the determination and enforcement of planning applications, for all relevant 

developments (residential, commercial and mixed developments). 

Public Consultation 

The Draft Trees & Development Guidelines SPD was approved for a third public consultation by the 

Council’s Cabinet Member on 23 September 2019. Notification of the Draft SPD consultation was 

sent via email and letter to: 

• Statutory Consultees including adjoining Local Authorities; and 

• Local Plan database contacts including individuals, developers and community groups. 

Hard copies of the Draft SPD were made available in the customer contact centre and Council House 

in the city centre. The consultation was posted on the council’s Facebook and Twitter account as 

well as appearing on the main council webpages. 

Summary of Response to the Consultation 

A total of 13 responses were received for both consultations via email as well as a range of informal 

comments and suggestions made through stakeholder meetings. A summary of the representations 

for the previous consultations have previously been published. A summary of the third consultation 

representations and the proposed response is set out below. 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



The word “practicable” should be removed from 
it.  It needs clear standards to be adhered to. 
 

The wording has been carefully considered 
to ensure that the requirements are clear 
but do not surpass those set out in the 
Local Plan. 

It should require a minimum buffer of at least 100m 
around Ancient Woodland.  The Woodland Trust 
recommends 50m min, and 100m where there are 
larger developments which will put more pressure 
on the woodland and wildlife.  With a buffer less 
than 100m, there can be no ground nesting birds 
around the edges of ancient woodlands.    
 

Government guidance varies from this. In 
order to provide a robust and future-
proofed SPD we are deferring to the 
national minimum as a starting position. 

The Woodland Trust, guidance on ancient 
woodlands should be adopted wholesale into the 
SPD  
 

Noted, however it is not felt appropriate 
to adopt another document wholesale 
into this SPD. 
 

It does not give enough importance to the role of 
trees in removing pollutants and combatting climate 
change.  It should require that every new 
development should remove X particulates/hectare 
of development.   
 

The Air Quality requirements placed on 
new development are set out in the Air 
Quality SPD. Furthermore, it would not be 
appropriate for the SPD to set new 
standards in excess of those articulated in 
the Local Plan  
 

CAVAT valuations should be mandatory for all trees 
as part of the arboricultural assessment. The city 
should establish a tree bank just like the one 
operated by Birmingham City Council. If any tree is 
removed, the developer should and must pay the 
CAVAT value into the tree bank, which must be ring 
fenced for tree planting and maintenance, and 
biodiversity improvements. The planning officers 
report for the planning committee must always 
contain the CAVAT value of all the trees to be 
removed. 
 

CAVAT is used to identify the TPO trees 
and also the TPO quality trees upon a site 
i.e. those specimens of individuals, groups, 
and woodlands that are of a quality to be 
retained.  
 
When a tree is not of a quality to be 
retained from an arboricultural planning 
perspective, it would be inappropriate to 
require a monetary value for its removal 
from a development prospective.   

There should be a presumption that all hedges 
should be retained in view of their importance for 
biodiversity and connectivity.  They are the largest 
area of wildlife habitat in the country.   The planning 
officers report for any project should state how 
many “important” hedgerows are to be removed (as 
per the Hedgerow regulations) and what alternatives 
exist. 
 

It is not practicable to retain all hedges. 
Where appropriate hedges are retained or 
their loss mitigated, including by 
replacement and infilling of existing gaps.  
Hedgerows which previously qualified as 
Important Hedges within the agricultural 
setting are afforded greater protection via 
condition. This SPD is specifically drafted 
to address Trees within the context of 
development. 
 

This Coventry CC guidance, on the importance of 
trees, should be incorporated into the SPD and all 
Planning officers reports and recommendations 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/67/nature_and_c
onservation/493/tree_management/2 

This guidance was written by the Council’s 
Urban Forestry Department, and it will 
form their own policy, whereas this SPD is 
focussed on providing developers 
guidelines. A note will be added to the SPD 

Page 147

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/67/nature_and_conservation/493/tree_management/2
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/67/nature_and_conservation/493/tree_management/2


 directing prospective applicants to the 
Guidance and any future for Strategy for 
best practice. 
 

There are too few Tree Protection Orders.   
1. Local Ward Councillors and civic organisations 
such as the Coventry Society and the Tree Wardens 
should have the right to directly propose TPOs to the 
planning committee.  Amenity, the essential 
requirement for a TPO, is not a technical matter.   
 

As this is an SPD it cannot create new 
policies such as the one suggested. 
However, it should be noted that the 
Council maintain a good average of TPO’s 
within the City (Trees in Towns 2) in 
proportion to other LA’s within the 
country and that there are a range of 
criteria for the making of a TPO, which are 
technical, eg accurate species 
identification and Health & Safety 
recognition, expediency issues, etc. 
 

The draft SPD (paragraph 2.21) applies an 
interpretation of national policy in that it considers 
the key word in the definition of ancient and veteran 
trees is ‘relative’. It also considers a second word 
‘proportional’ is key, but this word does not form 
part of the definition. It is unclear why the draft SPD 
needs to interpret national policy, when the purpose 
of the SPD is to amplify Local Plan policies.  
 

Agreed, the word ‘proportional’ will be 
removed. 
 

Reference is made in paragraph 2.21 to the NPPF 
definition being ‘similar’ to definitions within 
BS5837:2012 and BS3998 for Tree Work: 2010. 
Paragraph 2.26 also refers to Natural England’s 
definition of veteran trees. It is true they are ‘similar’ 
in some respects, but they are different. The BS 
definitions do not include the phrase ‘old relative to 
other trees of the same species’.  
 

Both BS5837 2012 and BS3998 2010 Tree 
work, define the term Veteran accurately 
to date, but do not use the term Ancient 
tree. 
The 5837 uplifts trees qualifying as 
Veterans to its Category A3 (Cultural 
values and conservation) also to 4.5.11 
 
It is a correct observation that nether BS 
docs use the phrase ‘old relative to other 
trees of the same species’ – That is why 
we have used other such definitions for 
Ancient and Veteran trees in order to 
quantify the best protection for both tree 
categories.  
   

Paragraph 2.37 confuses matters by saying that the 
Council’s preferred definition for veteran trees is in 
the PPG, but that the NPPF takes primacy. The draft 
SPD is therefore internally inconsistent with itself, 
and ambiguous as to what definition the Council will 
apply.  
The correct approach is clearly to define veteran 
trees in line with National Policy. If the Council 
therefore seek to rely on other definitions when 
determining planning applications, they will 

The NPPF definition is currently unclear 
(see above) and contradicts its own more 
recent PPG publications.  
 
The PPG are more up to date and 
references in line with arboricultural and 
silviculture research and are considered 
more helpful in their detail in the context 
of this SPD - hence their preference in the 
SPD. 

Page 148



potentially be making decisions contrary to the 
NPPF.  
 

Reference is made in paragraph 2.22 to an 
appropriate model illustrating the developmental 
stages of a tree. It should be noted this paragraph 
references full maturity as  
phase 7, when in fact ‘veteran’ is phase 8. In any 
event, the fact a tree is considered ‘mature’ does 
not necessarily mean it is automatically deemed 
‘veteran’ relative to other trees.  
In light of the above, we would request the draft SPD 
simply state:  
In defining ancient and veteran trees, the NPPF takes 
primacy and the associated PPG should be read 
alongside it. The definition of Ancient and Veteran 
Trees is set out in Annex 2 – Glossary of the NPPF as 
follows: ‘’A tree which, because of its age, size and 
condition, is of exceptional biodiversity, cultural or 
heritage value. All ancient trees are veteran trees. 
Not all veteran trees are old enough to be ancient 
but are old relative to other trees of the same 
species. Very few trees of any species reach the 
ancient life-stage’’. 
 

‘Veteran’ is not an age category – it is a 
condition, which attracts unique wildlife 
and ecology and human interest 
contributing further to the landscape 
value.  Full maturity is shown to the model 
at phase 7 of the 10 phases.  
 
 

As a precautionary principle, a minimum 50 metre 
buffer should be maintained between a 
development and the ancient woodland, including 
through the construction phase, unless the applicant 
can demonstrate very clearly how a smaller buffer 
would suffice.  
 

By following the appropriate and current 
government guidance the guidelines in 
SPD are appropriate and will provide for 
the protection of ancient woodland whilst 
allowing appropriate development to 
come forward. 

The SPD could recognise more widely the 
significance of the canals as part of the city’s green 
infrastructure network and could emphasize the 
importance of protection and enhancement of soft 
landscaping along/near the canals.  
 

Whilst the Council recognise the 
importance of the canals, the SPD focusses 
on the guidelines with regards to trees in 
all locations throughout the city. 

Para 4.26 could put a greater weight on tree planting 
schemes that would connect areas of special nature 
conservation in order to help create ‘stepping 
stones’ for the wildlife between them.  
 

The liaison with the Ecology Officer 
suggested in 4.36 ensures that the 
appropriate scheme is developed, taking 
into the nature of each proposal. We do 
not therefore feel it appropriate to add a 
specific weight to locations. 
 

Tree evaluation and protection should be 
emphasized more in relation to important non-
designated features such as canals, which fulfil an 
important role in provision of open space, 
sustainable transport network, wildlife corridor etc. 

This SPD is focussed on trees affected by 
development, rather than specific areas 
irrespective of whether development is 
occurring.  
 

Page 149



All such comments welcome to the draft 
Tree Strategy when that is consulted upon. 
 

A list of species that are most beneficial for the 
locality in terms of biodiversity gains, which would 
inform developers when producing landscaping 
schemes should be appended to the SPD. This could 
result in more straightforward development 
management decision making and systematically 
increase biodiversity net gains which meets the 
objectives contained in Paragraph 170 in point d) of 
the NPPF 2019.   
  

A comprehensive Tree Selection list is 
provided within the Appendices to the 
SPD. Applicants are expected to liaise with 
the Council regarding biodiversity as part 
of the application process allowing 
bespoke and appropriate solutions to be 
developed. 
 
 

The draft document could more widely recognise 
the importance and benefits of fruit trees and 
orchards in the city. These benefits include, but are 
not limited to, ecological and cultural value (e.g. 
engagement of communities in their maintenance 
etc.).   
 

All such comments welcome to the draft 
Tree Strategy when consulted upon.  

It may be helpful to include a flow chart of the 
process. 
 

This is covered within BS 5837 and not 
repeated in the SPD for brevity. 

The introduction could place greater emphasis on 
the environmental and health benefits of trees. 
Protecting existing trees has become really 
important with relevance to Pollution and Climate 
Change.  
 

All such comments welcome to the draft 
Tree Strategy. 
 
 

A copy of a CAVAT recording sheet could usefully be 
included. We believe that CAVAT valuations for all 
trees that will be affected by a development should 
be included in an Arboricultural Report. 
 

An example copy of a CAVAT recording 
sheet will be included in the Appendices. 
 
CAVAT values are required when 
exceptional circumstances are 
demonstrated that result in the removal of 
a tree (as per 2.46). It is not considered 
appropriate or necessary for this to be 
widened to all trees.  
 

To what extent is development work checked during 
development and on completion? Do CCC officers 
have sufficient opportunities to ensure that any 
conditions are adhered to? 
 

Development work is checked where 
possible. Furthermore, the Coventry Tree 
Wardens and the public also act as our 
additional eyes and ears, and report to us 
frequently. However, it is not the role of 
an SPD to allocate staffing resources. 
 

A central list of veteran and ancient trees which 
have been identified may assist in preparing 
protection plans. This list should include important 
street trees which may be affected by heavy 
machinery en route to the site. 

It is not considered practicable to develop 
and maintain a comprehensive list of all 
such trees. It remains the responsibility of 
the developer to identify them on a site by 

Page 150



 site basis, for the confirmation of the 
relevant officer. 
 

The document says little about aftercare of new 
planting, which is obviously important if the new 
trees are to become an established feature of the 
local environment. There should be more about a 
developer's obligation to look after trees they have 
planted. 
 

The requirements for developers to plan 
appropriately for trees and their future 
needs are set out in Chapter 4 and include 
the need for a fully informed planting 
scheme which includes details on 
maintenance.  

P4 Para2.6 It would be helpful if more detail about 
trees were to be required in planning applications. 
This would assist in identifying necessary tree 
protection procedures before development. 
 

The current text is considered sufficient. 

P7 Para2.17, (previously 2.8) Ref to paras 109 and 
118 has been omitted. Why? 
 

It is considered that paras 109 and 118 did 
not have the same specific relevance as 
those listed, however this does not 
diminish their weight when determining 
planning applications. 
 

P11 (old P9 paras 2.11 & 2.12) gives less root 
protection/buffer zone than the previous 50m 
recommendation. 
 

The RPA/ buffer for an individual Veteran 
or Ancient trees has been revised (PPG 5-
11-18) to x15 trunk diameter.  
 

P13/P14 Paras 3.3-3.5. What level of enforcement 
ensures the provision of accurate land surveys? 
 

They are a validation requirement and are 
checked by officers upon site visits. 

P19  Para 3.26 An important paragraph which may 
be improved by a clearer definition of 
“not normally": are there guidelines for what may 
prove exceptions to this rule? 
 

An applicant will need to demonstrate the 
unavoidable nature of the loss along with 
suitable compensation / mitigation 
measures. In such cases, engaging with 
relevant officers at pre-application stage is 
highly recommended. 
 

Whilst the SPD is mostly about trees and hedgerows, 
I thought I’d make a few comments regarding the 
extinguishment of the public rights of way as 
currently shown in this plan. 
 
Paths M313 and M315 are showing with parts 
extinguished. Why?  
 
These paths need to remain intact and kept on their 
original routes as specified on the council’s definitive 
map and ordinance survey maps. 
 

As noted in the representation, these 
comments to not relate to the SPD under 
consideration. 

How will planning applications that are made before 
the agreement SPD be treated  
 

This SPD will be a material consideration 
for the determination of all applications 
once adopted, irrespective of their 
submission date. 

Page 151



  

A statement that Developers should have a 
responsibility to look after new trees until the 
development is adopted is needed. This does not 
happen in practice at the moment 
 

We disagree. The requirements for 
developments are clear and CCC have 
taken successful enforcement action when 
new tree planting and maintenance has 
not been successful.  
 

I would stress the importance of Hedgerows, should 
be more clearly part of SPD   
 

This SPD is specifically drafted to address 
Trees within the context of development. 

Para 2.4.1 refers to the Woodland Trust Guidance of 
50m buffer zones from Ancient Woodland. The 
accepted Natural England tested standard is 15m, 
which is in-line with BS 5837. Therefore, it is 
considered that the 50m buffer is excessive and 
should be disregarded, particularly when it is 
aspirational and not evidence based. 
 

The buffer description in the draft SPD is 
considered appropriate and has a robust 
evidence base as detailed in the SPD, the 
latest PPG and elsewhere.     

Para 3.7 (j) – Tree Quality Assessment. The third 
assessment value under BS 5837 is ‘cultural’ and not 
‘wildlife’ as stated. 
The SPD states CAVAT is the preferred method. 
However, it does not define in what circumstances 
CAVAT or a similar system should be used. The SPD 
must clarify how Coventry City Council intend this to 
be applied in the development process, as it could 
operate as an enforcement and retrospective tool 
and/or form the basis of discussions at application 
stage. Should it be intended to assist in the 
development of applications it is unclear how CAVAT 
calculations would align with mandatory biodiversity 
net gain, which is due to come into practice soon. 
Without clarity on the matter there is the potential 
for repeat financial costs and double dipping of on 
and off-site contributions expected from developers.  
 

Para 3.7(j) will be updated to “cultural 
values including conservation” as per BS 
5837. 
 
CAVAT is the preferred method of 
calculating the amenity cost in the event 
of the loss of a tree, and the process set 
out in the SPD is sufficiently detailed 
regarding how and when to apply that 
cost. The immediate biodiversity loss, and 
the cost of replacement environment, is 
not considered with the CAVAT calculation 
and will be calculated as part of the 
biodiversity net gain/mitigation package. 
All contributions will remain Regulation 
122 compliant.  
 
 

Regarding Section 2.46 - In the past we have used 
CAVAT to support planning applications which 
include the proposed removal of TPO trees. 
However, following the revision of the SPD, can you 
confirm if this is still the case and in what other 
scenarios we may require a CAVAT assessment to 
support our applications? 
 

If there is no available space for planting 
upon the site, the CAVAT valuation sum 
should be used for planting for public 
benefit within as close to the locality as 
possible (funds then transferred to Urban 
Forestry Team). 
    
 

Paragraph 2.20 of the draft SPD states that:  
“the Council will consult with the Forestry 
Commission and Natural England to seek their advice 
and assistance when appropriate.”  
This could be reworded to read as follows:  
“The Council will consult with the Forestry 
Commission and Natural England to seek their advice 

We are content with the draft text and will 
continue to consult with the FC and NE as 
and when appropriate. 

Page 152



and assistance when appropriate. This will include 
consulting the Forestry Commission on all major 
development affecting or within 500m of an Ancient 
Woodland 
 

As a ‘precautionary principle’, The Woodland Trust 
recommend a minimum 50 metre buffer should be 
maintained between a development and Ancient 
Woodland, including through the construction 
phase, unless the applicant can demonstrate very 
clearly how a smaller buffer would suffice. 
 

As stated in the SPD we do not believe a 
‘one size fits all’ solution is appropriate 
and will take the lead from the national 
minimum guidance. 

A precautionary natural buffer zone of at least 50 
metres would also act as an essential ‘safety zone’ 
for people, buildings and wildlife, particularly with 
the increasing unpredictability of climate change 
 

Noted, however, as per the SPD we will 
take the minimum buffer zone from 
national guidance. 

Any effect of development can impact cumulatively 
on Ancient Woodland, which is much more 
damaging than individual effects. The Wildlife Trust 
would recommend that paragraph 2.43 of the draft 
SPD be expanded to cover all these important 
considerations 
 

We believe that the list as laid out, along 
with the appropriate national buffer 
guidance (and an assessment of any 
additional requirements) provide sufficient 
considerations. 

There should also be stated conditions regarding 
management of the operational impact during any 
construction that may be approved in proximity to 
an Ancient Woodland, to avoid any adverse impacts. 
 

Agreed buffers should be respected during 
the construction phase and such matters 
covered within the Construction 
Management Plan. 

Consideration should be given to making statutory 
woodland Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) on 
Ancient Woodlands (LWS) in proximity to proposed 
major development, “in the interests of Amenity”. 
 

Noted, but beyond the scope and remit of 
this SPD. 

Welcomes the recognition given to the importance 
of hedgerows in paragraphs 2.14, 3.9 and 3.35 
(Hedgerow Regulations); 3.26 (Design Criteria); and 
4.3 (Avoiding Damage to Existing Trees) – this could 
be retitled ‘Avoiding Damage to Existing Trees and 
Hedgerows’. 
 

This SPD is specifically drafted to address 
Trees within the context of development. 

Further consideration could also be given to 
protecting and conserving valuable hedges that have 
been identified in the context of Local Plan Policy 
GE3. Some of these hedges may not necessarily be 
covered by the Hedgerow Regulations, but still have 
important habitat and ecological value that needs to 
be ‘protected against loss or damage’. 
 

This SPD is specifically drafted to address 
Trees within the context of development. 

Perhaps the Council could initiate a new scheme to 
work with landowners and farmers in identifying 

Noted, but such detailed management 
requirements are outside the scope of this 

Page 153



suitable trees at intervals within existing ‘important’ 
hedgerows, and to safeguard them during hedge 
cutting. The result would be the emergence within a 
matter of years of native hedgerow trees, with a 
relatively high survival rate and minimal loss of 
agricultural land. 
 

SPD and are better suited directed to the 
draft Tree Strategy. 

The SPD should offer guidance regarding the 
potential to secure enhancement through 
development and active management, including the 
creation of new areas of native plantation 
woodland; new shelter belts; native hedgerows; and 
tree-lined avenues. 
 

Future off-site planting aspirations sit 
outside this SPD. Biodiversity and green 
infrastructure will be the focus for a future 
area of work, and a new Tree Strategy is in 
preparation. 

The Hedgerow Regulations 1997 are mentioned in 
the report but I wonder whether hedgerows 
deserve a higher profile throughout, possibly having 
their own section. It would be useful to 
highlight their history and role within the Arden 
landscape. In addition, their importance with 
regards to biodiversity and how they improve 
habitat connectivity. 

 

This SPD is specifically drafted to address 
Trees within the context of development. 
Biodiversity and green infrastructure will 
be the focus for a future area of work. 

Trees and hedgerows are essential elements of 
green infrastructure, so it would also be useful to 
highlight the role of ‘The Warwickshire, Coventry 
and Solihull Green Infrastructure Strategy’, 

 

Agreed, reference to be added to 
introductory text regarding the strategy 
and any successor strategies 

In the introductory sections on the importance of 
trees, it would be useful to highlight the latest 
research on their impact on health and wellbeing. 
 

Agreed, reference to be added to 
introductory text 

It would be useful to have a section which refers to 
the latest research on the use of trees to 
improve air quality. 

Reference to air quality is made in the 
introduction, but more detailed notes are 
best suited in other documents as this SPD 
focusses specifically on the protection and 
replacement of trees rather than air 
quality issues. 
 

A section on filtering unsightly views using trees and 
hedgerows would also be useful. Particularly, 
how this might be maintained throughout the whole 
year through using a mix of species, 
expectations of timescales and age of trees used. 
 

The principle of views is covered 
sufficiently in 4.36 with more detailed 
consideration appropriate through 
discussion with officers at application and 
pre-application stages. 

There is strong evidence to support the planting of 
floodplain with trees and this is why sites which 
are adjacent to or include floodplain should be 
reviewed with this in mind. This is even more 
important with the challenge that climate change 
presents and the likely increase in the frequency 

Where development takes place on or 
adjacent to floodplains then this SPD will 
have relevance. Wider tree planting aims 
will come forward with the Tree Strategy, 
and comments should be addressed to 
that consultation. 

Page 154



of severe storms 
 

It is essential that sites for biodiversity offset are 
identified within the areas impacted by 
development and distributed throughout the region. 
 

Noted, however this is beyond the scope 
of this SPD.  A future piece of work will 
focus on Biodiversity.  

As part of the pre-development process, the 
potential for creating new woodland sites should be 
evaluated 

The scoping of new woodland sites sits 
outside the scope of this SPD but will be 
considered along with other matters in the 
forthcoming Tree Strategy work. 
 

 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 Briefing note 

To:  The Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities                           20th December 2019

15. Subject:  Trees and Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document
16.

1 Purpose of the Note
1.1 To inform the Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities of the comments that 

the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) made on the draft Trees 
and Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document.

2 Recommendations
2.1 The Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities is recommended to consider 

the following comments when considering consultation feedback on the Trees and 
Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document:

1) The need to establish a comprehensive set of requirements to offer protection 
to existing trees as astringently as there should be.

2) The need to introduce a robust form of assessment and protection of existing 
trees that don’t have TPOs, for use when considering planning proposals/ 
developments

3) The need to tighten the enforcement process for tree protection.
4) The need to be prescriptive to developers on the number of new trees and 

planting required in new developments.
5) Reference needs to be made to the Urban Forestry Strategy. 

3 Background and Information
3.1 At their meeting on the 18th December 2019, the Business, Economy and 

Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) considered the draft Trees and Development 
Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document as part of the consultation process.

3.2 At the meeting, Members of the Board questioned officers on the following areas:

 The robustness of the consultation - publicised through the Council’s Website, mail 
shots and email shots, and which groups had responded.

 The need to ensure that developers include tree planting in planning proposals.
 Conditions on planning approvals relating to tree planting, to be enforced.

Page 157



2

 Encourage maximising tree planting to meet the Council’s aspiration of one tree for 
every Coventry citizen.

 The use of the SPD as a material consideration. 
 Aspire to plant 2 trees for every tree removed during improvement works/planning 

developments in the City.
 The need to establish a comprehensive set of requirements to offer protection to 

existing forestry as astringently as there should be.
 In addition to trees protected by TPOs, explore options to offer a form of protection 

to further trees. 
 The need to introduce a robust form of assessment of existing trees, for use when 

considering planning proposals/ developments.
 The need to tighten the enforcement process for tree protection.

Gennie Holmes
Scrutiny Co-ordinator
Tel: 024 7697 1857
Email: gennie.holmes@coventry.gov.uk

Page 158




 

Public report
Cabinet Report

_________________________________________________________________________

Cabinet                                                                                                           13 October 2020

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities – Councillor D Welsh

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services

Ward(s) affected:
All
 
Title:
Adoption of Trees & Developer Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
 
Is this a key decision?  
No - although the proposals affect more than two electoral wards, the impact is not expected 
to be significant.
 _________________________________________________________________________

Executive Summary:

It is the Council’s intention to protect existing trees wherever possible as they play a vital role 
in the City, providing ecological, health and amenity benefits. This SPD provides developers 
with clear guidance on the Council’s requirements to protect and retain trees and sets out 
mitigation and cost implications if the removal of high-value trees cannot be avoided.

The document provides technical guidance and support to the Green Environment policies 
set out in Chapter 7 of the Local Plan (2016), in particular policies GE3 and GE4. It also 
builds upon a number of the policies included in Chapters 9 (Conservation and Heritage) and 
11 (Environmental Management). 

The SPD is structured in a sequential order for an applicant preparing a planning application 
submission where trees are involved. It covers supporting technical detail(s) around matters 
of:

• Land Surveys.
• Tree Surveys.
• Tree Constraint Plans.
• Arboricultural Method Statements.
• Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees (CAVAT).
• Works to trees.
• Tree and root protection measures.

Page 159



• Planting new trees.
• Accessing and moving around sites.
• Avoiding damage to trees

Recommendation:

The Cabinet is requested to:

1) Approve the content of the Trees and Development Guidelines SPD and agree its 
adoption with effect from the 23 October 2020.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1: Trees and Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
and supporting appendices

Appendix 2: SPD Consultation Statement

Appendix 3: Report of the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) on 18 
December 2019

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

The SPD has been subject to previous Cabinet Member reports to oversee the related 
consultation stages. Documents are available via the following links:

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s39228/09%20-
%20Draft%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20Supplementary%20Plan
ning%20Document%20SPD.pdf

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42114/06%20-
%20DRAFT%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20-
%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document.pdf

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

The draft Tree and Development Guidelines SPD was considered by the Business, 
Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) on 18 December 2019 (Briefing Note attached 
as Appendix 3)
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=570&MId=12071&Ver=4

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel 
or other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 160

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s39228/09%20-%20Draft%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document%20SPD.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s39228/09%20-%20Draft%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document%20SPD.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s39228/09%20-%20Draft%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document%20SPD.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42114/06%20-%20DRAFT%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20-%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42114/06%20-%20DRAFT%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20-%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42114/06%20-%20DRAFT%20Trees%20Development%20Guidelines%20for%20Coventry%20-%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Document.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=570&MId=12071&Ver=4


Report title: 
Adoption of Trees and Development Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

1. Context (or background) 

1.1. Following the adoption of the Coventry Local Plan in December 2017 the Council has 
been developing a range of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) to provide 
technical guidance and support to specific policies within the Plan. 

1.2. Supplementary Planning Documents are designed to build upon and provide more 
detailed advice and guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. They do not introduce 
new policy and should be used to help applicants make successful applications and 
are not to be used to add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development. 

1.3. Trees offer many amenity, environmental and health benefits and it is the Council’s 
intention to protect existing trees wherever possible, mitigating the impact on them 
through and after the development process. The SPD clearly sets out the Council’s 
expectations regarding the protection of existing trees and the requirements around 
the planting of new on-site trees. Finally, if the loss of a high-quality tree is 
unavoidable, it ensures appropriate mitigation and compensation can be sought.

1.4. The development of SPDs is subject to a number of statutory processes including an 
initial period of public consultation, followed by a further period of publication and 
engagement to present the consultation responses and how they have informed the 
final draft of the SPD. They must then be presented to Cabinet for adoption in 
accordance with the Council’s constitution. 

1.5. The SPD presented with this report has been through three stages of consultation and 
public engagement. The responses to two of these consultations have previously been 
considered through respective Cabinet Member reports. The most recent consultation 
summary is summarised in Section 3 and a full table of representations is included at 
Appendix 2 of this report, along with responses to the points made.

1.6. This Cabinet paper now seeks the adoption of the Tree and Development Guidelines 
SPD with amendments consequent from the most recent public consultation.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

2.1. As the Coventry Local Plan has already been adopted, only two potential options have 
been considered. 

2.2. The first of these options has been set out in the recommendation to this report. The 
adoption of the SPD will ensure the relevant Local Plan policies can be implemented 
and interpreted in a consistent and effective way. This will help reduce any potential 
conflict and promote higher quality planning application submissions, saving time and 
resources through the wider planning process. 

2.3. The second option would be to not progress the SPD and to rely solely on the policies 
in the Local Plan and how applicants interpret those policies. This option has not been 
recommended as it would place greater reliance on how applicants use the policies 
which could generate greater inconsistency in evidence submitted in support of 
applications and lead to greater resource pressure for planning officers managing day 
to day caseloads.

Page 161



3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. Two rounds of formal public consultation took place on the draft Trees and 
Development Guidelines SPD, between 8 August 2018 and 23 September 2018 and 7 
January 2019 and 18 February 2019. A third and final round of consultation has taken 
place between 6 January and 17 February 2020.

3.2. A total of 10 responses were received for the first two consultations, which resulted in 
a variety of amendments to the final draft of the document.

3.3. A total of 13 responses were received during the most recent consultation at the start 
of 2020. A summary of the representations made and the proposed action in response 
to the representations is set out in Appendix 2.

3.4. The primary comments came from stakeholders with an interest in the protection and 
preservation of the green environment, especially trees. The comments focussed upon 
the following key aspects:

• Additional information regarding biodiversity, future tree planting programmes 
and hedgerows;

• Clarification of the CAVAT qualifying replacement planting approach; and
• The relevance and justification of the buffer to the existing ancient woodlands 

and trees.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. Subject to approval by the Cabinet, it is proposed to adopt the SPD with effect from 23 
October 2020. It will then form a material consideration as part of all relevant planning 
applications.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance

5.1. Financial implications

The adoption of the SPD will not result in any additional day to day operating costs to 
the Council; the planning application process will continue to be managed within 
existing resources. There are no one-off external legal or consultancy costs associated 
with the adoption of the SPD. The creation and consultation of the SPD has been 
undertaken by existing Council staff and budgets.

5.2. Legal implications

Supplementary Planning Documents are produced under the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and in accordance with the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Supplementary 
Planning Documents are subject to supporting evidence and consultation but are not 
publicly examined or subject to Sustainability Appraisal. As such, their ‘material weight’ 
in planning terms is less than that of a Local Plan, Area Action Plan or other 
Development Plan Document.

Notwithstanding this, SPDs must be adopted by a resolution of the Local Planning 
Authority and they are still important planning policy documents that provide technical 
guidance and supporting information to those submitting planning applications. A SPD 
does not introduce new policy, instead it builds and expands upon policies set out in 

Page 162



the higher level plan (in this case the Local Plan) to ensure they are interpreted and 
delivered in the most efficient and effective way.

6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/) 

The SPD support the delivery of the overarching aims and objectives of the Council 
Plan, in particular it will contribute to: 

 A prosperous Coventry: The SPD will support the delivery of the Green 
Environment policy, and partly the Heritage and Environmental 
Management policies in the Local Plan. It will provide technical guidance 
to ensure the Plan helps deliver enhanced green infrastructure. This will 
help to ensure Coventry remains a physically attractive place to live and 
invest;

 Citizens living longer, healthier, independent lives: The SPD promotes 
greater understanding and appreciation of the city’s green environment. A 
place where trees are respected can bring about health benefits in the form 
of mental well-being and a higher quality of life;

 Making Coventry an attractive and enjoyable place to be: The SPD will 
support the green environment and environmental management policies in 
the Local Plan. It will provide technical guidance to ensure the Plan helps 
promote the protection of the natural aspect of our environment. This will 
help to ensure Coventry’s urban setting remains an attractive location to 
live, work and visit;

 Making places and services easily accessible: The SPD will help to 
facilitate the accessibility of public transport and active travel by making 
routes more attractive to engage with either by foot, cycle, bus or train. In 
other words, it will play a role in helping to make the cities transport 
infrastructure more user-friendly especially when walking or travelling by 
bike.

 Encouraging a creative, active and vibrant city: Protecting and conserving 
the green environment, supported through this SPD, will facilitate an 
improved quality of life, encouraging a mix of reasons to come to the city.

 Developing a more equal city with cohesive communities and 
neighbourhoods: Trees have the ability to naturalise anywhere. This SPD 
looks to utilise that notion to ensure that trees can have an equalising 
effect across the city and play a part in helping to remove the perceptions 
of the socio-economic standing of local residents.

 Improving the environment and tackling climate change: The successful 
implementation of this SPD will help seek to mitigate the impacts of 
development on the environment through the retention of trees and the 
role they play in supporting ecosystems and habitats, alongside the 
benefit of reducing the impact of climate change.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

Recent periods of consultation have helped to identify and mitigate risk by highlighting 
any issues and concerns with the SPD.

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

 No direct impact.

Page 163

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


6.4. Equality/ EIA

A full Equality and Impact Assessment (ECA) was undertaken as part of developing 
the Local Plan. As this SPD supports the delivery and technical interpretation of 
policies within the Plan no further assessment has been undertaken. As part of that 
analysis, the Council had due regard to its public sector equality duty under section 
149 of the Equality Act (2010).

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

The appropriate provision, retention and protection of Trees is an important factor in 
combatting climate change and delivering good development.

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

None

Page 164



Report author:

Name and job title: 
David Butler
Head of Planning Policy & Environment
and
Robert Penlington
Tree Preservation Officer.

Service
Streetscene and Regulatory Services

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 972343
Email: david.butler@coventry.gov.uk
or
Tel: 02476 972219
Email: robert.penlington@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above persons.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Service Date doc 
sent out

Date response
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services Officer
Law and 
Governance

04/09/2020 07/09/2020

Tracy Miller Strategic Lead
Planning and 
Major 
Development 

Streetscene and 
Regulatory 
Services

01/09/2020 01/09/2020

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and members)
Graham Clark Lead Accountant, 

Business 
Partnering,
Place

Finance 07/09/2020 07/09/2020

Stuart Evans (ACS) Planning and 
Highways Lawyer, 
Legal Services

Law and 
Governance

07/09/2020 22/09/2020

Andrew Walster Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulatory
Services

- 04/09/2020 04/092020

Councillor D Welsh Cabinet Member for
Housing 
and 
Communiti
es

- 21/09/2020 22/09/2020

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 165

mailto:david.butler@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:robert.penlington@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 13th October 2020

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities - Councillor AS Khan
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities - Councillor D Welsh

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Public Health and Well-Being

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:
MyCoventry Project and Specialist Training and Employment Programme (STEP) - Successful 
Award of funds under the Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund (AMIF)

Is this a key decision?
Yes - it has the potential to impact on all wards within the City and expenditure is in excess of 
£1m. 

Executive Summary:

Following a bidding process, Coventry City Council has been successfully awarded £1.57m 
funding from the Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund towards delivering the £1.75m 
“MyCoventry” initiative. The Asylum Migration and Integration Fund (AMIF) is a European Union 
(EU) funding stream that the UK Government joined in April 2012. The UK National Programme 
consists of 3 Specific Objectives consisting of Asylum (including Resettlement), Legal Migration 
and Integration; and Returns (voluntary, enforced and reintegration measures).

The funding secured will aim to meet the second objective (Legal Migration and Integration) of 
the fund supporting legal migration to the Member States in accordance with their economic and 
social needs, such as labour market needs, whilst reducing the abuse of legal migration, and to 
promote the effective integration of Third-Country Nationals.

The proposal (“MyCoventry”) has been developed by co-working with key partners including St. 
Francis Church of Assisi, Positive Youth Foundation, Ashley Community Housing, Coventry 
University’s Centre for Trust Peace and Social Relations and the City Council’s Employment 
Team. The proposal hence includes a holistic offer of Integration, building on the key elements of 
Community and social links, Language/Learning as well as Employment skills and development. 
The City Council will be the Accountable Body for the full project.

The “MyCoventry” proposal will aim to engage and empower our existing migrant communities in 
the city to make them more independent and enable them to contribute to the cities social, 
economic and civic fabric.

Page 167

Agenda Item 7



Coventry City Council has also successfully been awarded AMIF funding as a partner on the 
STEP Employability programme with World Jewish Relief (WJR), who are leading this 
partnership. This funding brings targeted resources to support employment interventions for 
refugees resettled under the Syrian Resettlement Scheme and the Resettlement of Vulnerable 
Children Scheme who are already in the city. 

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is requested to: 

1) Note the success of the partnership work between the City Council and the wider 
partnership in securing the funding to support our existing local migrant communities.

2) Authorise the City Council to receive the £1.79m grant funds for AMIF grant funded 
projects and act as accountable body for the MyCoventry initiative and guarantor for the 
available funds. This includes incurring expenditure of the £1.57m (MyCoventry) plus the 
match funding on the City Council projects within the initiative. 

3) Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive, following consultation with the Director of 
Finance and the Director of Law and Governance, to enter into the appropriate 
agreements:

i. The grant funding agreement for the receipt of the AMIF funding with the City Council 
acting as the accountable body for the funding. 

ii. Back to back funding agreements with the identified project partners necessary to 
deliver the ‘MyCoventry’ proposal as set out in this report.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1: MyCoventry Project Model

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No 

Page 168



Report title:  MyCoventry Project and Specialist Training and Employment Programme 
(STEP)- Successful Award of funds under the Asylum, Migration and 
Integration Fund (AMIF)

1. Context (or background)

1.1. Coventry has a long tradition of welcoming people to the city from all over the world. The 
City Council’s Migration Team’s supports this tradition and aims to enable and empower 
all of those who have arrived in our welcoming city to thrive and prosper. The team also 
manages projects and partnerships locally and nationally through externally funded EU 
(Urban Innovative Actions) and Non-EU (Controlling Migration Fund, Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government) projects. We have strategic responsibility for 
supporting newly arriving migrants and play a key part in supporting the city’s Local 
Migration Network as well as grant funding for the Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre 
to support newly arriving communities.

1.2. The Migration Team also directly delivers integration support to nearly 700 Resettled 
refugees including learning, advice, signposting, employment and skills under the VPRS 
and RVC schemes. Coventry City Council joined the Vulnerable People’s Resettlement 
Scheme in July 2014 and the Vulnerable Children's Resettlement Scheme in October 
2016 and has since become one of the leading cities in the UK for resettlement of 
refugees. 

1.2.1. In supporting Refugee Resettlement through these scheme, Coventry City Council’s 
Migration Team have been able to build and grow the infrastructure and support that 
Coventry can offer to existing Refugee and Migrant communities through the expansion of 
projects and securing of funds. These projects/funds include (Building Bridges, Ignite, 
Connecting Communities, ESOL for Integration Fund) the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government and the EU Urban Innovative Actions fund (the 
MiFriendly Cities Project). 

The Specialist Training and Employment Programme (STEP) is providing personalised 
support to recently arrived refugees in the UK enabling them to gain regular and 
sustainable employment. The bespoke programme is adapted to each individual's needs 
and helps refugees gain language skills, qualifications and training, as well as providing 
one-to-one assistance in CV writing, interview skills, finding work or setting up their own 
business. 

Participants of the programme have found work in a range of sectors including retail, hair 
and beauty, engineering, education, pharmacy and construction.STEP is delivered in 
partnership with Horton Housing Association, The Refugee Council, Coventry City 
Council, Business in the Community, The Entrepreneurial Refugee Network and the 
Stand Up and Be Counted Theatre Company.

1.3. As some of these projects are ending, the Migration Team in partnership with key 
stakeholders applied for and have been successful in securing the Asylum, Migration and 
Integration Funding to deliver the “MyCoventry” initiative. The Asylum Migration and 
Integration Fund (AMIF) is a European Union (EU) funding stream that the UK 
Government joined in April 2012.The funding secured will aim to meet the second 
objective (Legal Migration and Integration) of the funding supporting legal migration to the 
Member States in accordance with their economic and social needs, such as labour 
market needs, whilst reducing the abuse of legal migration, and to promote the effective 
integration of Third-Country Nationals.

Page 169



1.4    The initiative (“MyCoventry”) has been developed by co-working with key partners 
including St Francis Church of Assisi, Positive Youth Foundation, Ashley Community 
Housing, Coventry University’s Centre for Trust Peace and Social Relations and the City 
Council’s Employment Team. The proposal hence includes a holistic offer of Integration 
building on the key elements of community and social links, Language/Learning as well as 
Employment skills and development. The partnership will aim to engage and empower 
these communities to become more independent and enable them to contribute to the 
cities social, economic and civic fabric. The funding/initiative will be delivered between 01 
Jan 2021 - 31 Dec 2022 offering capacity and resources to support our existing migrant 
communities. 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1. There remains an option to decline the offer of funding for the MyCoventry initiative. This 
has been discounted as accepting this option will mean that we have less resources 
available to support our existing legal migrants in the city.  The ambition is to benefit both 
host and migrant communities as Coventry is an International City of Peace and 
Reconciliation, promoting peace and dialogue, acting as a place of safety and City of 
Sanctuary for people arriving into the city facilitating the contribution to the social, 
economic and civic fabric of our city. 

2.2. The recommended option is for the Council to accept the funding and for the Council to 
act as accountable body for this funding to benefit our legally resident migrant 
communities and the wider community. The City has an excellent track record of 
managing projects of this type, using them to create positive outcomes for the City, 
supporting wider Council priorities around the growth of the City and economic prosperity. 
The acceptance of this funding will support us in ensuring that a particularly economically 
disadvantaged section of Coventry’s society (Third Country Nationals including refugees, 
newly arrived and established migrant communities) are supported comprehensively to 
maximise their contribution to society in the City’s growing economy.  

Summary of the grant of the MyCoventry Partnership

2.3. Coventry City Council £390.8 (Migration Team) + £165.6k (Employment Team)

2.3.1. The Council will co-ordinate the work locally on the MyCoventry project including acting 
as the accountable body for the overall funding, provide employment support and project 
management delivery.

2.3.2. The Job Shop will establish better pathways for TCN clients into employment and 
employability training by embedding integration related learning into mainstream provision 
and local support networks. This will facilitate the integration of TCNs into the local labour 
market and joint support with the host community through employer events and training 
courses.

2.3.3. The Council will also ensure that learnings from various strands of the project are shared, 
culminating in the final evaluation and knowledge-share at the end of the project.

2.3.4. Local work will focus on supporting, enhancing and recognising the contribution of migrant 
and refugee communities to social, economic and public life. The project will build 
capacity within these communities to feel empowered through learning, understanding 
their rights as well as challenge prejudice and hostility that may come their way.

Page 170



2.3.5. With integration being a two-way street, meaningful contact between TCNs and host 
society through community spaces and mixed community activities will develop strong 
social connections and friendships, building a sense of integration and belonging.

Other Key partners in delivery of MyCoventry will be:

2.4. St Francis Church of Assisi £361.9k

2.5. St Francis are a Church/Community Centre with strong community ties in Radford and 
across Coventry, promoting meaningful contact between host and migrant communities, 
offering services including specialist employment support, Job clubs, Volunteering, ESOL, 
Training, Food bank and destitution support alongside childcare facilities that reduce 
barriers for communities to engage.

2.6. Since 2015 St Francis Church of Assisi has supported migrants with specialist ESOL and 
employment support and worked with resettled refugees with civic orientation, ESOL, 
literacy support and employability. Since 2018, they have supported wider migrant 
populations through the Building Bridges project where learning will be applied on this 
project.

2.7. Coventry University £268.5k

2.8. Coventry University’s – Centre for Trust, Peace and Social Relations (CTPSR) have been 
working with the Council to bring research into developing interventions with other 
voluntary and community sector partners in Coventry to inform service gaps and delivery. 
This centre runs the FabLab and the Furniture Factory, both based in the heart of the city, 
with open doors for people to come and learn new skills. These facilities bring the 
university to people and offers a neutral space for different communities to get together, 
offering meaningful contact and the opportunity to learn new skills.

2.9. The Council and its Migration Team has worked with Coventry University on various 
initiatives the Fab Lab, the Age friendly initiative and Horizon 2020. Further partnerships 
have been developed through projects like Building Bridges and MiFriendly Cities to 
ensure the interventions delivered are informed/supported by research and evidence. 

2.10. Ashley Community Housing £215.4k

2.11. Ashley Community Housing (ACH) supports refugees and migrants with specialised 
training, employment and housing support. Since 2018 we have worked with ACH to 
establish an evidence-based toolkit named ‘Integrass’ to inform future service delivery 
and funding proposals such as through the Ignite for Integration project. It has already 
identified training gaps for migrants including IT and mental health across the city. This 
tool and learning will allow the city to effectively support and identify support that will 
integrate migrants into the city. 

2.12. Ashley Community Housing’s involvement in the MyCoventry project, utilising the 
Integrass toolkit to inform tailored approaches will allow the project to understand the 
holistic integration needs of migrants through specialist confidence building, mental health 
and specialist employment skills development support. 

2.13. Positive Youth Foundation £172.2k

2.14. Positive Youth Foundation (PYF) engages with host and migrant young people by working 
in partnership with Schools and City Council teams including UASC, PREVENT Team 

Page 171



and Ethnic Minority Achievement Service. PYF’s specialist support services includes 
youth clubs, Community Aid hubs, Sports opportunities and employability support.  

2.15. Since 2011 Positive Youth Foundation have been addressing social issues affecting 
young people. Additionally, they have been supporting newly arrived young people on the 
Resettlement Programme since 2017 in deprived wards across Coventry. PYF work with 
young people, including TCN young people, from different communities which will allow 
the MyCoventry project to support adults and young people through specialist and holistic 
young people-focused support in Coventry. 

2.16   Project Governance

A “Theory of Change” will be developed to create a shared vision between the partnership, 
with governance structures enabling fulfilment of shared goals and outcomes. The 
governance structure will include a quarterly Steering Group with accountability from senior 
management across all delivery partners. The Group will ensure that project performance 
adheres to required outcomes and targets as well as linking the project to other citywide 
initiatives strategically. The Steering Group will be able to make decisions where 
appropriate however will not be reporting to anywhere else, such as a separate Project 
Board. A performance management framework will be developed so that all partners 
(Project Managers) will report on with key outputs, targets, outcomes and progress updated 
via bi-monthly management meetings.

All delivery partners will attend regular 1-2-1 meetings to ensure that performance of the 
partner and the progress of the participant is monitored and supported effectively.

We will strengthen the development and dissemination of performance and financial 
management systems with partners in line with the funder’s requirements. Toolkits will 
capture and monitor performance, triggering the release of payments to partners. 
Monitoring information will be based upon outputs, outcomes and activities agreed in the 
bid and in line with the “Theory of Change”. Targets will be allocated, agreed and 
monitored on a quarterly basis with baseline data agreed at the beginning of the project to 
ensure that the data captured and monitored, supports effective evaluation activities as well 
as ensure the effectiveness of the provisions delivered by partners through MyCoventry. 

Obligations of each respective partners will be captured in a partnership agreement 
aligning to funders requirements. A project SharePoint site will be developed so that all 
partners can collaborate as well as share necessary data and information with the 
partnership securely.

Our Data Sharing agreement, using AMIF’s Data Sharing template, will cover data capture 
storage, handling and processing for the partnership. This will include establishing data 
controllers, processors of data and what data can be captured in line with funder 

Organisation Grant Total incl. match funding
CCC Migration Team £390,848.14 £434,275.72
CCC Employment Team £165,614.90 £184,016.56
St Francis Church of Assissi £361,950.07 £402,166.74
Coventry University £268,513.66 £298,348.51
Ashley Community Housing £215,381.25 £239,312.50
Positive Youth Foundation £172,190.34 £191,322.60
Total £1,574,498.36 £1,749,442.63

Page 172



requirements without breaching privacy and confidentiality of individuals. We will seek input 
from the Council’s Information and Governance teams to establish processes and systems 
that are compliant with DPA 2018 and GDPR. 

Once agreed by the partnership, a privacy notice will explain how client information will be 
stored, used and why it is being captured. All forms that capture client information will 
ensure that explicit consent is obtained from clients and that data sharing statements are 
displayed on all paperwork. Our project SharePoint will ensure shared data will use secure 
systems and protect data from misuse. Authorised individuals will have password protected 
access to project data.

Reporting mechanisms including risk registers and exception reporting will be put in place 
to monitor and manage risks and seek appropriate advice and guidance from the 
governance structures.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. In preparation for this proposal, face to face meetings (pre Covid-19) and remote 
Microsoft Teams meetings (during Covid-19 national lockdown) were held with 
organisations over 4 months, including consultations with wider (external) stakeholders 
and internal Council teams.

3.2. The funding application was pulled together based on work that the Council’s Migration 
Team have been undertaking over the last 6 years to identify local needs and address 
local, social and economic inequalities that hinder integration.  Learnings were taken from 
previous, successfully delivered projects, including findings from the local Coventry 
Migration Network that includes voluntary, statutory and private sector organisations 
working together to support refugees and newly arrived communities to integrate into the 
city. Knowledge from previous projects and local intelligence have been the basis for 
submitting an application that has demonstrated 3 key areas as gaps in existing service 
provisions, namely community and social links, language and learning as well as 
employment skills and development. 
 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. Subject to the successful completion of agreements with AMIF the project will run for two 
years concluding in 2022. Once final agreement has been reached each delivery partner 
will be given a partnership Agreement that sets out their contribution to projects in terms 
of match funding and outputs and sets out how much AMIF funding will be available to 
them. This process is expected to be completed by the end of 2020.  The fund will run 
from Jan 2021 until Dec 2022.

4.2. The projects will run until 2022. It is not anticipated that it will be necessary for extensions 
to this timetable although other EU projects have successfully negotiated extensions in 
the past. 

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance

5.1. Financial implications

The total grant awarded for the MyCoventry initiative is a maximum of £1,574,498.36. 
Grant will be paid at 90% of project costs up to this maximum amount. The maximum total 
cost of the initiative will therefore be £1,749,442.63. Each partner must provide the match 
funding of 10% of their total project costs. 

Page 173



The total grant awarded for the STEP programme is £218,598.18. 

The Council is proposing to be the accountable body for the MyCoventry initiative. Whilst 
this arrangement carries some financial risk for the Council (for instance if grant 
repayment is required), risk mitigation and management will be put in place and this is 
covered in more detail in Sections 5.2 and 6.2 below.

The various elements of the project will bring considerable benefits to the City. Grant 
payments to partners will be made in arrears following receipt of all of the spend & output 
data etc.

As described above the City Council will receive £556.46k (MyCoventry) in EU funding 
towards City Council projects within the initiative, which represents 90% of the 
expenditure on these projects. The remaining 10% of the funding for the project will be 
provided by matched allocation of existing Council expenditure. A declaration has been 
signed by all partners to cover their element of the match funding. 

  AMIF funding for the duration of the project is valued at a maximum of £1,574,498.36.   
The grant awarded will be 90% of the total eligible project costs of £1,749,442.63. 

For the STEP programme, the City Council will receive £218.59k, with no match funding 
obligations. 

5.2. Legal implications

The Council will act as the accountable body for this AMIF project. The Council will be 
issued with a grant agreement from the administrators containing terms and conditions. 
The terms and conditions will be devolved to any partners within the overall project. 
These will ensure that appropriate conditions and obligations which are imposed upon the 
Council are passed on to the grant recipients who receive the funding for delivering 
projects. The council has the power to act under Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011. 

6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan ( www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/ )? 

Inwards migration into the City has been a significant factor in population growth in recent 
years and MyCoventry will support the wider delivery of the Council’s key objectives by 
supporting community cohesion and ensuring that TCNs contribute to the City’s economic 
prosperity and cultural diversity. Additionally, the following specific issues will be 
addressed:

 Empowering citizens – Having awareness of civic, political and legal rights is a 
cornerstone for active citizenship and a fully functioning regional democracy, as is 
feeling empowered sufficiently to access these rights. Refugees and migrants in 
Coventry who have low levels of awareness of rights often struggle to access them. 
The project will address this.

 Protecting our most vulnerable – The programme is aimed at a vulnerable group of 
our society including a section of our population who seek asylum after having to flee 
their home countries due to threats and fear of their life. 

 Fostering community and social links - MyCoventry provisions will mostly be 
delivered in key community-based settings such as libraries with the involvement of 
local communities to build a sense of belonging as well as develop beneficiaries’ own 

Page 174

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


skills. This approach builds connections between communities to improve people’s 
lives and foster integration. 

 Improving Language and Learning - To encourage empowerment and participation 
in community settings, MyCoventry will deliver specialist ESOL support alongside 
volunteering to facilitate community cohesion, engagement and skills development by 
unlocking the cities wide ranging assets, which ultimately will lead to overcoming 
integration challenges. This will respond to needs and help motivate different parts of 
the city to participate in the wider community. 

 Investing in employment skills and development – MyCoventry provisions are 
based upon identified local best practice, and will deliver specialist employment 
support, provide skills-based learning, courses with accreditation and career 
mentoring to support migrants to get into median level employment. Consequently, 
hundreds more individuals will gain qualifications, supporting the fostering of new 
friendships, talent, creativity, education and skills. 

 Making the most of our assets – utilisation of EU funding maximises the 
effectiveness of City Council resources and enables the City to innovate and develop 
effective interventions 

 Make communities safer - Addressing hostility towards newcomers, recognising the 
positive contribution that refugees and migrants make and building solidarity between 
migrant and non-migrant communities is a core objective of the MyCoventry project.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

The following key risks have been identified across the programme that can have an 
impact on the success of the project and for us as the accountable body and hence will 
need monitoring:

Risk Impact Likelihood Proposed actions
Partner 
withdraws 
from the 
project

Minor Possible  We are part of the local migration network and 
have strong relationships with external 
organisations and are very well connected 
throughout the city. We have a pool of additional 
organisations who could fulfil the role of the 
withdrawing partner.

Project unable 
to meet 
expenditure 
targets

Serious Improbable Project expenditure against contracted targets 
will be discussed at Project Steering Group 
meetings. Delivery Partners’ contracts/Service 
Agreements will all clearly stipulate their 
expenditure schedules. If the risk materialised, 
the steering group would provide 
recommendations solutions including if and 
where to veer budgets. Partners have confirmed 
that they have necessary match funding in place, 
and the 90% rate means there is low risk of 
match funding not materialising. Payments to 
partners will be in arrears following receipt of 
expenditure and output returns and verification 
correct completion by Migration Team.

Project unable 
to achieve 
output targets, 
which may or 
may not be 
related to 

Serious Remote Project outputs against contracted targets will be 
discussed at Project Board meetings. Delivery 
Partners’ contracts/Service Agreements will all 
clearly stipulate their expenditure and output 
schedules. If the risks were to materialise, the 
steering group would provide recommendations 

Page 175



Issues with 
the 
performance 
of project 
Delivery 
Partners.

on potential solutions. All Delivery Partners will 
also be required to report on their performance in 
respect of outputs, a core responsibility of the 
Project Management Team. We will have a 
clawback provision in the partnership agreement 
to minimise financial risk for the Council. 

Project 
records 
irregularities 
for ineligible 
expenditure or 
outputs not 
evidenced 
adequately.

Serious Remote The project management team will visit all 
Delivery Partners prior to the submission of the 
first claim to ensure that their supporting 
evidence for expenditure and outputs claimed 
meets AMIF requirements.  This will be done in 
line with government advice to adhere to strict 
social distancing and protective face covering 
until the guidance changes. Throughout the 
delivery of the project, the project management 
team will deliver “Monitoring Visits” (Covid-19 
permitted) to Delivery Partners whereby 
supporting evidence of expenditure and outputs 
claimed will be checked.

Key delivery 
or project 
management 
staff leave 
their posts.

Serious Possible For project management staff, the AMIF 
Authorities have a large team of staff with 
experience of managing and delivering EU 
funded projects and a replacement will be 
appointed. For any delivery staff leaving post, 
they will be replaced through the vacancy being 
publicly advertised.

Clawback of 
grant by grant 
awarding body

Serious Unlikely The Migration Team is very experienced in 
project management both for internal projects 
and those run by partners. The measures put in 
place above will minimise any risk of grant 
clawback. In addition, grant clawback 
requirements will be passed on to the individual 
partners, reducing the risk to the Council. In the 
event that a partner is unable to repay grant 
clawed back for some other reason, the City 
Council will be responsible for grant repayment 
as the guarantor. However, the risk of this is low.

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

HR Implications
To ensure the successful delivery of this project and the Council’s ability to provide an 
adequate accountable body function, additional staff resources may be required.  Some 
staff are already in place for aspects of the City Council and other planned activities. Any 
new staff will be recruited on a temporary fixed-terms basis. 

6.4. Equalities / EIA 

Coventry becoming a Marmot City means the aims of the MyCoventy project is likely to 
have a positive impact on equalities in the City. Many of the elements of this programme 
are designed to assist and support some of the most economically disadvantaged 
communities in the City. Ethnic minorities and newly arrived will make up a significant 

Page 176



proportion of those taking part in the various elements of the programme with work 
focusing on skills development, employment and training support, and social connections 
to address local, social and economic inequalities that hinder integration. BAME and 
newly arrived communities are those who are likely to be impacted more significantly by 
COVID-19, therefore the extra resource and the aims of the project will help to address 
the imbalance.

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

MyCoventry includes work to improve the DIY skills of migrants and newly arrived 
communities and includes furniture “up-cycling” which will lead to less furniture and 
electrical equipment being disposed of and increased re-use and re-cycling, hence having 
a positive impact in the environment

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

The funding will have a positive implication for the voluntary sector/partners by bringing in 
additional resources, capacity and infrastructure into the city. The funding also aims at 
promoting community cohesion and enhancing the contribution residents are making 
towards and the economy and more importantly the social fabric of the city. 

Page 177



Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Peter Barnett
Head of Service - Libraries and Migration

Service:
Education and Skills

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 02476 831579
Email: peter.barnett@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/
approver name

Title
Service

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Pooja Ahluwalia Project Manager 

– Resettlement 
(Migration)

Education and 
Skills

25/08/20 25/08/20

Sunairah Miraj Programme 
Manager 
(Migration) 

Education and 
Skills

28/08/20 28/08/20

Dajana Vasilj Programme 
Officer 
(MiFriendly 
Cities)

Education and 
Skills

28/08/20 01/09/20

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer

Law and 
Governance

04/09/20 04/09/20

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(officers and members)
Kathryn Sutherland Lead 

Accountant - 
Business 
Partnering

Finance 28/08/20 02/09/20

Barry Hastie Director of 
Finance

- 02/09/20 03/09/20

Harminder Nagra Commercial 
Lawyer, legal 
Services

Law and 
Governance

28/08/20 01/09/20

Liz Gaulton Director of 
Public Health

- 02/09/20 03/09/20

Councillor AS Khan Cabinet Member 
for Policing and 
Equalities

- 07/09/20 07/09/20

Councillor D Welsh Cabinet Member 
for Housing and 
Communities

- 21/09/20 22/09/20

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 178

mailto:peter.barnett@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


 
Appendix 1:

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

                        

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) 23 September 2020
Cabinet 13 October 2020 

                                                                                                   
Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Adult Services – Councillor M Mutton

Director Approving Submission of the Report:
Director of Adult Services

Ward(s) affected: 
All

Title:
Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019/20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge 

Is this a key decision?

No - This is a report of performance for 2019/20 and no recommendations are made that have 
significant financial or service implications. 

Executive Summary:

The Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2019/20 (also referred to as 
Local Account) describes the performance of Adult Social Care and the progress made against the 
priorities for the year.  It also provides specific examples of the operational activities to support 
people with care and support needs and carers. 

Although there is not a statutory requirement to produce an annual report, it is considered good 
practice as it provides an opportunity to be open and transparent about the successes and 
challenges facing Adult Social Care and to show what is being done to improve outcomes for those 
that come into contact with our services. The production of an annual report is part of the Local 
Government Association’s (LGA) approach to Sector Led Improvement.  

A further part of the Local Government Association approach to Sector Led Improvement is the 
Peer Challenge process, and in early March 2020 Adult Social Care was subject to a Peer 
Challenge.  Peer Challenges provide an important opportunity for assessment of our work and an 
indication of areas we might focus on to improve going forward.

The findings of the Peer Challenge are included in the Annual Report which included a number of 
positives and also made a number of recommendations, many of which will form a key part of our 
improvement activity as we progress through 2020/21 and subsequent years.

Page 181

Agenda Item 8



                              

The production of the 2019/20 annual report and the reporting to Health and Social Care Scrutiny 
Board and Cabinet of the outcome of the Adult Social Care peer challenge was delayed due to 
the significant service efforts in responding to COVID-19.  

Recommendations:

1. Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) is asked to:

     (i) Consider the Adult Social Care Annual Report and the outcome of the Adult Social Care 
Peer Challenge and submit any comments to Cabinet for their consideration on these 
matters

2. Cabinet is asked to:

(i) Consider comments from the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5)

(ii) Approve the Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement for 
2019/20 (Local Account)

List of Appendices included:

Appendix One - Adult Social Care Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2019/20 (Local 
Account)

Appendix Two – Coventry Adult Social Care Peer Challenge March 2020 (letter)

Appendix Three – Coventry Peer Challenge Adult Social Care 3 to 5 March 2020 (presentation)

Background papers:
 
None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

Yes – Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) on 23 September 2020.

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 182



                              

Report title: Adult Social Care Annual Report and outcome of Peer Challenge 2019/20 

1. Context (or background)

1.1. The Local Government Association (LGA) launched its approach to Sector Led Improvement 
in 2011. This approach was introduced following the removal of national targets and 
assessments and with the aim of driving improvement through self-regulation, improvement 
and innovation. As part of this approach to Sector Led Improvement the expectation is that 
an Annual Report is produced by all local authorities with Adult Social Care responsibilities.  
The production of an Annual Report is not a statutory requirement, nor has any statutory 
guidance been issued on its content or style. 

1.2. A further part of the approach to Sector Led Improvement is the Peer Challenge process. 
Peer Challenges are an important part of the Sector Led Improvement approach, where at 
periodic intervals a Peer Challenge team, led by a Director of Adult Services from elsewhere 
within the West Midlands visits a local authority for a period of three days to undertake a peer 
challenge. The Peer Challenge process also includes a case file audit in which a team of 
three Principal Social Workers review 20 social work cases and social work practice.

1.3. This report covers matters relating to both the Adult Social Care annual report and the Peer 
Challenge which took place over 3 to 5 March 2020, towards the end of the period covered 
by the Annual Report.

1.4. Adult Social Annual Report

1.5. The Annual Report describes the performance and achievements along with considering the 
challenges for Adult Social Care in Coventry. It is intended to provide assurance to 
stakeholders that Adult Social Care is delivering its objectives and is achieving positive 
outcomes for people in Coventry within the resources available. 

1.6. The content of the Annual Report is informed by feedback on the experiences of people who 
come into contact with Adult Social Care, this feedback may be given in person, through 
groups or in response to surveys.   A number of more specific case studies and direct quotes 
have been used to demonstrate the impact that Adult Social Care has on individuals and 
their families. Those who have commented on previous reports have consistently stated that 
case studies are an important aspect of the report, as they help to demonstrate outcomes for 
individuals and the difference it has made to their lives.

1.7. Although an Annual Report is produced for a 12-month period it needs to be recognised that 
the work of Adult Social Care does not fit neatly within a twelve-month period and delivery of 
the Adult Social Care objective of promoting independence and providing personalised care 
and support is very much an ongoing endeavour.

1.8. The Local Account reflects on the work during the financial year (April 2019 to March 2020) 
which includes the start of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. The impact of Covid-19 has 
been significant to Adult Social Care with a real impact being experienced from the end of 
February 2020, however there was much positive work done in the months before this which 
needs to be recognised.  Although the challenges presented by Covid-19 are significant they 
are not the only challenges we face and some of the key challenges we are continuing to 
address include:  

Page 183



                              

 Increasing demand for services resulting from an ageing population. By 2029, the city 
should expect to have an additional 8,900 people aged over 65 and an additional 2,000 
people aged over 85. This group of people are more likely to live with multiple health 
conditions that require support

 Increasing numbers of adults with mental ill health accessing long term support
 Increasing costs of care due to external factors including National Living Wage, 

increases to employer pension contributions, the increased complexity of the care needs 
that people are experiencing

1.9. The production of the 2019/20 Annual Report has drawn on the pool of feedback and 
information gathered over the year from a range of sources including social care staff, 
Partnership Boards, Adult Social Care Stakeholder Group, providers, partner organisations 
and people that have been in contact with Adult Social Care, along with their families and 
carers. Particular feedback to note includes:

 The work of the Visual and Hearing Impairment team in providing training and advice to 
people with a significant visual impairment to promote their independence. Their work 
enabled Mark (page 21 of the Local Account) to adapt to the need to use a ‘long cane’ 
and maintain an active social life.

 Following discharge from hospital and a care service being put in place our Occupational 
Therapy service worked with Elizabeth (page 24 of the Local Account) to regain her 
independence.  She now does not need any care.

1.10. Adult Social Care Peer Challenge

1.11. Coventry hosted an Adults Social Care Peer Challenge from 3 to 5 March 2020. As well as 
the lead director the review team involved senior Adult Social Care Managers and an Elected 
Member from other West Midlands Local Authorities and local “experts by experience”.  The 
team spent the challenge period reviewing against our two Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE), 
which were;

 A number of changes have been made to how we support people at home in recent 
years.  We want the Peer Challenge team to consider what else could be done in order 
to reduce our levels of residential admissions and support people in their own 
communities?

 The work to develop our promoting independence approach is ongoing and this will 
always be the case.  Can the Peer Challenge team advise how we might improve further 
in this area and what opportunities for improvement exist through working closer with 
internal and external stakeholders?

1.12. The Peer Challenge identified many positives in respect of progress made in Adult Social 
Care in Coventry including:

 Adult social care has done an excellent job in managing resources and improving 
outcomes over the last few years with strong leadership from the directorate 
management team

 The Practice Review demonstrated the move to strengths-based practice:
o Huge amount of work undertaken and good progress made, since the Practice 

Review undertaken in October 2018

Page 184



                              

o Excellent documents/tools produced and implemented (Adult Social Care 
Practice Framework and Strengths-Based Practice Handbook)

o Practitioners and managers understand strengths-based practice
o Good examples of where strengths-based practice has been used well

 The re-shaping and improvement work of promoting independence is impressive and is 
delivering some tangible results - some areas would describe this as significant 
transformation

 Management and focus on the provision of formal services is very impressive given the 
pressures within the health and care system

 No immediate issues of concern that need urgent attention - it is not unusual for issues 
of concern to be flagged in the course of a peer challenge

1.13. The team also suggested that we should consider focussing on the following areas to enable 
adult social care in Coventry to continue to develop, but did note that the resources available 
to focus on improvement are limited within the service;

 To ensure a ‘One Coventry’ focus, involving communities, the voluntary sector and other 
providers in the plan for adult social care

 Improve the involvement and co-design with people and their families who use services
 Focus on the practice around patient/service user flow through the entire system to 

reduce the high usage of residential care and ensure personalised care
 To develop our commissioning approach with Public Health, creating more diverse 

support and shaping of the voluntary and community market
 To ensure our commissioning approach incorporates co-production and engagement 

with people and their families who access services
 To address the range of accommodation and support on offer to ensure residential care 

is only used when needed and improve provision for younger adults
 To have a clear strategy for digital technology integrated with the ‘One Coventry’ 

transformation priorities

1.14. Although since the peer challenge a lot of our normal improvement work has been put on 
hold due to Covid-19, the changing circumstances has enabled us to make progress in a 
number of these areas, for example:

 Use of technology:  Our use of technology to support our assessment activity has grown 
significantly.  Whereas the majority of our work was completed face to face doing things 
remotely has become the norm wherever possible.  This work is aligned with health 
partners as we jointly develop approaches working with service users through 
technology. As we progress achieving the right blend of technology and face to face 
contact, we will be required to ensure we continue to engage with people in a way that 
is effective.

 Shaping the voluntary and community market:  We have engaged with community-based 
organisations in different ways to support people affected by COVID-19.  This includes 
establishing new relationships and flexible approaches to support those impacted by 
shielding and other vulnerable groups.  This work provides us with a strong foundation 
to further develop community-based approaches and through this we have brought the 
work of Public Health and Social Care closer together to achieve greater impact.

 Joined up and timely support:  We have worked with health partners to rapidly speed up 
the hospital discharge process and established 7 day working.  The extent to which this 
work progresses and is mainstreamed is a matter for all partners to consider.

Page 185



                              

1.15. Improvement Priorities 

1.16. As we continue to improve the priority remains supporting people to live independently in 
their communities.  Our ability to deliver this requires a strength-based approach to how we 
deliver our work with people with care and support needs and their family carers, including a 
diverse and sustainable market for care and support within the City.  It is also important to 
recognise that although our focus is on Adult Social Care our success is increasingly 
intertwined with health services, and as we progress, how support is connected across health, 
adult social care and the community and voluntary sector to deliver positive outcomes will be 
an increasing focus.

1.17. Moving forward we propose to frame our improvement work in the following four areas, which 
reflect the peer challenge findings and we will continue to engage stakeholders in this work 
to help ensure we are focusing our efforts on the areas of highest impact.

 Our Promoting Independence Model
We remain clear that our service focus is promoting independence.  We now want to 
explore the possibility of where added impact can be achieved through combining our 
resources with those of partners in the City to support people to prevent deterioration 
and to actively support themselves as much as possible. This means looking first at what 
people can do with their skills, resources, relationships and their communities and 
understanding more from people as to what contributed to a positive experience so that 
this can be extended.

 Accommodation Offer
Our continued commitment to support people at home remains a priority.  However, 
when an alternative is required, we seek to ensure this offers the best opportunity for 
reablement and promoting independence.  We want to ensure the accommodation offer 
in the City is relevant to the lives of those who may require both accommodation and 
support.  We can achieve this by encouraging and supporting the development of 
facilities within the City offering provision for people to live as independently as possible.   
In doing so feedback from those who are or want their care and support needs met within 
the appropriate housing setting is critical.        

 Locally Based Support
We will continue to work with the local care provider market to help this important market 
remain stable and robust, with appropriate quality standards and costs. We do however 
also want to develop opportunities to connect the formal care market with local 
communities to strengthen our model of supporting people at home whilst including a 
focus on accessing support and resources available in the local area.  

 Digital Technology and Innovation 
In order to maintain and develop modern, person centred services, we will use 
technology enabled care opportunities and ensure our workforce is equipped with 
technology to work agilely and support people effectively.  We will focus on self-service 
wherever possible, giving people the opportunity to access adult social care on their 
terms, at a time and place of their choosing.  Recognising that digital services are not 
appropriate for all we want to develop our approach in a way that remains flexible enough 
for us to respond to people with care and support needs and their carers when they need 
us. Working in partnership with the One Coventry programme team we will ensure we 

Page 186



                              

address issues of Digital Inclusion to ensure our residents are able to access digital 
support and services.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1. An Annual Report provides the opportunity to evidence and communicate Adult Social Care's 
performance in an accessible and transparent way as part of an overall approach to Sector 
Led Improvement.  It is therefore recommended that the Annual Report for 2019/20 is 
approved by the Cabinet.

3. Results of Consultation undertaken

3.1. Although the Annual Report for 2019/20 was not subject to specific consultation, the content 
has been drawn from feedback gathered from people who come into contact with Adult Social 
Care together with comments from other partner organisations and stakeholders in the City.  
Two users by experience formed part of the peer challenge team which also engaged with 
our Stakeholder Groups.  Engagement regarding the four key improvement themes will be 
ongoing.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. Once approved, the Annual Report will be published on the Council's internet pages and 
shared with partners and stakeholders.  Improvement work has continued through 2019/20 
and the pace and focus of this continues to be impacted by Covid-19.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance

5.1. Financial implications
Whilst there are no direct financial implications arising from the production of the report, the 
performance of Adult Social Care continues to be impacted by changes to Council resources 
and national legislation changes.

The report highlights the £95m Adult Social Care Spend in 2019/20 compared to equivalent 
spend of £88.2m in 2018/19, with the increase in cost largely driven by National Living Wage 
increases and increases in complexity of packages of care. This increase has been 
resourced from additional Council investment in Adult Social Care identified in the Budget 
report as well as extra grant resources received from Government. 

5.2. Legal implications
There are no direct legal implications arising from the publication of the Annual Report.  

The publication of the report is in accordance with the 2011 Department of Health 
recommendation that all local authorities’ Adult Social Care directorates publish an Annual 
Report. This shows how the local authority performed against quality standards, and what 
plans have been agreed with local people for the future.     

6. Other Implications

6.1. How will this contribute to the Council's Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?

This Annual Report demonstrates the progress of Adult Social Care in maintaining and 
improving outcomes for the population of Coventry. This progress contributes to the Council's 

Page 187

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


                              

objectives of citizens living longer, healthier, independent lives and contributes to the 
priorities in the Council Plan to protect the city's most vulnerable people.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

A range of risks exist in the delivery of Adult Social Care services, most notably related to 
resources and our ability to meet demand.  These are managed through directorate and 
corporate risk registers.  

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

There is no direct impact on the organisation.  

6.4. Equality and Consultation Analysis (ECA) 

An Equalities Impact Assessment is not appropriate for this report. There has been a 
continued drive to embed equality and diversity within operational practice, commissioning 
plans and performance monitoring.

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

None

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

There are no specific impacts for partner organisations arising from this report at this point 
but as the work of Adult Social Care is connected to health organisations and the voluntary 
and community sector as we seek to improve impacts may be experienced. The Annual 
Report provides an overview of Adult Social Care's performance and provides assurance to 
partners that progress in being made.  

Page 188



                              

Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Andrew Errington
Adults Principal Social Worker

Service:
Adult Services 

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7683 1542
Email: andrew.errington@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Service Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Andrew Errington Adults Principal Social 

Worker
Adult Services 06.08.20 06.08.20

Pete Fahy Director of Adult 
Services

- 06.08.20 06.08.20

Lisa Lawson Adult Services 
Programme Delivery 
Manager 

Adult Services 07.08.20 19.08.20

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 
Officer 

Law and 
Governance

07.08.20 10.08.20

Ian Bowering Head of Social Work 
(Prevention and Health)

Adult Services 07.08.20 03/09/20

Sally Caren Head of Social Work- 
Mental Health and 
Sustainability

Adult Services 07.08.20 17.08.20

Marc Greenwood Head of Business 
Systems

Adult Services 07.08.20 18.08.20

Jon Reading Head of Commissioning 
and Provision

Adult Services 07.08.20 19.08.20

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(Officers and Members)
Barry Hastie Director of Finance - 07.08.20 18.08.20
Janice White Team Leader, Legal 

Services
Law and 
Governance

07.08.20 24.08.20

Gail Quinton Deputy Chief Executive - 25.08.20 25.08.20
Councillor M Mutton Cabinet Member for 

Adult Services
- 09.09.20 10.09.20

This report is published on the Council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 189

mailto:andrew.errington@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



People’s Stories

Our Key  
Achievements

24 Hours in the Life of 
Adult Social Care

COVENTRY

Adult Social Care
Annual Report and Key Areas of Improvement 2019/20 (Local Account) 

Page 191



Contents
What is the Local Account?  ..........................  2

COVID-19 & Adult Social Care  ......................  3

Foreword  ......................................................  4

Introduction to Adult Social Care  ................  7

Adult Social Care Vision  ...............................  8

24 Hours in the Life of Adult Social Care  .....  9

Setting the Scene - Adult Social Care in a 
Changing Landscape  ..................................  10

Key Achievements – Based on the Adult Social 
Care Vision and our Priorities for 2019/20   14

Adults and carers at the heart of  
everything we do  .............................................  14
High quality, person-centred and  
effective support  ..............................................  16
Reflective and responsive to change  .............  18
Outcome-driven and meaningful  ...................  21
Support around people and their families  ....  22
Effective enablement, prevention  
and wellbeing  ...................................................  24
Mature partnerships  ........................................  26
Committed workforce  .....................................  28
Innovative  ..........................................................  30
High performing  ...............................................  32

Adult Social Care's Unsung Heroes  ............  35

Performance Matters  .................................  37

Celebrating Our Own Strengths –  
Awards and Good News  .............................  39

Adult Social Care Peer Challenge -  
3 to 5 March 2020  ......................................  43

What’s Next? Proposed Key Improvement 
Themes for Adult Social Care  .....................  45

Glossary  ......................................................  47

Useful Contacts  ..........................................  48

1

What is  
the Local  
Account?
Every year, Coventry City Council 
produces a report which describes 
what the Adult Social Care service 
is doing to help improve the lives 
of vulnerable people and how well 
as a service it is performing, along 
with areas where we seeking to 
improve further. This report is 
usually referred to as the ‘Local 
Account’ but is also referred to  
as the ‘Annual Report’ for  
Adult Social Care. 

We hope you find this account 
interesting and that it provides 
you with an insight into Adult 
Social Care in Coventry and the 
work that is being done to  
support improvements.

2

Page 192



2

COVID-19 and Adult Social Care
We could not write a Local Account 
reflecting back on 2019/20 without 
mentioning the impact coronavirus 
(COVID-19) has had on the work of Adult 
Social Care. Although this Local Account 
reflects on the work during the financial 
year (April 2019-March 2020) of which 
COVID-19 only started to impact in the 
latter part of the year it has, nevertheless, 
dominated our work since February 2020. 
Although coronavirus has had a massive 
impact and will feature in this Local 
Account, we also want to recognise the 
incredibly valued work that took place prior 
to the pandemic, which started to impact 
towards the end of 2019/20. Although the 
pandemic has impacted significantly on 
Adult Social Care it has not changed the 
essence of what we do, which continues 
to be supporting people to live as 
independently as possible within  
their communities.

3

Page 193



Pete Fahy  
Director of Adult Services 

The production of this Annual Report remains an 
important part of the annual cycle of Adult Social 
Care. It provides an opportunity for reflection 
on the progress we have made and challenges 
we face in delivering Adult Social Care within 
the city. Although the impact of COVID-19 and 
the additional demands it has placed on Adult 
Social Care has led to this Local Account being 
produced later than I would have wanted, I did 
not want to let the year pass without delivering 
on this important element of our calendar. 
The Annual Report covers the period from 1 April 
2019 to 31 March 2020. Although the impact of 
COVID-19 was only towards the end of the period 
covered by the report, due to its scale and impact 
there is inevitably significant reference to the 
pandemic within the content of this report.
It was also really important for me and the team to 
not make this Annual Report all about COVID-19. 
To do so would lose the opportunity to reflect 
on the huge amount of work done and progress 
made to improve the lives of those who come into 
contact with Adult Social Care and it is important 
to tell these stories too. Although this report 
only highlights a small number of examples it 
does hopefully help bring to life the essential 
contribution of Adult Social Care to the people 

it supports. We never expect these examples to 
reach the headlines, but it is important that they 
are not lost.
In March 2020 we were also subject to an Adult 
Social Care Peer Challenge. This is again a 
significant event in our improvement journey, 
occurring approximately once every three years; 
the findings of which will inform how we move 
forward in what continues to be an uncertain and 
challenging time. Regardless of what the future has 
in store we remain committed to our core purpose 
of supporting people to live as independently as 
possible within their communities. 
I hope you find this Annual Report informative and 
as always myself and my team are happy for  
any feedback.

4

Page 194



Councillor Mal Mutton 
Cabinet Member for Adult Services 

This year’s Annual Report was produced during 
unprecedented times for both the nation and 
Adult Social Care here in Coventry. I hope you 
find the report effectively reflects both the 
ongoing day to day activity of the service as well 
as the truly inspirational impact the team working 
in Adult Social Care has had during the most 
recent months.
In the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, the most 
significant and tragic health crisis in living memory, 
I am immensely proud that Council colleagues, 
care providers, and their care staff have not only 
risen to the challenge but have truly gone above 
and beyond in the interests of the people they 
work to support.
It is not unusual for people who work in social care 
to see their roles as more of a vocation than a job, 
and often when asked why they go to work, the 
resounding answer is ‘to make a difference’. I can 
say without a doubt that this year, more than ever, 
a difference has been made.  

 
 

This report contains stories demonstrating this, 
along with key information on our performance 
and resources.
Whilst there are, in fact, far too many examples 
of incredible work happening across social care 
for me to list here, I want to take the opportunity 
here to record my heartfelt thanks for the hard 
work, perseverance, compassion, humanity 
and dedication that means so much to so many 
residents of Coventry, I along with many, am  
truly grateful.
Please do get in touch if you would like to offer 
any feedback on the Annual Report by emailing 
getinvolvedasc@coventry.gov.uk

5

Page 195

mailto:getinvolvedasc%40coventry.gov.uk?subject=


Karen McKay  
Adult Social Care  
Stakeholder Group  

It is essential to include service users and their 
carers in the decisions made about social care 
services, that is why I became involved in the 
Adult Social Care Stakeholder Group. I care for 
my adult son. Its membership includes people 
and representatives from different user groups, 
and they bring a wealth of experience and 
hands-on understanding of how care impacts on 
people’s lives, which is what I enjoy most about 
being part of it. 
A stakeholder group is only one way to include 
people and trying to push for ways for genuine 
inclusion is an ongoing theme in the group.  
The recent Peer Challenge highlighted this as an 
area for improvement, as true inclusion means 
starting with the people who use a service or have 
a need from the outset, not just in a meeting or at 
the end! Being part of the Peer Challenge, which 
was tasked to look at promoting independence 
and reducing residential admissions, was a 
rare opportunity for myself and another group 
member, to be more involved and to meet with 
staff across all levels and hear their views too.

The input to this review from the stakeholder 
group was a rich and lively discussion too.  
A number of ‘challenges’ were put by the Peer 
Challenge for improved commissioning and 
building on the strengths in the community to 
create more flexible services, enabling more 
people to live in their own homes with support. 
People, especially now, appreciate what social 
care does, as well as seeing the gaps being even 
more exposed. As service users and carers, we 
can add our voices to the calls for the reform and 
investment needed and for care to be seen as the 
skilled and dedicated career that it really is when 
done right.

The work of Adult Social Care continues to be supported by our Stakeholder Group, 
which meet regularly to discuss any updates and influence the improvements of the 
service. The group is made up of Coventry residents who are experienced in how 
services work. To find out more about Getting Involved you can access the link here

6

Page 196

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/194/health_and_social_care_-_having_your_say_and_getting_involved/3203/getting_involved_in_adult_social_care/1


Introduction to  
Adult Social Care
The delivery of Adult Social Care is the responsibility of the local authority, which interacts with a 
range of other local authority functions to support people in our communities, including Housing, 
Public Health, Children’s Services or Culture and Leisure to name but a few. Our work is also closely 
connected to health organisations and the voluntary and third sector, who work with many of the 
same people who come into contact with Adult Social Care. Therefore, although Adult Social Care has 
a distinct identity so much of what we do is achieved through working with others. 

We do not have a complex strategy for Adult Social 
Care – all our work is tested against our objective 
of ‘Providing support, in the least intrusive manner 
possible, based on the assets, resources and 
abilities that are available to people’. Progressing 
this overarching objective is delivered day in, day 
out through the many interactions between our 
staff and people with care and support needs 
and through a series of improvement projects 
overseen by the Director of Adult Services aimed 
at constantly improving what we do.
During the last year we have made significant 
progress in delivering improvements. We have 
launched our strength-based practice framework 
and we have continued to grow our  

‘Promoting Independence’ approaches, 
including developing our Adults' Initial Contact 
Service to include greater input from  
Occupational Therapists.
In early March 2020 we were subject to a Peer 
Challenge which is a key part of the sector-led 
improvement approach in Adult Social Care. Peer 
Challenges provide an important opportunity for 
assessment of our work and an indication of areas 
we might focus on to improve going forward. 
The findings of the Peer Challenge contained a 
number of positives and also made a number of 
recommendations, many of which will form a key 
part of our improvement activity as we progress 
through 2020/21 and subsequent years.

7

Page 197



4

Adult Social Care supports people aged 18 and over who have care and support needs as a result of 
a disability or an illness. Support is also provided to carers who spend time providing necessary care 
to someone else. We continue to work in accordance with our primary legislation, the Care Act (2014) 
and the required changes to practice and policy set out by the Act. 

The delivery of Adult Social Care in Coventry, 
as embodied in our vision, is that we focus 
on approaches that promote wellbeing and 
independence to prevent, reduce or delay the 
need for long term support and to enable people 
to achieve their outcomes. In performance terms 
this means that we would expect to see a relatively 

smaller number of people in receipt of ongoing 
social care, and where ongoing social care is 
required, that this is mainly provided in people’s 
own homes. We would also expect that the short 
term services we have in place to enable people to 
be independent are successful in reducingdemand 
for ongoing Adult Social Care.

Adult Social Care  
Vision

8

Page 198



5

Night

M
orn

ingEv
en

in
g

Afternoon

Adult Social Care works 24/7 
With spending of £95million,  

our Adult Social Care works with  
many organisations, providing  

advice and support to  
our residents.

Assistive 
Technology 

– We 
provide a 

wide range of 
assistive technology 
to help people be 
as independent as 
possible both day  
and night. 
 Self-Online 
Assessment – Our 
online assessment can 
be completed at any 
time of the day and 

suits people who 
might have 

busy lives. 

Jenner8 – Our Jenner8 project supports  
adults with learning disabilities to access 

the community. 
 Shared Lives – Our Shared Lives  

Service supports people 24/7  
by providing support in a  

family setting.

Emergency Duty Team – 
From 5pm onwards our 

emergency duty team helps 
people who might require urgent 

support during the evening and night. 
Mobile Night Carers – From 10pm onwards the  

Mobile Night Carers service supports people who  
need help and assistance during the night.

Adult Social 
Care Direct –  

Our Adult Social 
Care contact team is 
available from 9am.  

It provides information 
and advice and are the 

first point of contact. 
 Home Visit –  

Our home support 
providers help people 

to maintain their 
independence 

 in their own  
homes. 

Hours in the Life of 
Adult Social Care

9

Page 199



BUDGET-MONEY MATTERS

BUDGET-MONEY MATTERS

2019/20 ADULT SOCIAL CARE SPEND (£95m)

2019/20 SPEND ON PEOPLE (£70.4m)

£88.2m

£64.4m 

in 2018/19

in 2018/19

This compares to a spend of 

The ‘Spend on People’ referred to in 
the above chart has increased from

‘Spend on People’ is money spent  
directly on the following services

The increase was largely due to an 
increase in care costs, some of which 
was linked to increases brought 
about by the National Living Wage

The demand for Adult Social Care rises every year as people live longer and there are more people 
living longer with more complex needs. 
The illustrations on this page give you an indication of the challenges we face:
Budget – Money Matters
Activity – Facts & Figures
Demographic – The people who come to us for support 
Our Workforce - The people who provide support where required 
The Council is a large organisation, spending a net £231.4m on revenue activity during 2019/20. 
The gross Adult Social Care spend in 2019/20, minus citizens' contributions, was £95m as shown below.

£0.9m
spent on transport

£0.3m
spent on other

£17.1m
spent on community, 
assesment and overheads £70.4m

spent on people

£6.3m
spent on Central Recharge

£2.7m
spent on supported living

£2.9m
spent on day opportunities

£7.1m
spent on direct payments

£1.2m
spent on  
equiptment  
and adaptions

£21.7m
spent on homecare

£6.5m
spent on housing with care

£0.4m
spent on  
individual service funds

£6.4m
spent on nursing care

£21.5m
spent on  
residential care

 Setting the Scene - Adult Social Care  
in a Changing Landscape

10

BUDGET-MONEY MATTERS

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

The Local Government Association publishes information about spend 
later on in the year but you can view information for 2019/20 here 

In recent years we know that Coventry 
demonstrates comparatively low spending 
as a local authority per

100,000 populationPage 200

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=1029&mod-area=E08000026&mod-group=ADASSRegions&mod-type=comparisonGroupType


Adult Social Care receives a large 
volume of requests for support on 
a day-to-day basis. Our aim is to 
maximise people’s independence and 
support people in the least intrusive way

10,534 
new requests for support 
(a small increase on last 
year’s figures of 10,367)

44
people transitioned 

from Children’s 
Services to Adult 

Social Care 

Compared with

45
last year

CQC Local Area Analysis data suggests in Coventry, 
compared to other local authorities that have similar 
populations, that we think of other solutions first, 
signposting to universal services and other community 
support rather than looking at traditional models of 
support. To explore the Local Area Analysis in more 
detail you can view it here

Adult Social Care has an equal 
responsibility for anyone providing 
unpaid care within the city

Anyone providing necessary care to another 
adult is entitled to a carer’s assessment

CARERS RECEIVING AN ASSESSMENT

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

655
carers had their needs 
assessed of which 232 
received a separate 
assessment

796 
carers received support

ACTIVITY 
FACTS AND FIGURES 

7%
of requests resulted 
in a long-term  
service (increase on 
last year’s 4%)

21% received a short-term 
service to promote 
independence
(increase on last year’s 16%) 

received low level support
25%
(increase on last year’s 23%)

4,453 
people received long term 
support during the year 
(an increase of 2.7% on 
last year’s 4,331).
Of these, 1,527 people received a planned 
or unplanned review throughout the year

11

Page 201

https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themes-care/local-authority-area-data-profiles#profiles-c


Protecting adults to 
live in safety, free from 
abuse and neglect is a 
core duty of Adult Social 
Care. The rising rate of 
safeguarding concerns 
reported suggests 
people know how to 
report abuse and we are 
addressing concerns 
without the need for an 
enquiry or investigation

4,414 563 

The conversion rate from 
concerns to enquiries was 
Last year it was 15.5%

532 452 

95% 12%.

concerns received, a 5% 
increase on the previous year

enquiries, a 19% decrease on 
the previous year

people were asked about their 
outcomes, a 10% decrease on 
the 516 asked last year

reported fully achieved/
partially achieved outcomes. 
Last year it was 90%

completed safeguarding 
enquiries were undertaken in the 
year. 575 in the previous year 

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are part of the Mental 
Capacity Act 2005. The safeguards aim to make sure that people 
in care homes and hospitals are looked after in a way that does not 
inappropriately restrict their freedom

2,315 2,250

There has been a 3% (65) 
reduction in the number of 
applications from 

in 2019/20in 2018/19

Liberty Protection Safeguards will replace DoLS in April 2022

254 (11%) 
270 (12%) 

are in due 
process 
compared to

in 2018/19

1,996
In 2019/20 
there were

completed 
applications 
which is 
a 2.5% 
decrease 
on 2018/19's

2,045 

There was a 
decrease in 
applications 
granted after
6 MONTHS
of being 
received from
36 (3%)

22 (2%)
in 2018/19 to

in 2019/20

SAFEGUARDING

Coventry has a higher rate of concerns per 100,000 population in 2019/20 (1534) compared to 2018/19 for England 
(943) and West Midlands (958) but thorough initial enquiries address these sooner without the need for a full 
enquiry. 2019/20 comparator data is due to be published in November 2020 on the NHS Digital Adult Social Care 
Analytical Hub

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY SAFEGUARDS (DoLS)

Comparator information will be 
published at the end of 2020, 
however, we know last year, we saw 
a higher proportion of applications 
compared to other regions that 
Coventry shares similarities with. 
Similarly, we completed a higher 
proportion of assessments than 
our comparators. Nationally, local 
authorities completed on average 419 
DoLS applications per 100,000 of the 
population and in Coventry this figure 
was 873 applications per 100,000

HOW DO WE COMPARE?

12

Page 202

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNTZlMDRmYTYtM2JhNi00OGJlLWE3YjgtYWQ2MDQwNDUzZWUwIiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNTZlMDRmYTYtM2JhNi00OGJlLWE3YjgtYWQ2MDQwNDUzZWUwIiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9


National data suggests that between 2012-14 and 2015-17, life expectancy 
between the richer and poorer further increased. In particular, there was 
a decrease in life expectancy for females in poorer areas - resulting in a 
widening of inequality in the life expectancy gap among females  
(7.4 years). Although, the gap for males (9.4 years) remains larger

Early mortality 
(<75 years)

Worse than national

Cardiovascular 
Cancer 
Liver disease 
Respiratory diseases 
Communicable diseases

X 
X 
X 
X 
X

 
X 
X 
 

X 
X

Life expectancy in Coventry 
remains consistently below 
England, but healthy life 
expectancy is similar  
to England

Health outcomes are 
worse in the most deprived 
areas, where people not 
only live shorter lives, but 
spend a bigger portion of 
their years in poor health, 
and are more likely to die 
of preventable causes

851 
internal staff

are black and
17%
minority ethnicity

72%
are white 
ethnicity

7%

11%

7%
vacancy rate 
compared to

8%
nationally

371,521  
RESIDENTS
(mid-2019 estimate)

Highest growth in the 
population is amongst  

THE YOUNG WORKING 
AGED ADULT POPULATION

DEMOGRAPHIC

Coventry is home to 

POPULATION GROWTH 
IS STILL AMONGST THE 

TOP 10% OF LOCAL 
AUTHORITY AREAS

but has stabilised 
(growing by 1.27%) 

13.5%  OF THE 
POPULATION AGED 65+

but this is expected to grow and 
accelerate in the next 10-15 years

Coventry’s 
population 
is growing, 

changing and 
increasingly 

diverse

OUR  
WORKFORCE

9

48.7 53%

(63 people)

(93 people)

13

Page 203



Adults and carers at the 
heart of everything we do

10

The previous section contained a volume of data and comparisons across a number of areas of 
performance. To summarise this as succinctly as possible would be to say that Coventry continues to 
support a relatively low number of people with ongoing care and support needs and as a result is a 
comparatively low spender on Adult Social Care. 

This position has largely been arrived at by our 
approach to Adult Social Care and support 
which is based on supporting people to be as 
independent as possible. Where independence 
has been lost or reduced, we work with people 
to regain skills and where levels of independence 
have been limited, we work with people to 
improve this. The goal we aim at is for people to 

be living independently within their own homes. 
This is not always achievable and in many cases 
living independently is only possible with support. 
The examples below give a flavour of how we have 
delivered this approach alongside how we have 
responded during the COVID-19 pandemic. We 
have used real examples given with the consent of 
those involved.

The Adult Disability Service, what does it do? 
Adult Social Care has an Adult Disability Service which provides professional advice, assessment and 
support to adults with a disability. The main purpose of the service is to support individuals to live 
their best lives by promoting their independence. The service is made up of a number of parts: 

• Assessment, support planning and provision of 
services to maintain people’s independence

• A Promoting Independence Team for 
individuals with a learning disability. This is 
a bespoke period of short-term enablement 
support for up to 12 weeks

• Preparing for adulthood, supporting timely 
assessments and preparing young people to 
move from Children's Services to  
Adult Services

• A Travel Training Team which supports young 
people to travel independently and to maintain 
safety awareness. This has huge benefits to the 
person, supporting the person to access the 
community independently

• Joint working with health colleagues to 
support individuals with a learning disability to 
move from a long-term hospital placement to 
various community settings

Key Achievements  
Based on the Adult Social 
Care Vision and our 
Priorities for 2019/2020

14

Page 204



Achievements, what’s good? 
This service has continued to learn, develop and improve. 
Some of the more recent service developments have been: 

• Preparing for Adulthood - A new approach to ensuring 
closer joint working with Children’s Services and Special 
Educational Needs Services to support an effective 
transition from childhood to adulthood for those people 
requiring ongoing support

• The creation and implementation of a new electronic 
‘Tracker’ system which helps forward planning for young 
people’s needs as they enter adulthood

• A reduction in waiting times from referral to the start of 
an assessment

• A new Initial Contact Service working closely with 
the Adult Disability Service, leading to an improved 
response and ultimately greater independence 
and better outcomes for individuals who may have 
historically accessed long term traditional care packages

What does this look like in practice? 
An example of the complex and diverse nature of the teams’ work with people is that of AB. AB, 
who has asked to remain anonymous, is a 24-year-old man with Asperger's Syndrome who has an 
Acquired Brain Injury following a drug overdose. The injury affected his ability to walk safely and to 
remember and process information. The teams became involved when AB was being discharged from 
a rehabilitation hospital. 

An assessment and multi-disciplinary meeting was 
held to discuss discharge with AB, his friend and 
next of kin, health and social care professionals. 
AB was very clear that he wanted to live as 
independently as possible in the community. 
However, due to his injury and being in a hospital 
environment for nearly 2 months, he had lost some 
skills, but he was determined to regain these. The 
hospital was working with him to develop and 
promote his independence. AB said that he liked 
to walk everywhere before his hospital admission, 
so this was a key goal for him. He also wanted this 
event in his life to be a turning point for a healthier 
lifestyle away from substance misuse. 
In order to support AB to achieve what he wanted 
we organised for him to spend some initial time 
living in a Housing with Care Scheme, close to 
his friend. This environment supported him to 
gain confidence through the use of assistive 
technology, so that he could spend time alone 
in the flat for longer periods of time. Also, as the 
scheme was near his family and in a familiar area, 

he was able to begin accessing the community 
alone, starting with short journeys. 
Upon review of the placement it was established 
that AB was able to live independently in a 
supported living scheme and a plan was designed 
to continue to promote his independence. AB said, 

"I was surprised at how  
quickly things were put into 
place for me and I am really 
happy with the way things  
have worked out." 

Sejal Lakhani, Social Worker from the Adult 
Disability Team said "Working with AB was 
really rewarding. I was able to recognise the 
determination he had to change his life and it  
gave me the opportunity to help him use this to 
take control of his own life."

15

Page 205



How has it helped? 
In a survey undertaken by the CRESS Team, 

• "I do not know what I would have done without 
CRESS stepping in"

• "Service was excellent, carers went above and 
beyond"

• "Gave us reassurance that mum has someone 
to see and talk to"

CRESS (Carers Response 
Emergency Support Service) 
Enhanced Service 
Since June 2019, we have worked with Carers Trust 
Heart of England to offer a ‘Significant Events’ 
service supporting carers to attend important events. 

The service has enabled many carers to attend 
weddings, funerals, graduations and medical 
appointments. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
service changed the provision it offered to support 
carers in different ways, allowing carers to take some 
time for themselves knowing that their loved one is 
being looked after.

of carers stated without 
the service of Carers 
Trust Heart of England, 
their cared-for would 
have been on their 
own and isolated

44%

would have tried 
to find alternative 
arrangements, including 
emergency care or a 
referral to Adult Social 
Care for support

33%

would have been 
admitted into hospital22%

High quality, person-centred 
and effective support

16

Page 206



14

William and Joyce’s  
Story

William is the main 
carer for his wife who 
has dementia. Due to 
shielding in separate 
properties during the 
COVID-19 pandemic, 
their daughter was 
unable to support  
her parents. 

During this time William began to have 
breathing difficulties and paramedics 
were called. The paramedics wanted 
to take William to hospital for checks, 
however, William was concerned as 
he was unable to leave Joyce alone as 
their daughter was shielding.

William and Joyce’s daughter contacted 
the CRESS service for support. 
Emergency support was put in place 
and a CRESS Advisor provided the 
care and support Joyce needed. This 
allowed William to be taken to hospital 
where he discovered he required a 
pacemaker to be fitted and would 
require a short stay in hospital. The 
service was implemented for 72 hours 
and this allowed Joyce to remain at 
home in an environment she was used 
to, avoiding any unnecessary distress.  
During this time William and Joyce’s 
daughter was able to maintain contact 
via the telephone and be reassured 
Joyce was being cared for and her 
needs and requirements were  
being met. 

William and Joyce’s daughter reported how relieved 
she was knowing her mum was at home being cared 
for and her dad was able to be treated in hospital 
without worry of who was caring for his wife. 

With further ongoing support 
William and Joyce’s daughter has 
stated she is no longer worrying 
about her mum and dad as she 
is reassured that their meals 
are being prepared and mum 
is comforted whilst her dad 
concentrates on his recovery.

17

Page 207



During the COVID-19 pandemic, 
Adult Social Care continued to 
support people, at times without 
the need for face-to-face contact. 
This was essential to balance the need to protect and 
support whilst avoiding causing harm by the spread 
of infection. However, all our direct contact was risk-
assessed and planned in advance, taking account of 
local and Public Health guidance regarding the use of 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE).

We saw our ways of working change significantly with 
working from home becoming the new norm and 
a massive increase in the use of Microsoft Teams to 
enable us to communicate and collaborate remotely, 
especially when lockdown measures were announced in 
March 2020.

Reflective and  
responsive to change

400

300

200

100

0
Feb 2

Feb 4
Feb 6

Feb 8

Feb 10

Feb 12

Feb 14

Feb 16

Feb 18

Feb 20

Feb 22

Feb 24

Feb 26

Feb 28
M

ar 
1

M
ar 

1
M

ar 
1

M
ar 

1
M

ar 
9

M
ar 

11

M
ar 

11

M
ar 

11

M
ar 

11

M
ar 

19

M
ar 

21

M
ar 

21

M
ar 

21

M
ar 

21

M
ar 

29

M
ar 

31
Apr 1

Apr 1
Apr 8

Apr 8

Apr 1
0

Apr 1
2

Apr 1
4

Apr 1
6

Apr 1
8

Apr 2
0

Apr 2
2

Apr 2
4

Apr 2
6

Apr 2
8

Apr 3
0

4,308
Channel messages

2,084
Reply messages

1,807
Post messages

830,149
Chat messages

8
Urgent messages

4,166
Meetings organised

24,250
Meetings participated

245,883
1:1 calls

4,379
Group calls

The graph below shows the increase in use of Microsoft Teams from 
the end of January 2020 until the end of April 2020

18

Page 208



An example of this is 
when we needed to 
provide support  
to Douglas

Douglas is an older man with 
Alzheimer’s who, due to a 
deterioration in his heath and 
increased stress for his wife who 
is his main carer, needed to access 
emergency respite, which then led to  
a need for a move into nursing care

The challenges for the 
social care professional

Caroline Hirons,  
Community Case Worker

The challenges 
for Douglas?

The 
challenges for 
the social care 
professional?

The challenges 
for the family?

Nobody is asking me 
directly what I want?

When did I last talk 
to Douglas?  
How do I undertake 
an assessment?

Visits to care homes 
not allowed during 
lockdown!

Clearly this presented challenges not 
just for us but the people we supported 
during this time and their families, carers 
and friends

19

Page 209



What did the social 
care professional do 
to support Douglas 
and his family?

Douglas was 
empowered to 
make decisions 
where possible, 
and his care needs 
were arranged in 
his best interests

Douglas' family felt 
supported by the 
Social Worker

Negotiated with the care home to visit 
Douglas wearing protective clothing

Reassessed Douglas' strengths, 
needs and mental capacity to 
make decisions on future care

Involved care staff, GP and family 
in the assessment via phone

Arranged a virtual multidisciplinary 
meeting with care staff and  
family to clarify Douglas' future  
care arrangements

Supported Douglas to move to a 
nursing home of the family's choice 
where he has now settled well

Negotiated that family could meet 
Douglas at a window of the care 
home at specific times, three times  
a week

During the pandemic we continued 
to find new ways of working and 
ensure we could stay in contact with 
people. One aspect of this included 
undertaking remote virtual reviews 
and meetings. We worked closely 
with all care homes, housing with care 
and supported living providers in the 
city to identify what ICT (Information 
and Communication Technologies) 
equipment they had such as laptops 
and the strength of Wi-Fi connections 
available to support video conference 
reviews. This has been a great way 
of continuing to undertake reviews 
where this worked for the person  
their family and the provider of  
their support.

20

Page 210



Mark’s Story

Adult Social Care 
employs four 
Rehabilitation Workers 
in the Visual and Hearing 
Impairment Team who 
provide training and 
advice to people with 
a significant visual 
impairment to promote 
their independence. 

The specialist training aims to enable 
people to regain skills or learn new 
ways of completing tasks, including 
getting out and about safely, 
making a cup of tea and using the 
telephone. Everyone is different and a 
rehabilitation plan is mutually agreed 
to meet the person’s goals.

Mark has Retinitis Pigmentosa, a 
progressive sight condition which 
causes tunnel vision and, in some cases 
total sight loss. Mark had previously 
been registered as Partially Sighted but 
had always retained his independence. 
Mark’s vision had started to deteriorate, 
and he was then registered as Blind/
Severely Sight Impaired. 
During the assessment for registration 
it was identified that Mark was starting 
to lose his confidence, in particular 
with outdoor mobility. He had a good 
network of friends and family but was 
starting to feel that he was having 
to depend on them and was also 
becoming more reluctant to go out at 
night as this was when his vision was at 
its lowest.

Outcome-driven and meaningful

What did we do?

We looked at  
maintaining his safety  
within his home. This  
included improving the  
light in the kitchen and  
putting a stair rail in to  
reduce the risk of accidents. 
Mark had previously been using a  
‘symbol cane’ (a short white cane used to be a 
‘symbol’ to others of visual impairment), but this was 
no longer providing the safety and guidance that  
he needed.
We started a program of mobility and ‘long cane’ 
(a long white cane used to detect obstacles on the 
path in front) training. This involved teaching cane 
skills and then also developing his orientation skills. 
We also worked on travelling on the bus so that 
Mark would have more freedom to travel without 
waiting for a lift.

How did it go? 

Mark was initially nervous and self-conscious about 
using the cane and learning to trust it. We started 
training in a park, so we were away from traffic and 
neighbours. Over time Mark’s confidence and skills 
grew. He was then able to access his local social 
club and gym and meet with friends. 

Mark said, 
"I had a good teacher and have learnt so 
much. I didn’t know the rotating cones on 
crossings even existed! I can now go to the 
gym by myself".

After some training sessions on the bus we had 
agreed to meet outside a shop in town. 
"As a worker it was great to see Mark’s 
confidence visibly grow. Watching Mark 
make his own way off the bus and through 
the town was a great feeling of achievement"  
Kelly Sowter, Rehabilitation Worker

21

Page 211



One Shared Lives Carer 
tells us her story. 

“Becoming a Shared Lives Carer felt 
like a natural progression for me, it was 
something I was always going to do, 
my mum has been a Shared Lives Carer 
for almost 20 years, my two Sisters and 
I have grown up with people sharing 
our family home supported by  
our mum.

One of my sisters and I are now 
approved Carers in our own right. I was 
(and still am) the youngest Carer to be 
approved in Coventry, something I am 
very proud of. The approval process 
was explained to me and I found the 
experience to be a true reflection of 
the information I had been given, the 
process took around six months and a 
detailed assessment was completed. I 
was required to attend several training 
courses which is required of all Shared 
Lives Carers, I also completed bespoke 
training that related to the specific 
needs of the people I now support and 
have supported in the past.
I currently support two individuals on a 
long-term basis, both individuals have 
very different needs. 

Support around people 
and their families 

I have an allocated Shared Lives Officer who 
supports and monitors my placements, we all 
meet regularly, it works well for myself and the 
people I support to have a consistent allocated 
worker who is known to us all, although in their 
absence I know I can call anyone at the scheme 
if I need to. I attend Carers' meetings where 
we can discuss relevant topics, be advised of 
any changes within the scheme, and we have 
guest speakers. This is our opportunity to share 
‘good news stories’ or equally our worries and 
concerns. The meetings are a good way to get 
to know other Carers too.

"I find my role as a Shared Lives 
Carer so rewarding, I have seen 
the people I support become 
happy confident individuals, 
they make choices about their 
lives (sometimes with the 
support of others), it feels good 
to offer others the opportunity 
to live a family life".

I have a great work and family balance, I have 
been able to have my children and be at home 
as they grow too, the interaction between my 
children and the people I support is great. It’s 
good for my children to grow and learn that 
sometimes people need support and that 
everyone is different, but we are all entitled to 
family life. One person I support, comes from a 
very loving family, I don’t replace that family, I 
see myself as an addition to it, people’s families 
are always welcome to visit my home.

Shared Lives – It’s a Family Affair 
Molly’s Story

22

Page 212



Molly is on the right in this picture, with her mum Linda in the middle and her 
sister Lucy on the left 

"The challenges are similar in a way to the rewards, it can be difficult promoting independence, 
making choices or expressing yourself can be difficult for some people, especially if they haven’t 
been encouraged to do this before. Building confidence and self-esteem can take time and 
patience, but it is so worth it. It can be hard work, like every family home, there are always things 
to juggle, but I wouldn’t change my role, I feel I have the best of both worlds. Becoming a Shared 
Lives Carer is a big commitment but there aren’t many roles in life where you can make such a big 
difference not only to the individual’s life but also to your own and that of your family and friends.”

Interested in becoming 
a Shared Lives Carer?  
Find out more here

COVENTRY
Shared
Lives

A room to spare
and a life to share

23

Page 213

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/78/care_and_support/188/shared_lives_scheme/5


What we did?

Elizabeth's main goal was to regain her 
independence, including going up and down the 
stairs and getting around her home. Her ultimate 
goal was not to need care at home and be fully 
independent. The first thing our Occupational 
Therapy Assistant (OTA) did was to refer Elizabeth 
for physiotherapy to support with managing the 
stairs. The physio advised that Elizabeth needed 
to build up her strength and stamina first, so was 
provided with a ‘modular step’ (a practice step) to 
practice stepping throughout the day.
After a couple of weeks of exercise to improve 
her strength and stamina, Elizabeth started to 
use the stairs with the physio and was continuing 
to make good progress. The stair practice was 
extended to support Elizabeth to take equipment 
downstairs such as a ‘perching stool’ (a seat which 
helps people who struggle to stand for long 
periods) and spending time downstairs during 
the day then going back upstairs with the support 
of carers at tea-time. After a couple of days of 
spending time downstairs during the day the OTA 
visited to complete a kitchen assessment and as no 
difficulties were identified the amount of support 
Elizabeth received was reduced.

Elizabeth’s  
return home

In Adult Social Care 
we provide a range 
of short-term support 
that is intended to be 
time limited, with the 
aim of maximising the 
independence of the 
person and reducing or 
removing their need for 
ongoing support. 

Elizabeth was discharged from 
hospital with short-term support 
consisting of four 30-minute calls daily 
from a home support provider. 

Elizabeth had previously been 
admitted into hospital with an inflamed 
gallbladder and had remained in 
hospital for two weeks. Before the 
hospital admission, Elizabeth was 
independent around her home but was 
beginning to struggle on her stairs.
Upon returning home Elizabeth was to 
live upstairs, as her bed was unable to 
be brought downstairs and she was no 
longer able to go up/down the  
stairs safely.

Effective enablement,  
prevention and wellbeing   

24

Page 214



The physio continued to work with 
Elizabeth to move from using a ‘rollator 
frame’ (a frame with wheels, handlebars 
and a built in seat) to a walking stick and 
after five weeks Elizabeth had decided 
the morning call was no longer required.  
Elizabeth started showering and dressing 
independently before the carers arrived 
and had made microwave meals and 
sandwiches throughout the week. On the 
advice of the physio the OTA undertook an 
assessment for Elizabeth to use a ‘rambler 
trolley’ (a trolley which can be used to carry 
household items around the home), this 
further promoted Elizabeth’s independence 
and support was further reduced as 
Elizabeth was able to prepare meals and 
drinks by herself.
Elizabeth no longer required the support 
of the physio as she was now walking with 
a stick and when our OTA undertook a final 
review, Elizabeth reported she was feeling 
good. The equipment which wasn’t being 
used was collected and all support was 
ended as Elizabeth was now independent 
again and had achieved her goal not to 
need care. 

Elizabeth said, 
"Everyone was lovely, I 
was very nervous about 
falling, but now I'm more 
content".
Caroline Dagg, Occupational Therapy 
Assistant said, 
"I enjoy supporting people 
who have been discharged 
from hospital, it is a diverse 
role, which includes a lot 
of thinking outside of the 
box and working alongside 
different external agencies 
and furthering my own 
knowledge. It’s great 
working with people, 
supporting them to meet 
their goals".

25

Page 215



Mature partnerships

What did we do? 
The team worked with older people's 
residential homes in Coventry such 
as Quinton Lodge, Knightlow Lodge, 
Copthorne Lodge, Harry Caplan 
House, Cottage Farm Lodge and  
Elsie Jones House to support them to 
reduce their residents'  
social isolation. 

Sometimes residents may have limited 
resources such as a low income and 
some residents have little or no family. 
Some residents have very few or limited 
opportunities to get out and this may 
cause people to become socially 
isolated which can have a negative 
impact on a person’s emotional health 
and sense of wellbeing.

Reducing social isolation  
in residential care 
Who are the Community Resilience Team?
The Community Resilience Team works with individuals, small 
or large voluntary organisations and communities to identify 
and build on already existing strengths and skills within 
neighbourhoods. The team offers a variety of support to the 
local community, from guidance and support of setting up 
a group, to how it can grow and become more sustainable, 
completing funding bids, recycling old Council resources such 
as laptops, co-ordinating volunteering and working with local 
developers who would like to offer support to the community. 

26

Page 216



How did it go?
Working with the residential homes' managers, the team supported the residents to 
actively formalise into groups, with a view of supporting them to access funding to 
help pay for activities. The team helped support the residents to write constitutions 
for each of their groups and residents nominated themselves to have an active role in 
managing their group with the support of the residential homes staff. 

Along the way the team experienced some barriers, some residents had mobility 
problems and were unable to get to a bank to open their community bank accounts 
(these are used for any funding received). Also, some residents did not have the identity 
documents that you need to set up these accounts, such as passports or driving licences.
However, the team did not let this get in their way and contacted several banks to see 
what could be done. Although some said they couldn’t support, we identified one bank 
who was prepared to help by visiting the homes and talk about how we could  
confirm identities.

Sharon Thomas, Community Resilience Lead Officer, said, 
"The staff and the residents were really welcoming and 
were very excited about the prospect of planning their 
own trips and activities at their homes."

Whilst the team were busy contacting banks that could support the residents, some of 
the residents at Harry Caplan House shared that they wanted more resources within the 
home to keep them entertained on a daily basis. As a result of this, an officer from the 
team did a shout out to Council staff who may have any unused board games in their 
homes that they would like to donate. This was a huge success and bags of games were 
delivered to the home, leaving residents delighted. 
This work is still ongoing for the team with funding applications in process for activities, 
which will include help and transport for those with limited mobility. This will give all 
the residents an opportunity to take part in trips and excursions that will have a positive 
benefit on their mental health and wellbeing, while also reducing their social isolation. 

27

Page 217



The framework identifies what underpins our work, 
how this informs interventions and how as an 
organisation we support front line practice.  
Our practice framework includes the practice tools, 
techniques and approaches to support practitioners 
in the practical application of strengths-
based approaches such as using ‘Motivational 
Interviewing’ techniques. 

Read our Practice Framework here
We also developed our assessment forms to be 
based more around good conversations and 
strengths and an opportunity for people to talk 
about what matters to them. We started to use these 
in July 2019 and they have been well received by 
our practitioners.

"Easier, simpler and better to 
navigate during conversations".

"The forms are well formed and 
easy to follow and are not too 
lengthy to complete".

Supporting practitioners to develop strengths-
based practice, however, requires more than new 
forms and skills training for activities or techniques. 
It requires being part of an organisation that values, 
promotes and enables strengths-based principles. 
We also recognise that this is a journey and 
changing the way we practice can take time and is 
the result of a combination of activities requiring the 
co-ordinated effort of a number of professionals.

Strengths-based 
approaches aim to put 
individuals, families and 
communities at the heart 
of care and wellbeing, 
and in doing so 
strengthen relationships 
between members of that 
community, builds social 
capital and recognise the 
assets that people can 
bring to the assessment 
process. Strength-
based approaches were 
so important in the 
context of COVID-19 
as communitites came 
together to support  
each other.

Strengths-based approaches 
recognise that individuals, families 
and communities are resourceful and 
if enabled can find the best solutions 
for themselves. Strengths-based 
approaches are seen as being the 
opposite to a ‘deficit’ approach. 

In June 2019 we published a ‘Strengths-
based’ Practice Framework to bring 
together our organisational approach.  

Committed workforce

Strengths-Based Practice –  
Our Story so Far

  Adult Social Care Practice Framework     1

ADULT SOCIAL CARE
PRACTICE FRAMEWORK
Adults and their Carers at the Heart of Practice

28

Page 218

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/30455/adult_social_care_practice_framework


What are our staff telling us?
As an employer to make strengths-based 
practice work we need to understand the 
practice conditions and working environment 
of the organisation’s social care workforce. An 
Adults' Services Organisational Health Check 
2019/20 was undertaken using an online survey 
in July and August 2019. The same survey (with 
very minor changes to answer responses) from 
2017/18 was used. 

You can read our survey here
The survey identified the following strengths 
which included positive results concerning 
team culture:

How do we know it's making a 
difference?
Finally, and most importantly in support of 
strengths-based approaches, we launched a 
new ‘real-time’ experience survey in October 
2019 to ensure we continue to seek feedback 
from our customers, clients and carers alike. 
This was developed to ensure we understand 
the experience of those who access our support 
and also to encourage more people to ‘get 
involved’ and help to improve Adult Social  
Care support.

To read more about how to get involved in 
Adult Social Care, click here

feel they have enough 
autonomy to practice 
creatively with people

95%

90%
get feedback/
updates from 
managers

96%
feel able to raise 
concerns about 
workloads

29

Page 219

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/192/adult_social_care_strategies_policies_and_plans/3460/adult_social_care_organisational_health_check
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/194/health_and_social_care_-_having_your_say_and_getting_involved/3203/getting_involved_in_adult_social_care


CV Life led the role of contacting all residents 
identified as being an ‘extremely vulnerable person’. 
Once contacted they gathered information about 
residents’ needs for emergency food parcels, 
medication collections and whether they required 
social contact calls. In total, over 24,000 calls were 
made to residents (with one CV Life volunteer Tina 
making over 6,700 calls) and 3,000 food parcels 
were supplied by CV Life.
During the pandemic Coventry’s library services had 
been suspended. Consequently, the Library Service 
Team volunteered to undertake the social contact 
calls for those residents under the Operation Shield 
programme. Around 7,000 social contact calls were 
made to those residents who had requested them. 
This created a lifeline for many who may have been 
experiencing isolation and loneliness during this 
difficult time.
A mum, Lesley, and daughter, Casey, who were 
supported with a weekly food delivery and regular 
phone call, thanked the Council and agencies 
involved in Operation Shield in Coventry. 

You can read the article here

Around 2.2 million 
‘extremely vulnerable 
people’, including 
children, across England 
were identified as 
being at most risk from 
COVID-19 mainly because 
of an underlying severe  
health condition. 

The Government produced guidance 
called ‘shielding’ and people were 
strongly advised to stay at home and 
avoid any face-to-face contact for a 
period of at least 12 weeks.

The Council’s response to these 
measures were a three-fold  
support offer:
• Food (delivery of food parcels 

directly to their doorsteps until 
national food parcels commenced)

• Medicines - collection and delivery
• Social contact for people unable to 

speak with friends or family
Within the city over 14,000 Coventry 
residents were identified as being at risk 
and requested to remain at home under 
the ‘Operation Shield’ programme. 

Coventry’s approach

The local authority worked with the 
sports and leisure charitable trust, CV 
Life to mobilise resources to deliver the 
Shield programme. 

Innovative9

Operation Shield

30

Page 220

https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/News/Pages/Thank-you-to-Operation-Shield.aspx


Wendy Jackson, Community Manager at CV Life, who helped to manage the team of volunteers, 
spoke of her pride in the team effort since the pandemic began.

She said,  
"Operation Shield was a seven-day-a-week operation and some 
of our volunteers were up at 6am and doing long shifts, day in, 
day out, to ensure those shielding had what they needed."
Wendy added,  
"We fostered a brilliant partnership with Asda in Whitley, 
whereby our delivery drivers collected groceries from the store 
early every day and delivered it to the Alan Higgs Centre where 
our team of packers prepared food packages from 8am."

This huge logistical task was made possible through the collective effort of many individuals 
working across the city. A massive thanks to CV Life from Adult Social Care for how they responded 
and worked tirelessly to contact everyone who needed shielding and to our Library Services staff 
for providing social contact to those shielding.

What next?

The experiences of the pandemic, and the way in which partners across the city were able to work 
together to respond, has been a beacon of hope during challenging times. The way services were 
able to pull together and use their collective skills and resources is a success story that will be built 
upon. The identification of vulnerable people in our communities, the joint response from partners 
and the benefits of working more closely with local communities is an approach that will be 
explored and developed further during 2020/21.

31

Page 221



Sheffie
ld

Brad
fo

rd

Kirk
lees

San
dwell

Cove
ntry

Dudley

Derb
y

M
edway

Roch
dale

Bolto
n

W
als

all

Oldham

Swindon

Pete
rb

oro
ugh

W
olve

rh
am

pto
n

Sto
ck

to
n-o

n-Te
es

180
160
140
120
100
80
60
40
20

0

27

High performing

Care Home Improvement 
Programmes
The Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) 
is the independent 
regulator of health and 
social care in England. 
The joint Health and 
Social Care Quality 
Team continues to 
work closely alongside 
CQC to ensure that we 
work collaboratively to 
make sure that health 
and social care services 
provide people with 
safe, effective and  
high-quality care.

During the past year we have 
seen ratings decline slightly, 
with some providers previously 
rated ‘Good’ now being rated 
‘Requires Improvement’. 
Coventry is in line with the 
National average CQC ratings 
and we are one of the top 
performers compared to our 
Local Authority comparators as 
indicated in the table below.

We continue to hold regular 
health and social care provider 
forums. The forums are a great 
opportunity to network, share 
best practice and learning. The 
forums, led by providers, are 
well attended and membership 
has grown significantly over the 
past 12 months.

Good
Requires 
Improvement

Outstanding

Inadequate

Good Requires 
Improvement

Outstanding Inadequate

20% (30)

76% (114)

3% (4)

1% (1)

March 2020 - CQC Rating for the 
Coventry Care Market

CQC Care Provider Ratings across 
Coventry's Comparator Group

32

Page 222



Care Home Improvement 
Programmes
My Home Life 

Since January 2018, Coventry 
City Council has been working in 
partnership with My Home Life, which 
is a UK-wide movement to improve 
the quality of life in care homes. The 
programme is specifically designed 
for care home managers to develop 
skills and best practice together. 
Eighteen managers were successful 
in securing a place and a formal 
evaluation of the program has been 
carried out, which demonstrated the 
support the providers received had 
a positive impact on quality of care. 
The managers continue to meet and 
support each other and have opened 
this support group to other managers.

Managers involved said, 
"I used to worry 
about inspections 
and the pressure to 
achieve ratings, now 
I keep in focus what 
is important, the 
residents and that they 
are safe and cared for"

"The programme 
has given me the 
opportunity to view 
my role through a 
different perspective"

The React to Red is a joint health and social 
care awareness and educational campaign and 
accreditation scheme that was launched in 2014 
across the care market in Coventry. 

The campaign is designed to increase education 
to help prevent avoidable pressure ulcers.  
A total of 31 providers have achieved 
accreditation throughout the campaign, 
with several providers achieving continued 
accreditation for five years. A further 16 providers 
are actively working towards accreditation.

React to Red

Staff

Residents

Having
caring

conversations

Focusing on
relationships

Developing best
practice together

Local
community

Wider 

health and 

social 

community

Being appreciative Relatives

33

Page 223



Red Bag Scheme

Nutrition and 
Hydration

React to Falls
Falls are one of the top three 
reasons for hospital admissions for 
people over 65 and can result in 
some severe injuries or disabilities. 
These can be frightening, affecting a 
person’s confidence in their mobility.

The React to Falls campaign was 
launched in January 2020. The 
campaign includes free training, 
tools and educational materials and 
local care providers will be able to 
gain accreditation. 
In December 2019 we also facilitated 
a falls awareness event. A range of 
agencies attended, including Care 
Homes, Home Support Agencies, 
University Hospital Coventry 
& Warwickshire, Coventry and 
Warwickshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Coventry and 
Warwickshire Partnership NHS Trust. 
It was a chance for agencies to share 
their knowledge and approaches.

The Red Bag scheme is a national initiative 
that helps care homes plan for hospital 
admission of their residents, ensuring all 
the necessary background information and 
anything of importance is kept in a bag which 
follows the person during their admission to 
hospital and through to their discharge. 

To date there are 33 providers fully accredited 
to the Red Bag and actively using the bags, 
a further 22 providers are working towards 
accreditation. We continue to work with 
University Hospital Coventry & Warwickshire 
to improve the use and understanding of the  
Red Bag. 

A Nutrition and Hydration quality improvement 
campaign pilot was launched to improve the 
identification of malnutrition and increase 

awareness of how eating and 
drinking well can support health, 
wellbeing and care outcomes. 

The pilot had a positive impact 
on the reduction of the incidence 
of urinary tract infections and, 
therefore, reduced the use of 
antibiotics and hospital admissions. 
Following a successful pilot, 
the ‘Think! Food and Drink!’ 
accreditation scheme has now 
been established. For care homes 
to achieve the ‘Think! Food and 
Drink!’ accreditation homes are 
expected to achieve certain 
criteria and standards which will 
be required to continue in order 
to retain their accreditation. For 
example the number of staff who 
have completed nutrition and  
hydration training.

34

Page 224



These are just some examples  
of how individuals and teams in  
Adult Social Care have gone the 
extra mile to provide care and 
support during COVID-19

All Age Disability Team
Pulled out all the stops to maintain the service, 
operated differently and adapted to change, 
maintaining their commitment and enthusiasm.

Adult Commissioning Team 
Working relentlessly showing dedication and humanity 
to ensure support is available to so many older citizens 
and younger adults with disabilities.

Copthorne Lodge
Staff provided socially distanced activities to keep up 
morale of tenants and helped them with technology to 
allow them to chat with family members.

Adult Social Care’s  
Unsung Heroes

Eric Williams House 
Thanks to staff for always keeping a positive 
outlook through these hard times and 
keeping residents happy. 

Housing with Care Team
Working relentlessly showing dedication and 
humanity to ensure support is available to so 
many older citizens and younger adults  
with disabilities.

Chris Green, Team Leader, 
Promoting Independence 
Service
Chris Green - Always there to give advice, 
even outside of her working hours. Regular 
video chats with her team even though staff 
have been moved to different service areas.

35

Page 225



April Ross
Guided and supported staff, ensuring that all 
services have enough PPE by pre-planning 
and sourcing different places to get the 
needed equipment. 
There day, night and at weekends to answer 
any questions or even just talk through  
a situation.

Outreach Support Service 
Gone above and beyond to support 
vulnerable people who have experienced 
some really difficult and scary situations 
during lockdown, offering 'on-call' support 
and continuing to visit people over the 
weekends and bank holidays. 

Quinton Lodge
Worked together as a team to ensure the 
safety of tenants and put a smile on their 
faces. Worked extra shifts and helped out 
wherever they could.

Rae Bottrill 
Made sure services remain accessible and 
staff are safe and well equipped to do 
their jobs. Constantly liaising with Council 
colleagues and NHS to provide a  
seamless service. 

Shared Lives Scheme
Continuing their role throughout the day and 
night they have supported and protected 
adults that live in their homes as part of the 
carers family. Recently rated outstanding by 
the Care Quality Commission (CQC)

Sharon Mitchell
Supported not only her own team throughout 
the pandemic, but also her colleagues across 
all six Housing with Care schemes. Through 
patience and perseverance Sharon has 
made sure tenants in all schemes have some 
connection to the outside world. 

36

Page 226



A random 
selection 
of people 
with caring 
responsibilities 
who received 
an assessment 
or review 
within the 12 
months prior 
to 31 August 
2018

Ensuring people with 
caring responsibilities 
are included and 
consulted in  
discussions about  
the person they  
care for

4 in 10 carers said they 
were satisfied with the social 
care support they received

of people with caring 
responsibilites felt 
included or consulted 
in discussions about 
the person they 
care for

Of the people who 
were cared for by 
family members 

70% had physical 

support, 7% had 
learning disability 
support, the rest 

had mental health, 
sensory, memory or 

social support

About the survey

57% of 
people with caring 

responsibilities 

were female, 36% 
were male, the rest 
was not recorded

Enhancing the 
quality of life for 
people with caring 
responsibilities Carers reported  

quality of life

15 out of 24 said they had as much social 
contact as they would like

38%

said it was fairly easy to find 
information about services

60%

73%

Ages of people with 
caring resonsibilities 
varied between 19 

and 105
Average age was

67
people gave us 
their feedback 

during October -  
November 2018

483

Performance Matters 
On a yearly basis Adult Social Care undertakes a survey of the experiences of adults in receipt of support 
and every other year we undertake a survey of the experiences of carers. This infographic shows our 
performance. This information helps us set our future priorities and identify any areas for improvement.

Understanding the views and experiences of Adult Social Care 
CARERS 2018/19

Ensuring that 
people with caring 
responsibilities 
have a positive 
experience  
of care services  
and support

37

Page 227



8 out of 10 said 
the services they receive help 
them to feel safe and secure

Understanding the views and experiences of Adult Social Care 
PEOPLE WITH CARE AND SUPPORT NEEDS 2019/20 

About the survey

Ensuring 
that people 
who are 
vulnerable  
feel safe and  
protected  
from harm

said they feel safe  
(this includes feeling safe 
from abuse, falling or other 
physical harm both inside  
and outside the home)

77%

A random 
selection of 
service users 
were contacted 
who received 
long term 
support as at  
1 October 2019

said they had as 
much social contact 

as they would like

42%

said it was fairly easy 
to find information and 
advice about support, 
services or benefits 

70%

Ages of respondents 
varied between  

19 and 105
Average age was

67

85% of 
respondents lived 
in the community, 

13% in residential 

homes, 2% in 
nursing homes

Ensuring that people 
have a positive 
experience of  
care services  
and support

Service users gave  
us their feedback

345

46% of people 
supported by Adult 

Social Care had 
physical support 

needs, 28% had 
learning disability 
support, the rest 

had mental health, 
sensory, memory or 

social support

Enhancing the 
quality of life for 
people with care 
and support  
needs People scored 

their quality of life

19 out of 24

Almost 8 in 10 
people said they 

have enough control 
over their daily life

6 in 10 people said 
they were satisfied with 

the social care and 
support they received

38

Page 228



Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership 
Trust Employee of the Season 

Celebrating Our Own Strengths - 
Awards and Good News

Jo Rathbone, a Mental Health Social 
Worker, was named an Employee of 
the Season this year by the Coventry 
and Warwickshire Partnership NHS 
Trust. Jo works in the Integrated 
Practice Unit at Longford, supporting 
older adults with dementia, and is a 
highly valued member of the team. 
Colleagues said, "It is great to see 
her hard work, dedication and 
commitment rewarded in this way."
Jo was a joint winner of the 
award and was presented with 
her certificate by Jenny Horrabin, 
Associate Director of  
Corporate Affairs.

In February 2020 representatives from across Adult 
Social Care came together to discuss and celebrate the 
strengths of the service, with workshops focusing on the 
work undertaken to embed strengths-based practice. The 
session explored people’s passion for the work they do 
and was a real opportunity to celebrate the good work 
completed by the workforce. 

Bringing it all Together 

39

Page 229



Shared Lives - 'Outstanding'  
CQC Inspection 

In February 2020 Shared Lives was awarded an 'Outstanding' rating following a CQC Inspection. 
Karyn Ross the Registered Manager of the Shared Lives Scheme had this to say, 

"As a Registered Manager, 
CQC Inspections always come 
with some trepidation, we are 
forever concerned we don’t 
have enough evidence to meet 
all the key lines of enquiries set 
by CQC, but it felt different this 
time, and I was actually looking 
forward to it, and rightly so. 
The Scheme was more than 
prepared to evidence how 
committed and passionate we 
are about the work we do, from 
the Carers who open their lives 
and homes, to the people who 
live in Shared Lives placements 
and the team who continuously 
strive to provide the  
best service".

The report captured the true essence of the 
Shared Lives Scheme. The feedback contained in 
the report included:

‘Staff working at the service took pride in 
the partnerships they had developed and 
how these had empowered the people they 
were working with'
‘Staff strove for excellence to achieve the 
best possible outcomes for people’
 ‘A person beamed with pride because they 
felt at home but also because they had 
achieved so much'

The report reaffirms why the Scheme works in the 
way it does, achieving real life opportunities for 
people requiring additional support in their lives 
and the Scheme couldn’t be prouder of  
its achievements.

To read the report, click here

40

Page 230

http://cqc.org.uk/location/1-293108276
http://www.cqc.org.uk/location/1-293108276


Carers Conference and Carers Awards 

Later in July 2019 the Carers 
Trust Heart of England 
hosted their first ever Carers 
Awards at Coombe Abbey. 
The Awards were a chance to 
celebrate the amazing work 
undertaken by unpaid carers, 
celebrate the successes 
of organisations such as 
GP surgeries, schools and 
mental health settings who 
have undertaken Carer  
Friendly Awards.

The National Learning Disabilities and 
Autism Awards 

In June 2019 two of our internally provided services achieved national recognition at the  
National Learning Disabilities and Autism Awards 2019. 
Frances Longden, a Support Worker in the Learning Disabilities Outreach Team, was nominated for 
'Making a difference', and Suzanne Horner and her team, in our Promoting Independent Living 
Service, for the 'Supported Housing Awards'. 

During Carers Week in 2019 we held our very first joint Carers 
Conference in partnership with Warwickshire County Council.  
Over 100 people attended, carers and a range of professionals who 
are passionate about developing the support for carers across the 
city. The conference will help inform a refreshed version of the  
Carers Strategy.

41

Page 231



Alzheimer’s Society wins 
National Award

Our Local Alzheimer’s Society 
won two national awards back in 
May 2019. 
The staff and volunteer team at 
Coventry Alzheimer’s Society had 
a wonderful end to Dementia 
Action Week when both the 
Barras Green Day Centre and 
Coventry Dementia Support 
Services won a People’s Award, 
travelling down to St James’s 
Palace for the presentation by 
HRH Princess Alexandra.

Principal Social Worker Annual Report

What is PSW?
Care Act 2014 states a PSW should; 

• be visible across the organization

• support and develop effective conditions  

for practice
• oversee quality and improvement of practice 

• have direct contact with the Adults Director        

and front-line practice 

The PSW for Adults, Andrew Errington commenced in 

post in July 2016 and is the Head of Safeguarding and 

Practice Development. Andrew reports to the Director 

of Adult Services Pete Fahy.

Workforce Deve lopment
Member of the Adult Services Workforce Development 

Board, championing and raising the profile of  

social work

Updated the Learning and Development portfolio for 

Adult Services, ensuring access to a range of relevant 

and current training opportunities 

33 training events relevant to Social Work  

attended by 560 staff

8 staff qualified as Deafblind Assessors,  

including 5 Social Workers

Commenced a pilot in the use of ‘Digital Dictation’

Hosted a 3rd annual practice week with the Children’s 

PSW providing access to a week of practice  

focused events

Soc ia l  Work Educat ion 
Embedding and growing links with our local Higher 

Education Institutions Coventry and Warwick 

Universities and supporting the West Midlands Social 

Work Teaching Partnership

Practitioners supporting teaching on the Adults Module 

at Coventry University

Supporting new routes into Social Work, including the 

new Degree Level Social Work apprenticeships

2 members of staff started the new Degree Level SW 

apprenticeship in 2019, 2 further places planned  

for 2020

Pol icy and Best Practice Guidance 
Chairing the Adult Services Policy Group, making sure 

policy and public information are accessible to all 

relevant staff and up to date. Group also ensures adult 

social care takes account of NICE National Guidelines*

www.nice.org.uk/sharedlearning/ng86-walking-

in-the-shoes-of-adult-social-care-service-users-

reframing-our-services-with-new-eyes

Commenced work to review, update and produce a new 

suite of public information

Practice Leadership 
Chair of the West Midlands Adults Principal Social 

Worker Network since January 2017. In 2019 the 

network held its second annual conference with a focus 

on strength-based practice and safeguarding in the 

West Midlands 

www.westmidlandsiep.gov.uk/info/30/principal-

social-workers

Attended by over 90 social workers from across all 14 

Local Authorities

PSW network linked with WM ADASS Branch and 

supporting a regional evaluation of strength-based 

practice with the University of Birmingham

Undertakes regional ‘practice reviews’ prior to  

Peer Challenges

Meet ing Standards 
Training for practice supervisors (in line with the post 

qualifying standards for SW Practice Supervisors) to 

support reflective supervision

Supporting team leaders and supervisors to develop 

peer/group supervision. PSW also started peer and 

group supervision with Team Leaders/supervisors in 

summer 2019

Purchased reflective, theory and self-cards practice for 

every supervisor to use

Supporting staff to ensure aware of the requirements of 

the new Social Work regulator via team briefings  

and workshops*

https://socialworkengland.org.uk/

Engaging and Coproduc ing 
Co-chair of the Adult Social Care ‘Stakeholder Group’ 

working to support coproduction 

Leading on the production of Coventry’s ‘Local 

Account’, an annual report reflecting on the work  

of Adult Services

www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/31240/adult_

social_care_annual_report_201819

Established a new ‘real time’ experience survey to seek 

feedback from people, identify areas for improvement 

and to ask people if they want to get involved 

www.coventry.gov.uk/info/194/health_and_

social_care_-_having_your_say_and_getting_

involved/3203/getting_involved_in_adult_ 

social_care

Pract ice Qua l ity  
Practice Quality Assurance Framework with new 

simplified audit system. Includes observation of 

practice, practice and supervision audits*

157 audits undertaken in 19/20 (as of Feb 20)

‘enables more in depth and reflective case 

discussions with the practitioner’

Commenced 2 Thematic Reviews (exploring the 

quality of practice relating to a specific area) into 

the application of mental capacity assessments and 

safeguarding enquiry reports 

Undertook a 2nd Organisational Health Check surveying 

practice conditions 

86% know and recognise the Adults PSW

95% of staff have sufficient autonomy to practice 

creatively with people

www.coventry.gov.uk/info/192/adult_social_care_

strategies_policies_and_plans/3460/adult_social_

care_organisational_health_check

Caseload and workload audit - caseloads levels appear 

‘fair and reasonable and this is felt and expressed  

by practitioners’

Pract ice Deve lopment Ro les 
SW Practice Development roles are supporting newly 

qualified Social Workers, promoting Practice Education 

and providing practice support to front line staff and 

managers. In conjunction with Public Health supporting 

initiatives such as ‘Making Every Contact Count’. 

Delivering team training and producing  

supportive toolkits

www.coventry.gov.uk/info/190/health_and_

wellbeing/2051/making_every_contact_count_mecc

Supported 11 new ASYEs

Offered 11 placements for Social Workers 

6 new SW Practice Educators trained

Commenced ‘light bite’ training sessions including 

modern slavery, supervision and Mental Health Act

Professional Curiosity  
Ensuring practice informed by evidence and curiosity, 

raising the profile of our subscription to Research in 

Practice for Adults, ‘Care Knowledge’, helping staff 

to stay up to date on the latest expert information and 

legislation to help day to day practice

Commenced a new subscription for ‘Social Work 

Connect’ an online tool providing support to apply  

SW theory in practice 

129 staff are now using Care Knowledge 

66 staff now accessing SW Connect 

9 in 10 staff said ‘I have access to best practice, 

research and evidence materials’

Celebrating and Connecting  

with Practice  
Networks and forums in place for staff  

engagement continue

Celebrating and raising the profile of Social Work by 

World Social Work Day and by encouraging staff to 

talk about their roles and the work that they do with an 

online ‘storyboard’ to capture stories of difference

https://myaccount.coventry.gov.uk/service/

storyboard  

Keeping in touch with staff via the Adult Services  

E Bulletin and ‘Adult Principal Social Worker News’

Strength Based Approaches 
Strength-based Practice Framework and Toolkit 

published. Identifies the tools, techniques and practice 

conditions to enable strength-based practice – 

including Motivational Interviewing (MI strength-based 

conversations), Risk Enablement Panels and Family 

Group Conferencing (FGC) or family led meetings*

www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/30455/adult_

social_care_practice_framework

Documentation redesigned to be less prescriptive and 

bureaucratic. Forms codesigned with practitioners, 

launched, with guidance and training in July 2019

Assessment form reduced from 182 questions to 

42 - ‘Easier, simpler and better to navigate during 

conversations’

4 training sessions in MI, over 90 staff attended – 

‘This is so relevant to my role. I’m really looking 

forward to putting it into practice’

6 in depth Risk Enablement Panel discussions and 4 

FGCs

Produced an internal evaluation of strength-based 

practice approaches

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE ADULTS PRINCIPAL SOCIAL 

WORKER 2019/20 KEY ACHIEVEMENTS AND DEVELOPMENTS

This graphic describes the work of the Adults Principal Social Worker (PSW) Andrew Errington  

for Coventry City Council during 2019/20

*denotes identified priority for 2018/19

Safeguarding Adults 
Supporting the work of the Safeguarding Board  

through chairing the Workforce Development and Policy 

subgroups. In 2019 the Board held a series of multi-

agency learning events on hot topics, these included 

Advocacy, Financial Scamming and Fraud  

and Modern Slavery 

www.coventry.gov.uk/workforcedevelopment

92 people attended the Financial Scamming session - 

‘A very good and eye-opening session’

PRIORITIES FOR 2020/21  

• To embed strength-based tools and techniques in practice and ensure they are translating into 

strength-based conversations, recording and positive outcomes for people 

• To fully embed Practice Quality Assurance and improvement mechanisms

• To prepare practitioners for the first renewal with their Social Work Regulator ‘Social Work England’

Most areas now have a Principal Social Worker for 
Adults' and Children’s, supported by national and 
regional networks. The Care Act 2014 says local 
authorities should make arrangements to have a 
‘qualified and registered social work professional 
practice lead’ in place.
In support of ensuring visibility for the role and 
celebrating achievements, our Adults Principal Social 
Worker, Andrew Errington, has produced a second 
annual report.

Read the report here

42

Page 232

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/32958/adults_principal_social_worker_annual_report_-_2019-2020


Within Adult Social Care there is no formal regulatory or inspection framework. As an alternative 
the approach of sector led improvement is taken where Adult Social Care seeks to improve through 
learning from elsewhere and opening itself up to challenge in a manner that provides opportunities 
for improvement. 

Peer Challenges are an important part of this 
approach, where at periodic intervals a Peer 
Challenge Team, led by a Director of Adult 
Services from elsewhere within the West Midlands, 
visits a local authority for a period of three days to 
undertake a Peer Challenge. The Peer Challenge 

process also includes a case file audit in which a 
team of three Principal Social Workers reviews 20 
social work cases and social work practice. 

Read about Peer Challenges here

Peer Challenges focus on Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) 
For Coventry these were: 

• A number of changes have been made to how 
we support people at home in recent years. 
We want the Peer Challenge Team to consider 
what else could be done in order to reduce our 
levels of residential admissions and support 
people in their own communities

• The work to develop on our promoting 
independence approach is ongoing and 
this will always be the case. Can the Peer 
Challenge Team advise how we might improve 
further in this area and what opportunities for 
improvement exist through working closer with 
internal and external stakeholders? 

The Peer Challenge identified many positives in respect of progress made in Adult Social Care in 
Coventry and suggested that we should consider focussing on the following areas to enable Adult 
Social Care in Coventry to continue to develop:

• To ensure a ‘One Coventry’ focus, involving 
communities, the voluntary sector and other 
providers in the plan for Adult Social Care

• To develop our commissioning approach with 
Public Health, creating more diverse support 
and shaping of the voluntary and community 
market

• To ensure our commissioning approach 
incorporates co-production and engagement 
with people and their families who  
access services

• To review our accommodation and support 
offer to ensure residential care is only used 
when needed and improve provision for 
younger adults

• To better understand how and why people 
access residential care

• To continue to prioritise the use of digital 
technology through a clear strategy

Adult Social Care  
Peer Challenge  
3 to 5 March 2020

43

Page 233

https://www.wm-adass.org.uk/what-we-do/peer-challenge-programme/


Although since the Peer Challenge a lot of our normal improvement work 
has been put on hold due to COVID-19, the changing circumstances have 
enabled us to make progress in a number of these areas, for example: 

Use of technology
Our use of technology to support our assessment activity has grown 
significantly. Whereas the majority of our work was completed face-to-face, 
doing things remotely became the norm wherever possible. As we progress, 
achieving the right blend of technology and face-to-face work will be 
required to ensure we engage with people in a way that is effective.

Community-based assets
We have engaged with community-based organisations in different ways 
to support people affected by COVID-19. This includes establishing new 
relationships and flexible approaches to support those impacted by 
shielding and other vulnerable groups. This work provides us with a  
strong foundation to further develop community-based approaches.

Joined up and timely support
We have worked with health partners to rapidly speed up the hospital 
discharge process and established 7-day working. The extent to which this 
work progresses and is mainstreamed is a matter for all partners to consider.

44

Page 234



Reflecting on the Peer Challenge earlier this year, our own service model and our work with 
partner organisations, we are framing the next stages of our improvement work under the four 
key areas identified below. 

We are keen to engage stakeholders in this work as we develop it to help ensure we are focussing 
our efforts on the areas of highest impact. One way we will be doing this is by using ‘Let’s Talk 
Coventry’, a web page where people can have their say on key issues and developments.

What’s Next?  
Proposed Key Improvement 
Themes for Adult Social Care

Our Promoting Independence Model
We have, over several years, been clear about our service focus on promoting independence. We now 
want to take this model further and combine our resources with those of partners in the city to support 
people to prevent deterioration and to actively support themselves as much as possible. This means 
looking first at what people can do with their skills, resources, relationships and their communities. 

Digital Technology and Innovation
In order to maintain and develop modern, person-centred services, we will use technology-enabled 
care opportunities and ensure our workforce is equipped with technology to work agilely and 
support people effectively. We will focus on self-service wherever possible, giving people the 
opportunity to access Adult Social Care on their terms, at a time and place of their choosing. 

Accommodation Offering - Care and Support
Our continued commitment to support people at home remains a priority. However, when an 
alternative is required, we seek to ensure this offers the best opportunity for reablement and 
promoting independence. We will do this by encouraging and supporting the development of 
facilities within the city, offering provision for people to live as independently as possible, even when 
they require care and support to do so.     

Locally Based Support
We will continue to work with the local care providers and to enable future stability and resilience 
by setting standards and managing costs robustly. We will also utilise opportunities to work with 
local communities and organisations to improve access to support. This will strengthen our model of 
supporting people at home whilst including a focus on accessing support and resources available in 
the local area.

45

Page 235



Our success in achieving the 
vision for Coventry depends on 
placing adults and carers at the 
heart of everything we do. We 
will ensure people we work with 
are involved as equal partners in 
planning and decision making

46

Page 236



Glossary
This section provides an explanation of some definitions and terms that appear throughout  
this document. 

Promoting Independence
Short-term services which aim to maximise the 
independence of the individual. At the end of the 
support, ongoing care and support services will 
be arranged as required.

Peer Challenge 
A sector-led review involving a team of senior 
Adult Social Care managers and an elected 
member from other West Midlands Local 
Authorities and a local 'expert by experience' 
spending three days reviewing our services.

‘One Coventry’
One Coventry is how we describe the Council’s 
objectives, key strategies and approaches. It 
includes the Council’s vision and priorities; new 
ways of working; and core areas of activity.

Safeguarding 
Safeguarding is how we work with people to 
prevent them experiencing harm from others or 
sometimes themselves. It includes helping people 
recover when they have been abused.

Carer Assessment 
If you care for someone, you can have an 
assessment to see what might help make your life 
easier. This is called a carer's assessment.

Preparing for Adulthood
Preparing for Adulthood is an umbrella term used 
to describe the transition needs and arrangements 
for children with special educational needs and 
disabilities as they move from childhood  
into adulthood.

Travel Training
Travel Training provides people with the 
knowledge and skills they need to travel 
independently, whilst providing parents and  
carers with peace of mind that people are  
travelling safely.

Asperger's Syndrome
Asperger's Syndrome is a form of autism. People 
with Asperger's Syndrome may find difficulty in 
social relationships and in communicating.

Housing with Care
Housing with Care, sometimes known as Extra 
Care, is housing designed for older people, with 
various levels of care and support available on site.

Assistive Technology 
This is an umbrella term for any devices, 
equipment or systems that help maintain or 
improve a person's ability to do things in everyday 
life. These can assist with a range of difficulties, 
including problems with memory and mobility.

Short-term Support
Short-term support that is intended to be 
time limited, with the aim of maximising the 
independence of the individual and reducing or 
eliminating their need for ongoing support by  
the Council. 

Motivational Interviewing
Motivational Interviewing is a technique that 
attempts to help people find the motivation to 
make positive decisions.

Care Act Easements Guidance
The Care Act Easements allow local authorities to 
cease formal Care Act assessments, application of 
eligibility and reviews.

47

Page 237



Useful contacts
Adult Social Care and Communities Directory
This online directory has all the information and advice you need in one central place, so you can find 
the information you need easily. 

Website: https://cid.coventry.gov.uk/ 

Council contacts and Mental Health Services 

Adult Social Care Direct The first point of contact for any referrals into 
Adult Social Care.

024 7683 3003 

Emergency Out of Hours 
(After 5pm Monday to Thursday, 
4.30pm on Friday and through the 
weekend) 

For urgent enquiries / emergencies only 
outside of normal office hours. 

024 7683 2222

Main Council Customer Services The main switchboard for Coventry  
City Council. 

080 8583 4333 

Central Booking Services (Mental 
Health Services) 

Run by Coventry and Warwickshire 
Partnership Trust (CWPT), this is the first 
point of contact for people accessing mental 
health services and CWPT services. 

0300 200 0011 

Other organisations 

Age UK Coventry Supporting older adults, providing 
information and advice, support and groups. 

024 7623 1999 

Alzheimer’s Society Coventry Supporting adults with a diagnosis of 
dementia and their families with the 
provision of information and advice and 
group-based support. 

024 7665 2602 

Carers Trust Heart of England One-stop shop for unpaid carers of all ages. 024 7663 2972 

Coventry & Warwickshire MIND Support for people living with a mental 
health condition.

024 7655 2847 

Macmillan Cancer Support Cancer Support Service. 024 7696 6052 

Healthwatch Independent organisation supporting 
people to have their say in health and social 
care services.

024 7625 2011 

SEND Information, Advice and 
Support Service

Providing information and advice to 
young people with disabilities and special 
educational needs. 

024 7669 4307

48

Page 238

https://cid.coventry.gov.uk/


Special thanks to…

Kyle, Stephen, Pete, Damien and Kerry

Elizabeth

AB

William and Joyce

Douglas and his family

Mark 

Residents of Harry Caplan House 

Casey and her mum Lesley

CV Life and Tina

Library Services

The staff at Adult Social Care

Contact Us 

You can contact us about this report at 
getinvolved@coventry.gov.uk

You can contact Adult Social Care Direct at
ascdirect@coventry.gov.uk

024 7683 3003

More information about Adult Social Care can be found at
www.coventry.gov.uk/adultsocialcare

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  P a g e  | 1 

 WMADASS 
Shire Hall 
Abbey Foregate 
Shrewsbury 
Shropshire  SY2 6ND 
 

12 March 2020 
 

Peter Fahy (DASS) 
Coventry Council 
 
Sent via - Peter.fahy@coventry.gov.uk  
 
 
Dear Pete 

 
Coventry Council Adult Social Care Peer Challenge March 2020  
 
I write to give you formal feedback following the peer challenge that was recently undertaken. This builds on 

the provisional feedback that was shared with you and the wider team on the 5th March 2020. (A copy of the 

final presentation and the practice review is attached as an appendix). 

Whilst I led the peer challenge team as the Lead Director, I was also joined by colleagues, Mary O’Hagan, 

Karen McKay, Cllr Polly Andrews, Sarah Dillon, John Williams and Mike Strauss. 

On behalf of the rest of the team and West Midlands ADASS I would like to express thanks to Mary O’Hagan 

and Karen McKay for their contributions, but also to Coventry for enabling them to join the team.  Their 

enthusiasm, insight and the level of focus on the key lines of enquiry was of great value whilst we were on 

site.  Going forward they are committed to supporting Coventry on further developing its adult social care 

vision and delivery of sustainable and integrated services, we hope their participation in the peer challenge 

will help with agreeing that vision. 

You asked for the peer challenge team to explore two specific areas: 

1. A number of changes have been made to how we support people at home in recent years. We want 
the peer challenge team to consider what else could be done in order to reduce our levels of 
residential admissions and support people in their own homes 

2. The work to develop our promoting independence approach is on-going and this will always be the 
case. Can the peer challenge team advise how we might improve further in this area and tell us what 
opportunities for improvement exist through working closer with internal and external stakeholder 

 
This letter provides a summary of our findings and recommendations. The feedback presentation given on 
the 5th March 2020 and the practice review final report are also attached as appendices. 
 
Summary 
 
Coventry as a city and council continues to transform, and since the last peer challenge the progress, 
including the city developments are all evidence of how much has already been achieved. The One Coventry 
approach adopted by the council, and now being reflected in the leadership model should provide an 
effective vehicle for integrating place and people delivery plans. This alongside the commitment from the 

Page 241

mailto:Peter.fahy@coventry.gov.uk


 

  P a g e  | 2 

chief executive, and the wider leadership team to focus energy on supporting adult social care to improve 
outcomes and manage demand effectively is very positive.  
 
The timing of this renewed commitment to social care is important as Coventry in common with other places 
in the country faces more demand in social care, with less resources available, as well as major change in the 
NHS. Coventry adult social care, and its leadership team have done an excellent job in managing resource, 
and steadily improving outcomes for the residents of Coventry over recent years, and the practice review 
demonstrated the progress made in strengths based practice by operational staff. 
 
As demand and cost continue to grow, the peer challenge team thought that moving forward adult social 
care should embrace the opportunity that the One Coventry leadership model offers. Seek to explore and 
build a stronger community asset based offer in local places for those who are not yet in contact with formal 
services, and to support those living with disability who want to live in their home as independently as 
possible. Any strategy and delivery plan in this area which will help manage demand, should build on the 
existing public health developments, be responsive to the maturing primary care networks and utilise the 
energy in local community and voluntary groups that exist. 
 
The team heard from a range of people and groups that they believe they have more to offer in helping 
design and develop commissioning and delivery of adult social care going forward. They are willing to offer 
skills, experiences and time to helping Coventry adult social care build a strong community offer, and to 
develop a commissioning approach that is strengths based, and offers a range of services, and flexible ways 
to live independently. They feel they are underutilised at present. The team were very impressed with your 
performance management, and the team you have in place. They may offer an opportunity to extend their 
focus into performance development, and developing an approach to co design, and monitoring progress in 
this area. This may include developing some routine collection of service user and carer insight at different 
points of the pathway to inform delivery plans. 
 
Key Line of Enquiry 1 
 
The peer challenge team were very impressed with the visible openness to improvement and self-reflection 
from politicians, commissioners, operational staff, and partners in Coventry. This ethos has clearly helped to 
maintain the strong performance of adult social care, and some examples of improvement such as in delayed 
discharges of care for adult social care at a time when pressures have been so significant across the system. 
 
Whilst residential and nursing care will always be the right place for some people, the Coventry data does 
suggest that it is placing more people in this type of care than the England average and its comparators, in 
both the 18 – 64 age group and the over 64 age group. The peer challenge team observed a number of 
possible drivers for this 
 
System leaders are clearly very committed to integrating health and care pathways, and the plans that are 
held across the system are very credible, particularly those relating to community health and care support. 
The team was not clear about the status and level of implementation of some of these plans, which were 
originally conceived in 2016 and particularly the maturity of multi-disciplinary teams. The data set on funded 
health care and continuing health care needs further development, and then some detailed analysis by 
commissioners at a health and social care system level to understand the key messages and whether current 
commissioning plans are aligned. This includes whether personal health budgets and direct payments, 
alongside flexible payment mechanisms are enabling people to live as long as possible in the community. 
The peer challenge team heard from a number of different sources that the bed-based pathways are not 
working effectively, and that people are entering bed based care at times due to pressure in the system and 

Page 242



 

  P a g e  | 3 

the need to maintain flow. It is therefore worth exploring those original plans agreed at a system level, for 
integrated health and care pathways and multi-disciplinary working to assess how far they have been 
implemented. This together with reports of some capacity that could support people in the community being 
underutilised may offer a way of reducing the use of residential and nursing care. 
 
Strengths based practice has improved significantly in operational teams, however the peer challenge team 
felt that the commissioning plans needed to be developed further to address some of the potential gaps in 
the range of flexible support on offer. This includes different types of accommodation and tenure, alongside 
building capacity and connecting people into local community and voluntary support in addition to their 
formal care provision. 
 
The peer challenge team heard some very positive feedback about the emerging partnerships with health at 
the system level, including how to make best use of the available resources across health and social care to 
achieve better outcomes and avoid admissions to hospital. Health partners clearly see Coventry Council as a 
good and committed partner and acknowledge the pressures that adult social care faces in terms of 
resources.  
 
Through the emerging primary care networks, the current public health offer in the community, which 
includes social prescribing, adult social care has an opportunity to develop its strengths-based and ensure it 
is focused on prevention and early intervention to support demand management. Co designing this support 
with people and their families who use services will ensure it is a truly effective and flexible use of 
community assets and responsive to the local place and need. 
 
Key line of enquiry 2 
 
Adult social care in Coventry has a very effective and impressive promoting independence offer. It is 
delivering tangible results, using the resources available effectively to manage rising demand. the peer 
challenge team heard some excellent examples including the development of a community broker, the 
strengths-based practise and examples of micro commissioning with individuals providing some very 
personalised community care. 
 
Since implementation of the Care Act 2015 adult social care is on a journey of development as it moves away 
from a care management approach. In order to continue to be effective in the management of demand and 
shifting towards an outcome-based approach the peer challenge team felt some areas should be the focus. 
 
The commissioning programme and intentions are well thought through but appear to be mainly focused on 
the procurement process and the contracting of current service models. A shift towards exploring what other 
areas are developing in this area, particularly in the space of developing more community asset capacity, 
connecting and supporting local community and voluntary activities the team felt should be prioritised. 
Without this the progress you have made in strengths-based practice may not continue at the pace you 
would like. Strengths based operational practice will flourish further in a commissioning environment that 
offers a range of flexible support, supported by personalised payment mechanisms such as individual service 
funds, and diverse personalised providers.  
 
The peer challenge team heard that the energy and commitment in the local community is in place, but it 
would benefit from more involvement from commissioners and opportunities to share good practice and 
reflect on opportunities for development. If this could be connected with the current public health activity in 
the prevention space, then the impact on outcomes could be very significant. 
 

Page 243



 

  P a g e  | 4 

The peer challenge team also concluded that the One Coventry approach offers an opportunity for adult 
social care to access the skills and knowledge of the wider council. This will enable adult social care to 
develop with the wider council a more diverse accommodation offer for all ages, exploring alongside this 
how technology and a place based approach will allow people with disability to live, work and play as 
independently as possible in Coventry including those currently placed outside of the city. 
 
The Coventry adult social care offer was felt by the team to be a strong one and going forward it will 
continue to deliver for Coventry residents and their families successfully. The existing work is ambitious and 
in order to maximise the opportunity offered and deliver transformation at pace, the team felt that the 
capacity to support transformation needs reviewing.  The team felt that focusing more resource on 
embedding an ethos of co design in all pathway development work, reviewing the available resource to 
support the adult social care technology offer to extend the ambition, and ensuring commissioning has 
capacity to develop community asset building alongside public health is also worth exploring 
 

In summary the peer challenge team believes that there should be specific focus in the following areas to 
enable adult social care in Coventry to continue to develop: - 
 

• Embrace the ‘One Coventry’ focus, involving communities, the voluntary sector and other 
providers in a holistic transformation plan for adult social care 

• Develop a philosophy of involvement and co-design with people and their families who use 
services, and start commissioning from a position of co-production and involvement 

• Develop the commissioning approach with public health and re-orientate activity towards 
developing more diverse community-based assets and shaping the voluntary and community 
market 

• Consider a rapid improvement approach to focus on practice around patient/service user 
flow through the entire system to reduce the high usage of residential care and ensure 
personalised care 

• Accelerate a clear digital strategy for adult social care and integrate it into the ‘One Coventry’ 
transformation priorities 

• Address the range of accommodation and support available today and for tomorrow to 
ensure residential care is only used for those that need it, and that greater provision for 
independent living is made for younger adults 

• Review the resources allocated to transformation to improve connectivity with the council 
wide ‘One Coventry’ ambition and re-invigorate the delivery of integrated care with health 

 

On behalf of the peer challenge team, I would like to thank you for hosting this peer challenge and for 
working so positively with us. If you have any points that you would like clarifying, please do not hesitate to 
contact me. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
Stephen Vickers (DASS, Herefordshire) 
Cc Pete Jackson Improvement Director WMADASS, Helen Coombes Peer Challenge Coordinator WMADASS, 
Shelley Madley Improvement Administrator WMADASS,  
Cc Peer Challenge Team 

Page 244



3rd to 5th March 2020

Coventry Peer Challenge
Adult Social Care

P
age 245



• Sector Led Challenge and Continuous Improvement Offer
• Onsite Peer Challenge are part of wider wider offer of support and 

development work by the West Midlands ADASS Branch
• 2018-2020 West Midlands programme involves all councils
• Range of support for councils includes access to subject matter 

experts, networks of good practice, participation in specific areas for 
development, peer challenge training, practice reviews and now 
widening into the involvement of NHS partners

• Exploring different ways of involving local people and their families 
who use services in the onsite activity

• Runs alongside national offers such as CQC and LGA focused sector 
led improvement activity e.g. DTOC reviews

• Subject area and length of peer challenge is chosen by the council
• Formal feedback letter is published and 6-month action plan follow 

up

West Midlands Peer Challenge 
Context

P
age 246



A number of changes have been made to how we support people at 
home in recent years. We want the peer challenge team to consider 
what else could be done in order to reduce our levels of residential 
admissions and support people in their own homes

The work to develop our promoting independence approach is on-
going and this will always be the case. Can the peer challenge team 
advise how we might improve further in this area and tell us what 
opportunities for improvement exist through working closer with 
internal and external stakeholders

Focus/Key Lines of Enquiry

P
age 247



• The ‘One Coventry’ approach to breaking down silos internally is 
refreshing

• The Corporate Leadership Team and Chief Executive are very committed 
and open to be more engaged by the adult social care directorate 

• Adult social care has done an excellent job in managing resources and 
improving outcomes over the last few years with strong leadership from 
the directorate management team

• The team heard that public health is working on community 
development, but the connection to adult social care is not clear

• It is unclear what the community development/asset development offer 
is, and how it is going to be developed

• Co-design and involvement is a real issue.
• There appears to be a lack of strategy around the range of 

accommodation and flexible support currently and going forward 
• The Practice Review demonstrated the move to strengths-based practice
• There has been development and investment in performance 

management, with a great performance management team

SummaryP
age 248



Practice Review Methodology

• Practice Review undertaken by 3 Principal Social Workers co-ordinated 
by the WM ADASS Practice Review Lead in October 2018 (pilot for the 
new arrangements) 

• Practice Review updated by one of the Principal Social Workers and 
WM ADASS Practice Review Lead in January 2020 (due to gap 
between original review and peer challenge)

• The Practice Review update consisted of meetings with the Director of 
Adult Social Care, host Principal Social Worker, Managers and Social 
Workers

• In addition, they reviewed a range of documentation, including the 
action plan to address issues for consideration from the Practice 
Review undertaken in October 2018

Text

P
age 249



The summary of the ratings below is based on Principal Social Workers 
reviewing eighteen case files in October 2018. These ratings are made 
based on components of good strengths-based practice they have 
identified and their experience. In total there were 216 questions rated 
(18 x 12 questions)

Practice Review Summary

• Outstanding 6 (3%)

• Good 141 (65%)

• Requires improvement      98 (26%)

• Inadequate 12 (6%)

P
age 250



Practice Review Findings

Strengths

• Huge amount of work undertaken and good progress made since 
the Practice Review undertaken in October 2018

• Excellent documents/tools produced and implemented (Adult 
Social Care Practice Framework and Strengths-Based Practice 
Handbook)

• Practitioners and managers understand strengths-based practice

• Good examples of where strengths-based practice has been used 
well

P
age 251



Practice Review Findings

Opportunities

• Embedding strengths-based practice and using the tools produced

• Developing the Quality Assurance Framework and ensuring it is 
business as usual across adult social care

• Increasing and developing practice auditing across teams

• Developing a performance framework to sit alongside the Quality 
Assurance Framework to begin to measure the impact of 
strengths-based practice

• Embedding reflective practice and peer group supervision

• Examining and revising safeguarding documentation

P
age 252



Some of the voices we heard

We need more 
community 

working Pete is a real 
system leader

Mobile night 
service is 

working well

What we need 
is to start 

planning sooner 
– we need 

more ambition 
for young 

people

Adult social 
care need to 
shout louder

We support 
people in a kind 

of a bubble -
what happens 

when they 
need to go to 

the shop

P
age 253



KLOE 1 A number of changes have been made to how we 
support people at home in recent years. We want the 
peer challenge team to consider what else could be done 
in order to reduce our levels of residential admissions 
and support people in their own homes

• Strong management team, and a well resourced and effective 
performance management team

• Management and focus on the provision of formal services is very 
impressive given the pressures within the health and care system

• Senior management and middle management have embraced a 
performance development approach, but has this reached front line staff 
so that they can deliver personalised alternatives for all ages

• Do you have sufficient data and customer insight in one place to be 
confident that you understand the funded nursing care and continuing 
health care pathway?

• It appeared that there were some community resources that were 
under-utilised 

• It is not clear if the system health and care plans for out of hospital care 
set out in 2016 and other plans, including integrated multi-disciplinary 
teams, have been delivered

P
age 254



KLOE 1 A number of changes have been made to how we 
support people at home in recent years. We want the 
peer challenge team to consider what else could be done 
in order to reduce our levels of residential admissions 
and support people in their own homes

• Politicians, commissioners and operational staff that we met all like working 
for Coventry and are very open to feedback and self improvement, and they 
want to do the best for the residents of Coventry

• Bed-based pathways from hospital do not appear to be working effectively 
and may be a significant factor in your numbers of people in residential and 
nursing care

• In the overall pathway their appear to be gaps in the range of support on 
offer outside of formal services that would result in better outcomes for 
people and their carers, including helping to manage the numbers of people 
requiring residential and nursing care

• The work of public health and social care commissioners needs to align more 
effectively to manage demand on the social care system and to support the 
strengths-based offer  

• Some very positive feedback about the emerging partnerships with health, 
including how to make best use of the available resources across health and 
social care to achieve better outcomes and avoid admissions to hospital

P
age 255



Some of the voices we heard

Develop a 
trusting 

relationship 
with providers

We need to bite 
the bullet with 

integrated teams

The council is 
open to new 

ideas and 
services

I don’t think we 
know where to 

start with 
involvement

Professionals 
made me feel 

small

P
age 256



KLOE 2 The work to develop our promoting 
independence approach is on going and this will always 
be the case. Can the peer challenge team advise how we 
might improve further in this area and tell us what 
opportunities for improvement exist through working 
closer with internal and external stakeholders
• The re-shaping and improvement work of promoting independence is impressive and 

is delivering some tangible results – some areas would describe this as significant 
transformation

• Commissioning is very process and procurement driven, and the focus appears to be 
on re-procuring current service models, rather than a range of options 

• There is good micro-commissioning demonstrated by practitioners, but there is an 
opportunity for commissioners to promote community assets to assist practitioners 
further

• There appears to be a gap in the accommodation offer, which is mainly about 
supported living, residential and nursing care. There is a lack of clarity about whether 
other alternatives are being explored and/or developed

• The development of community broker in the front door is encouraging, but their 
role, focus and capacity requires some clarity

• The relationships with the voluntary sector and community groups do not appear to 
be prioritised by commissioners and need to be developed, including a place where 
they can share experience and ideas

P
age 257



KLOE 2 The work to develop our promoting 
independence approach is on-going and this will always 
be the case. Can the peer challenge team advise how we 
might improve further in this area and tell us what 
opportunities for improvement exist through working 
closer with internal and external stakeholders

• There appears to be a disconnect between public health activity and the 
adult social care promoting independence work, which may be resulting in 
missed opportunities 

• There appears to be insufficient transformation resource in place within 
adult social care to connect with the corporate transformation programme 
and health system transformation. This is hampering progress at pace on 
delivering an integrated people and place transformation plan

• The adult social care digital strategy as part of the wider council strategy is 
not clear and needs to be further developed

• There needs to be a plan to develop a broader and more bespoke range of 
accommodation for the immediate future and the longer term that 
includes different tenures and types, focused on promoting 
interdependence for all ages in local communities, particularly those who 
are currently living outside the city due to gaps in local provision

P
age 258



Some of the voices we heard

More thinking 
outside of the box

All paths lead to 
Pete

There is a focus 
upon the 

professional 
take on 

interventions

Be more 
ambitious for 

younger adults  

Local 
communities 

involvement in 
change in adult 

social care is 
nominal at the 

moment

P
age 259



Future Focus

• Embrace the ‘One Coventry’ focus, involving communities, the voluntary sector 
and other providers in a holistic transformation plan for adult social care

• Develop a philosophy of involvement and co-design with people and their 
families who use services, and start commissioning from a position of co-
production and involvement

• Develop the commissioning approach with public health and re-orientate 
activity towards developing more diverse community based assets and shaping 
the voluntary and community market

• Consider a rapid improvement approach to focus on practice around 
patient/service user flow through the entire system to reduce the high usage 
of residential care and ensure personalised care

• Accelerate a clear digital strategy for adult social care and integrate it into the 
‘One Coventry’ transformation priorities

• Address the range of accommodation and support available today and for 
tomorrow to ensure residential care is only used for those that need it, and 
that greater provision for independent living is made for younger adults as well 
as those with a wide range of support needs

• Review the resources allocated to transformation to improve connectivity with 
the council wide ‘One Coventry’ ambition and re-invigorate the delivery of 
integrated care with health

P
age 260



The Peer Challenge Team would like to thank all of you who 

have met with us this week

All of those who we haven’t met, but have worked so hard to 

provide all of the information available

And lastly Ceri, and all those who have helped over the three

days. Thank you so much for your patience, organisational skills 

and kindness

Thank You

P
age 261



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Scrutiny Briefing Note 

To: Cabinet                                                                                                         13 October 2020

15. Subject: Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019/20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge 
16.  

1 Purpose of the Briefing Note
1.1 To inform Cabinet of the outcome of Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) 

consideration of the Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019/20 and Outcome of Peer 
Challenge at their meeting on 23rd September 2020.

2 Recommendations
2.1 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) endorsed the Adult Social Care Annual 

Report 2019/20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge and made no further 
recommendations to Cabinet.    

3 Context/ Background
3.1 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) considered Adult Social Care Annual 

Report 2019/20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge at their meeting on 23rd 
September 2020.

3.2 Scrutiny Members were impressed by the accessible format of the report and its 
contents. Members noted the ongoing work by the service to continually improve 
Adult Social Care delivery in the City.

3.3 The Scrutiny Board thanked the officers for their work on Adult Social Care, 
especially given the additional challenges being faced as a result of the ongoing 
pandemic.

3.4 The Scrutiny Board made reference to the excellent work the voluntary and 
community sector do to support Adult Social Care and wanted to put on record their 
thanks for this. 

Victoria Castree
Scrutiny Co-ordinator
Victoria.castree@coventry.gov.uk

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank




 

Public report
Cabinet Report

_________________________________________________________________________

Cabinet                                                                                                         13 th October 2020

Council 20th October 2020

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities – Councillor D Welsh

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services

Ward(s) affected:
All
 
Title:
Responses to Government Planning Consultations
 
Is this a key decision?  
No - although the proposals affect more than two electoral wards, the impact of the 
responses to the consultations are not expected to be significant of themselves, any further 
legislation is likely to have a significant impact.
 _________________________________________________________________________

Executive Summary:

The Government has recently launched consultations on two Planning documents:

 Changes to the Current Planning System, and 
 Planning for the Future (White Paper).

The former was a technical consultation that concluded on 01 October, the response to which 
was drafted and submitted by officers in consultation with the Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Communities. The response is included as Appendix 1 to this paper. The 
proposals include increasing the housing requirements and reducing the amount of affordable 
housing provided by some sites, both of which the Council strongly oppose.

The White Paper consultation closes on 29 October and the proposed response is included at 
Appendix 2. The White Paper proposes a fundamental change to the nature of the planning 
system in England and Wales, moving away from the current “discretionary” planning system 
to a zonal system. The proposals will lead to less public scrutiny and ability to influence 
planning decision and the Council strongly oppose this and a number of other measures 
proposed.

Page 265

Agenda Item 9



Recommendations:

The Cabinet is requested to:

1) Note the response submitted on the 1st October 2020 to the Government Consultation 
“Changes to the Current Planning System”.

2) Delegate to the Director Streetscene and Regulatory Services, following consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Housing and Committees, the final submission of the White Paper 
consultation response attached as Appendix 2 to the report.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1: Submitted response to the Changes to the Current Planning System consultation

Appendix 2: Proposed response to the Planning for the Future (White Paper)

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

Yes 

Page 266



Report title: 
Responses to Government Planning Consultations

1. Context (or background) 

1.1. Central government have recently launched two public consultations on the planning 
system; one on changes to the current system and one proposing fundamental changes 
to the nature of the planning system.

1.2. The first consultation was principally technical in nature but included some areas of 
significant concern. Officers prepared a response in conjunction with the Leader and 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities, this was submitted to government prior 
to the 01 October deadline and is reproduced in Appendix 1 along with an opening 
summary.

1.3. The second consultation, a White Paper “Planning for the Future” closes on 29 October 
and proposes a radical change to the nature of the planning system. Officers have 
prepared a response to this consultation and this is appended as Appendix 2 along with 
an opening summary.

1.4. Members should be aware that the White Paper could have significant implications to 
the way that planning is delivered and funded, both in terms of fees earned and costs 
incurred and specifically around funding the cost of infrastructure. There is insufficient 
detail currently to quantify this risk, and future Cabinet papers will address when 
appropriate.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

2.1. The City Council could choose not to respond to the White Paper consultation. However, 
given the radical nature of the proposal and the significant effect future legislation will 
have on the City, this option is not recommended.

2.2. The recommended option is to submit the response the governments consultation on 
the White Paper as attached at appendix 2.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. As this report relates to the Council responding to a consultation, no consultation by 
this Council has been undertaken. 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. The White Paper consultation closes at 11.45pm on 29 October and so the response 
must be submitted prior to this.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance

5.1. Financial implications

The submission of the consultation response has no direct financial implications. There 
are significant potential implications in the matters being consulted upon and may be the 
source of future papers if legislation is subsequently passed.

Page 267



5.2. Legal implications

The White Paper proposes changes to primary and secondary legislation. 

There are no legal implications as a consequence of the proposed consultation 
responses.

6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/) 

The submitted and proposed consultation responses contribute to the Council Plan by 
reiterating our desire too: 

 A prosperous Coventry: The responses defend the provisions of the local 
plan and the right for local influence in the Plan-making and subsequent 
decision-making process. This will deliver better outcomes and a more 
prosperous place;

 Increasing the supply, choice and quality of housing; the consultation 
responses consider the calculation methods to discern appropriate level 
of housing as well as affordable housing typologies

 Making Coventry an attractive and enjoyable place to be: The consultation 
responses assert the requirements for well-designed and attractive 
places, and that the design, assessment and delivery of these should not 
be sacrificed in order to deliver quick decisions;

 Making places and services easily accessible: The consultation 
responses consider the need for infrastructure to be delivered at the right 
time, connecting new development at the cost of the developer.

 Developing a more equal city with cohesive communities and 
neighbourhoods: The affordable housing proposals are considered and 
objected to as they will lead to less affordable housing being delivered;

 Improving the environment and tackling climate change: The consultation 
responses discuss the need for sustainable development and the priority 
the City Council place on environmental matters.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

There is no risk associated with responding to the consultation by itself. The potential 
legislative changes proposed by the White Paper contain significant risk to both the 
statutory requirements of the Council as Local Planning Authority and the resources 
available to deliver these. However, there is insufficient detail at the current time to begin 
to proactively manage that risk.

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

No direct impact related to submitting the consultation responses. The results of the 
consultations and any subsequent legislation may have significant impacts on the 
organisation will be the subject of future reports if necessary.

Page 268

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


6.4. Equality/ EIA

A full Equality and Impact Assessment (ECA) was undertaken as part of developing the 
Local Plan. The consultation responses relate directly to the Local Plan. As part of that 
analysis, the Council had due regard to its public sector equality duty under section 149 
of the Equality Act (2010).

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment

There is no direct impact in the submission of the consultation responses. However, the 
potential for a significant increase in housing requirements would have implications for 
climate change and the environment, which have been highlighted in the consultation 
responses. 

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

None

Page 269



Report author:

Name and job title: 
David Butler
Head of Planning Policy & Environment

Service
Streetscene and Regulatory Services

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 972343
Email: david.butler@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above persons.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Service Date doc 
sent out

Date response
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance Services 

Officer
Law and 
Governance

02/10/2020 02/10/2020

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and members)
Cath Crosby Lead Accountant, 

Business Partnering
Finance 01/10/2020 01/10/2020

Clara Thomson Planning and Highways 
Lawyer, Legal Services

Law and 
Governance

01/10/2020 01/10/2020

Andrew Walster Director of Street 
Scene and Regulatory
Services

- 30/09/2020 01/10/2020

Councillor D Welsh Cabinet Member for
Housing and 
Communities

- 01/10/2020 02/10/2020

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 270

mailto:david.butler@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


APPENDIX A

Consultation on changes to the current planning system

Summary 

Standard Methodology

The introduction of a revised method for calculating housing need will place an unsustainable 
demand in the City. The Coventry City Local Plan was adopted in 2017 following a robust and 
evidence-based Examination. Through that process we demonstrated that the City could 
accommodate on average 1230 dwellings a year, with neighbouring authorities meeting any further 
unmet need. Delivering the current Local Plan required Green Belt release to allow for the necessary 
growth.

The proposed new formula would require Coventry to deliver an additional 1446 dwellings every 
year; this would require significant further Green Belt release around the City. We believe that the 
Standard Methodology needs to be cognisant of constraints and capacity when setting initial 
requirements, and that the drive for significantly higher volumes of development is not reflected in 
the population projections.

The proposals in the White Paper to make the Methodology the basis of a binding housing 
requirement, with constraints calculated and applied at a national rather than local level, make the 
accuracy and deliverability of this formula essential.

Affordable Housing changes

Further proposals remove the ability to require affordable housing on small sites and introduce a 
new discount for first time buyers. 

The principle of First Homes, potentially replacing the shared ownership model, has some merit. We 
retain concerns regarding the mechanism for calculating the value of the discount due to the 
possibility of inflating market value, especially in exception sites. However, the principle demand for 
affordable housing in Coventry is for social rented properties, and by placing First Homes in such a 
pre-eminent position the delivery of the type of affordable homes the City needs is potentially 
undermined.

The proposal to lift the threshold before which any affordable housing is required is strongly 
objected to. The proposal will see less affordable housing delivered despite the clear and 
demonstrable need for it, one which the consultation paper acknowledges in the revisions to the 
Standard Methodology. Whilst we support the principle of incentivising SME builders, we believe 
that the current threshold should remain and that other stimulus be sought to encourage SME 
builders to bring forward sites.

Permission in Principle (PiP)

The PiP process requires authorities to approve in principle a scale of development with limited 
information and with a much shorter consultation window. Whilst this might be deemed appropriate 
on small-scale development, allowing larger developments access to this path will magnify the issues 

Page 271



of making decision quickly, with little detail and without sufficient opportunity for the public to be 
involved with or comment on the application. We believe therefore that the PiP process should not 
be expanded to major development.

Response to consultation questions

Q1: Do you agree that planning practice guidance should be amended to specify that the 
appropriate baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of the level of 0.5% of 
housing stock in each local authority area OR the latest household projections averaged over a 10-
year period? 

We do not agree. We believe that the appropriate baseline is the most recent population projections 
and that the proposal has the potential to provide for homes where they are not needed.

Q2: In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for the standard 
method is appropriate? If not, please explain why

We do not agree with the principle of using existing stock as a fall-back to guarantee higher housing 
requirements irrespective of population projections, and so do not agree with the underlying 
method.

Q3: Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratio 
from the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the standard method’s baseline is 
appropriate? If not, please explain why.

It is not appropriate. By focussing the median earnings and median house price calculations on a 
single LPA area the results completely ignore the way economic geographies function, something 
that is well understood through Housing Market Areas and was previously emphasised by 
government during the formation of Local Enterprise Partnerships based on economic geographies. 
By producing such a narrow, limited geographical correlation between earnings and house prices the 
process completely ignores the reality of how and where people work.

Q4: Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability over 10 years is 
a positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, please explain why.

Affordability of housing is certainly an issue, but not one that can be solved simply by allocating an 
increasing quantum of land for housing. The intention of this process is to suppress prices by 
flooding the market with product, and this is a fundamentally flawed.

Firstly, there is no clear mechanism for guaranteeing delivery of houses on allocations, and no real 
punitive measures for developers who choose not to bring forward allocated land or choose not to 
enact consents. There is a significant difference between consenting a scheme and the completion 
of a dwelling, as evidenced by the ca 1million consented dwellings that have yet to be commenced 
across the country. 

Secondly, there is a limit to how much housing can sell before market saturation occurs. Developers 
will throttle the completion of developments to maintain profit margins and under the current 
proposal the only consequence of this is for the LPA to allocate even more land. 

Finally, there is no consideration to the other side of the affordability equation, how do we raise 
people’s earnings. Indeed, by requiring such a significant addition of housing, employment land will 

Page 272



be under serious threat to be given over to housing development, thereby removing access to new, 
higher-GVA employment opportunities.

Q5: Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the standard method? 
If not, please explain why.

As per our response to Q4 the result of the additional affordability weighting means significantly 
larger housing numbers. This is, at best, a crude and rudimentary approach to supressing house 
prices and, as outlined above, one that is very unlikely to succeed as there are a myriad of other 
factors involved and untouched by these proposals.

Q6: Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan consultation process 
(Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate 
for examination? 

This is not relevant to this authority so would be inappropriate to comment beyond stating that the 
greater the period of time given to those authorities effected the better.

Q7: Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), which should 
be given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance to publish their Regulation 19 
plan, and a further 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate? If not, please 
explain why. Are there particular circumstances which need to be catered for?

This is not relevant to this authority so would be inappropriate to comment beyond stating that the 
greater the period of time given to those authorities effected the better.

Q8: The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will deliver a minimum of 
25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a minimum of 25% of offsite contributions 
towards First Homes where appropriate. Which do you think is the most appropriate option for 
the remaining 75% of affordable housing secured through developer contributions? Please provide 
reasons and / or evidence for your views (if possible): 

i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and delivering 
rental tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy.

ii) Negotiation between a local authority and developer. 
iii) Other (please specify)

Social rented properties are a key priority for both the authority and its residents, and Coventry City 
Council object to any proposal that might undermine the ability to deliver these. We therefore 
disagree that First Homes should be given a pre-eminent position, and that social rented properties 
should be given that priority.

In response to the specific question, we believe iii) that we need to deliver low cost rented solutions 
for our residents and this is a much higher priority than any other ownership tenures. 

With regards to current exemptions from delivery of affordable home ownership products: 
Q9: Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home ownership 
products (e.g. for build to rent) also apply to apply to this First Homes requirement? 

Yes, they should apply.

Page 273



Q10: Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which exemptions and why. 

All existing exemptions should be retained

Q11: Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and /or evidence for your 
views.

We believe that supported housing schemes should be included due to the marginal viability, but 
important role that these schemes play in both delivering appropriate accommodation and freeing 
up existing housing stock.

Q12: Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements set out above? 

We retain our fundamental objection to the introduction of First Homes as a pre-eminent form of 
Affordable Housing, thereby ignoring any local needs that require a different solution. If a transition 
to this system to go ahead Local Authorities should be able to vary their affordable housing mix 
without the need to go through a Plan Review to do so, perhaps via Supplementary Planning 
Document to ensure a quick transition to a more appropriate mix.

Q13: Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount? 

We retain our fundamental objection to the introduction of First Homes as a pre-eminent form of 
Affordable Housing, thereby ignoring any local needs that require a different solution. However, if 
this is to be introduced allowing for a variation in greater discount is appropriate.

Q14: Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market housing on First 
Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability?

We do not. By delivering a First Homes exception site understanding the market value in order to 
derive a discount will be incredibly difficult, and entirely open for developers to ‘game’ the system, 
raising market values sufficiently so that the discounted product still sells at high margins and at a 
value inaccessible to the vast majority of residents.

Q15: Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework? 

No we do not agree, by replacing the clear guidance contained in footnote 33 there will be less 
clarity and therefore a likely increasing in speculative, inappropriate and overly large rural exception 
site applications.

Q16: Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in designated rural 
areas?

Agreed, although also believe that a) First Homes should not be given the over-riding priority 
suggested and b) First Homes-only exception sites should not be provided for given the difficulties in 
establishing market values in such a bubble.

Page 274



Q17: Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for a time-limited 
period? (see question 18 for comments on level of threshold) 

We do not. Access to affordable housing, in a range of tenures, is essential. This proposal is intended 
to drive a surge in smaller sites, all of which will have no affordable housing, thereby exacerbating 
existing affordability issues. There is an inconsistency within these proposals, where two of the 
proposals are aimed at solving an affordability issue and then this proposal that will only increase 
the affordability issue. Finally, there is no mechanism to ensure that the targeted beneficiaries of 
this proposal actually benefit. Larger housebuilders will be in much better positions in terms of 
workforce, materials and liquidity to progress sites and maximise profits at the expense of providing 
much needed affordable housing.

Q18: What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold? I) Up to 40 homes ii) Up to 50 homes 
iii) Other (please specify) 

iii) We strongly believe that the current threshold should be retained.

Q19: Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold? 

Given that we do not agree that the threshold should be moved, and so disagree with the 
proportionate raising of the site size threshold.

Q20: Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and raising the 
threshold for an initial period of 18 months? 

We do not believe the threshold should be moved and do not believe that it will provide the 
economic impetus to SMEs that is stated. It risks attracting larger developers to sites they would not 
have considered previously, thereby squeezing out SMEs and diverting workforce away from larger 
but less profitable sites. 

We are also incredibly concerned with the description of the timeframe being an “initial period” 
opening the door for this to become extended or even made permanent, to the detriment of 
residents needs to access affordable housing.

Q21: Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects?

Any attempts to disaggregate sites in order to avoid affordable housing thresholds should be 
resisted, and we would welcome any planning guidance that can guard against this, irrespective of 
the threshold quantum.

Q22: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds in rural 
areas? 

Yes, maintaining the lower threshold currently available in rural areas is essential.

Q23: Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders to deliver new 
homes during the economic recovery period?

We do not believe that the above proposals will help SMEs deliver new homes. There is significant 
risk of larger developers being attracted to the additional profit available without affordable housing 

Page 275



requirements on smaller sites, and that they will effectively out-muscle SMEs and all at the cost of 
much-needed affordable units. 

If supporting SMEs is the intention then targeted interventions on developers with a capped 
turnover (as was the case with the COVID-related CIL relief) would be an appropriate mechanism, 
perhaps by exempting them from Stamp Duty for example. There are many ways of stimulating 
development that do not involve penalising those in need of affordable housing opportunities and 
these should be explored.

Q24: Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the restriction on major 
development?

We do not. The PiP process places an onerous burden on Local Authorities to determine the 
principle and scale of development with scant information and in a timeframe that hinders 
appropriate consideration of statutory consultee responses. Expanding the system to include larger 
developments whilst retaining the current timescales and supporting information requirements will 
lead to poor decisions.

Q25: Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit on the amount 
of commercial development (providing housing still occupies the majority of the floorspace of the 
overall scheme)? Please provide any comments in support of your views.

The issues with increasing the scope of PiP - I.e. larger more complex schemes being given 
permission in principle with only limited technical information – exist also for commercial schemes. 
We therefore do not support the removal of the previous limits.

Q26: Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission in Principle by 
application for major development should broadly remain unchanged? If you disagree, what 
changes would you suggest and why? 

Larger schemes will inevitably require greater levels of consideration. Maintaining a two week 
period for consultation, for example, on the principles of a major housing scheme is insufficient. We 
maintain that PiP should not be expanded, however, a longer period for major schemes to allow for 
the public and statutory consultees to be made aware and to respond should be brough in if the 
government insists on this course of action.

Q27: Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle? Please provide 
comments in support of your views. 

The addition of a height threshold would help to limit the impact of developments approved through 
PiP and so should be included.

Q28: Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by application should be 
extended for large developments? If so, should local planning authorities be: i) required to publish 
a notice in a local newspaper? ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or 
iii) both? iv) disagree If you disagree, please state your reasons.

Given the reduced timeframes allowed under PiP the requirement to publish in a newspaper can 
significantly eat into the alloted time, and so option ii) is the most logical. If, however, the purpose is 
meaningful public engagement then the current two-week window should be expanded.

Page 276



Q29: Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee per hectarage, 
with a maximum fee cap? 

Given the current reductions in fee earning as a result of COVID, and the likelihood of this being a 
prolonged downturn, any reduction in fee structures is not supported. 

Q30: What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate, and why?

We believe the fee structure should remain as it currently is.

Q31: Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle through the 
application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land Register? If you disagree, 
please state why.

We agree that brownfield sites granted PiP be brought through to Part 2 of the Register.

Q32: What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to make 
decisions about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any areas of guidance you 
consider are currently lacking and would assist stakeholders.

Irrespective of the proposed expansion of PiP, working with PAS to deliver seminars and workshops 
regarding the technical delivery of PiP would be appreciated.

Q33: What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause? Where you 
have identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome? 

We do not believe that the expansion of PiP to larger schemes is appropriate. Whilst there is a cost 
benefit for applicants, it comes at the cost of reduced public consultation (when compared to 
traditional application routes) and requires officers to make establishing decisions on scale of 
development with very little information, with such matters as transport brought forward at a later 
stage. Such matters are critical when establishing the scale of a development and are best 
considered at the same time. 

Q34: To what extent do you consider landowners and developers are likely to use the proposed 
measure? Please provide evidence where possible. 

n/a

Q35: In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, are there any direct or indirect impacts in 
terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and fostering 
good relations on people who share characteristics protected under the Public Sector Equality 
Duty? If so, please specify the proposal and explain the impact. If there is an impact – are there 
any actions which the department could take to mitigate that impact?

n/a

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Summary

The White Paper is presented in three key pillars:

1. Planning for development
2. Planning for beautiful and sustainable places
3. Planning for infrastructure and connected places

1. Planning for development

The proposed shift from a discretionary to a zonal system radically changes the planning system. 
Areas zoned as Growth in the Plan will effectively automatically be conferred outline permission.  
Consequently, there is a structural change with far greater detail and resource front-loaded into the 
Local Plan process and much more permitted development and automatic consent rights following. 
As well as significantly increasing the complexity and expense of Plan production the Paper proposes 
a restrictive timeline for Plan production. With the current level of detail, it is difficult to see how an 
appropriately robust and detailed Plan can come forward in the proposed timelines. Further, it 
should be noted that there will be a significant increase in preparing a Plan, whilst the Council will 
see a reduction in fees with the removal of the need for outline planning consents.

Far greater detail is required to understand and comment meaningfully on many of the proposals, 
particularly those that propose the removal of something currently fundamental to Plan production 
(such as the Duty to Cooperate or Sustainability Appraisals) without any detail of an alternative. 
However, we object to many of the proposals in the Paper, and believe that the direction of travel 
outlined will lead to less public and local democratic involvement in the planning system and 
significantly greater and more onerous requirements on Local Planning Authorities.

2. Planning for beautiful and sustainable places

This pillar suggests several proposals to increase design quality and offer quicker routes to approval 
for ‘beauty’. The path to defining and then finding consensus on what is ‘beautiful’ in not mapped 
out, and we do not believe that can be done on a national level. We wish to see an increase in 
importance of design, but much of the rest of the White Paper (such as the rigid and short timelines 
for Plan making and determining planning applications) will work against that materialising.

3. Planning for infrastructure and connected places

The key proposal in this pillar is the abolition of Section 106 and CIL and the creation of a new 
Infrastructure Levy. Where Section 106 attributes the cost of required infrastructure to a 
development, the proposed IL is a levy based on residual value in a site once a threshold has been 
passed. There is, therefore, a prospect of sites not contributing the full cost of the infrastructure 
required via the Levy, which causes significant concern. The result of the IL will place the 
responsibility, and potentially the financial burden, on Councils to provide either gap or forward 
funding to deliver the necessary infrastructure at the right time, with the Levy recouped later.

Page 279



1. What three words do you associate most with the planning system in England? 

Democratic  /  Evidence-based  /  Balanced  

2. Do you get involved with planning decisions in your local area? [Yes / No] 

Yes. Coventry City Council is a Local Planning Authority and, as well as setting the Local Plan and 
determining planning applications, works across borders regionally on a range of spatial planning 
matters.

2(a). If no, why not? [Don’t know how to / It takes too long / It’s too complicated / I don’t care / 
Other – please specify] 

3. Our proposals will make it much easier to access plans and contribute your views to planning 
decisions. How would you like to find out about plans and planning proposals in the future? [Social 
media / Online news / Newspaper / By post / Other – please specify] 

The White Paper will not make it easier for people to access and engage with the planning process. 
The effective removal of the outline planning process will remove one of the most visible and 
engaging parts of the planning system, and so the ability of people to access and contribute to 
planning decisions will be reduced by these proposals. Furthermore, the proposals place the most 
meaningful and extensive contributions early in the Plan-making process, and so applications will 
come forward many years after the point of consultation and public influence with potentially no 
further opportunities to comment on or influence outcomes.

Comments on Local Plans have certain statutory requirements which often serve as a barrier to 
engagement, especially to those who feel that they do not have sufficient time or technical 
knowledge to meaningfully contribute. Removing these barriers, whilst still retaining sufficient 
robustness to engender meaningful and constructive consultation is essential in building trust 
between the public and plan making. This requires time and resource, both of which are being 
restricted or redirected by the White Paper proposals.

4. What are your top three priorities for planning in your local area? [Building homes for young 
people / building homes for the homeless / Protection of green spaces / The environment, 
biodiversity and action on climate change / Increasing the affordability of housing / The design of 
new homes and places / Supporting the high street / Supporting the local economy / More or 
better local infrastructure / Protection of existing heritage buildings or areas / Other – please 
specify]

Providing the development our residents need: Through our Local Plan we have allocated significant 
sites to address growth projections for the city, despite a highly constrained geography. The 
constraints are such that neighboring authorities have, through the Duty to Cooperate, taken 
elements of our unmet need. The proposed new Standard Methodology will more than double the 
number of dwellings required than we can accommodate. The Local Plan also delivers affordable 
housing requirements to developments, responding to the local pressure for, in particular, social 
rent tenures. It goes beyond housing, as in order to deliver a prosperous City we must also allocate – 
and protect – employment land, providing access to job opportunities across a range of sectors, 
ensuring that our vibrant economy continues to innovate and grow. Continuing to plan for the right 
development, in the right places, is essential.

Page 280



Delivering the right infrastructure, in the right place, at the right time: It is critical that infrastructure 
is deployed in a timely manner, at the point that it is needed within a development, the cost of 
which should be principally born by the financial beneficiaries of a development. The introduction of 
the Infrastructure Levy will take that requirement away, with Local Authorities required to forward 
fund projects if they are to be in place at the appropriate time. Our Local Plan requires the early 
provision of infrastructure

Protecting and improving the environment: Coventry is fortunate to have ready access to areas of 
green belt, ancient woodland and high quality public open space. Protecting and improving these 
areas are imperative, as is increasing the bio-diversity and ecological value of our green spaces, 
improving and decarbonising energy consumption, promoting sustainable modes of travel and 
methods of construction and many other related initiatives. The Local Plan addresses these needs 
across a range of policies and further work is being done developing a range of additional methods 
to further combat climate change.  We also seek to improve the built environment

5. Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals? [Yes / No / Not 
sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

No, we do not agree that the proposals will provide simplification.

The White Paper allows for the annotation of land into one of three zones. However, zones will 
inevitably overlap (for example, conservation areas within city centres, where neither renew or 
protect annotations are adequate) and so there will inevitably be sub-categories in zones to deal 
with overlaps or variations in, for example, density. Add in layers of differentiation through design 
codes and pattern books, and the result is a system just as complicated as the current one, maybe 
even more so.

6. Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development management content of 
Local Plans, and setting out general development management policies nationally? [Yes / No / Not 
sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

No. Repetition of NPPF policies in Local Plans is superfluous and should be discouraged.  However, 
Coventry City Council’s Local Plan (and many others) contain further development management 
policies that reflect local priorities not adequately covered by the current NPPF. By elevating all 
development management policies to a national level there will be no scope for appropriate local 
interpretation, nor for local voices to be heard in the drafting of DM policies. A national document 
will either need to be so flexible that it allows for too much latitude of interpretation or so directive 
that significant areas of local concern are not addressed, with the new-style Plans prevented from 
addressing this. 

There is, therefore, a significant risk that streamlining the development management policies out of 
Local Plans will leave a deficit of local input and a lack of flexibility to adequately address local 
priorities and concerns. 

7(a). Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests for Local Plans with 
a consolidated test of “sustainable development”, which would include consideration of 
environmental impact? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

No. The potential to remove of some of the complex hurdles to adoption of a Plan is positive, but 
must be done so cautiously. In particular, the SEA/SA process is both essential and complex, but 

Page 281



replacing it needs careful consideration; the purpose should be to assess impacts and appropriately 
protect the environment and this vital function must not be lost to ensure speed.

The consolidated test must be clearly articulated in order to ensure consistent application. The 
definition of “sustainable” with regards to development is contested and not as widely understood 
as the White Paper claims. Clear and concise definition through legislation or the NPPF is essential 
for the test to function equitably. 

7(b). How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the absence of a formal 
Duty to Cooperate? 

Without a requirement to do so, strategic cross-boundary issues risk not being adequately 
considered or addressed. The proposal to centrally modify housing number with constraints and 
then issue a binding requirement does not obviate the usefulness of the Duty to Cooperate in 
producing coherent spatial planning over a broader geography.  Much evidence base work is best 
undertaken and analysed at a sub-regional or HMA level. Therefore, a requirement for LPAs to work 
together on a range of strategic areas such as employment land, strategic infrastructure or green 
belt studies needs to remain.

Any such requirement would need to set the parameters both spatially and in terms of governance 
and leaving this guidance absent following the abolition of the DtC will lead to a vacuum in strategic 
policies and, by consequence, worse planning outcomes. The need for this is heightened with the 
increases in housing required via the new Standard Methodology, the quantum of which is such that 
new towns and settlements – potentially pooling requirements - become more viable.

More information is needed regarding the application of constraints to the requirements produced 
by the revised Standard Methodology and how unmeetable demand is then redistributed. Any such 
work needs to be cognisant of functional economic geographies, commuting patterns and so forth of 
local geographies, and this is best done on a regional or sub-regional basis.

8(a). Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing requirements (that takes into 
account constraints) should be introduced? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.] 

No we do not agree. The principle of a transparent, equitable and consistent way of establishing 
housing need is supported but strongly believe that the ability for communities to accommodate 
growth should be incorporated at the first stage of this calculation. 

We disagree that constraints should be applied at a central level, and that this is more appropriately 
applied at a local level. The White Paper is unclear regarding mechanism for calculating and applying 
constraints, by whom and how residual unmet need is then re-distributed. These are important, 
complex matters and by removing this from public view we feel that there is a significant deficit in 
public scrutiny and an inherent worsening of the process.

8(b). Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are appropriate 
indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.]

No. As stated in our response to the consultation on the revision to the Standard Methodology the 
increased affordability calculations, by focussing solely on LPA geography, do not consider the 
economic reality of people’s work/live patterns, and thus falsely inflate housing requirements. 

Page 282



The resultant increased allocations will not necessarily increase delivery nor lower house prices as 
there a significant number of other impacting factors relating to affordability beyond land supply, as 
can be clearly discerned by the volume of consented but undeveloped land across the country. 

9(a). Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission for areas for substantial 
development (Growth areas) with faster routes for detailed consent? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.] 

We do not. Outline applications are the point where much of the public involvement in the planning 
process takes place. The proposal removes this and hopes that the public will instead get involved at 
Plan making stage, which although would be welcome has not been the case previously. By 
shortening the Plan making process and increasing the amount of detail required (if annotations are 
to be delivered with sufficient comfort in outcome through detailed design guides) this will 
potentially be an even more complicated time for a layperson to get involved.

By front-loading the system in this way, the White Paper places an unsustainable burden on the LPA 
to effectively prepare a Plan and assemble all the evidence required for a multitude of outline 
permissions simultaneously. This is not deliverable. 

By trying to expedite the process the proposals disregard the checks and balances provided by 
proper scrutiny and disaggregating the Plan and outline stages.  There is significant time and cost in 
preparing the necessary studies related to an outline application that currently sits with the 
beneficiary of the consent I.e. the developer. The proposal shifts this responsibility to the LPA but 
without suggestions on how these sizable new requirements can be met, and on a severely 
constrained Local Plan timeline. 

9(b). Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent arrangements for Renewal and 
Protected areas? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

No. Where the zonal system could conceivably provide a pathway to quicker consents 
(notwithstanding the issues of producing a sufficiently robust Plan in the constrained time allowed) 
the likely patchwork of varying Renewal and Protected areas will mean that there is a much lower 
opportunity for quicker approval methods in these annotations. The mooted use of Permitted 
Development rights for certain development types within Renewal areas causes particular concern. 
Given the inevitable constraints that the land currently proposed as Renewal it is likely that all 
applications would require consideration by a officer in order to apply appropriate professional 
judgement. 

9(c). Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements to be brought forward under the 
Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.]

No. Settlements brought forward through the NSIP will further disconnect the local population from 
development proposals in their area. If Local Plans are to be meaningful documents then delivery of 
new settlements, their design and response to local issues and distinctiveness should come forward 
from that process rather than any other.

Page 283



10. Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster and more certain? [Yes / No / 
Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

No, we do not. Any proposal to remove consultation or public interaction in order to make the 
process quicker should be treated with caution. It is entirely appropriate for democratically elected 
representatives to review and decide upon applications, with officer support, where statutory or 
public concern has been raised, or significant impacts noted. Delegating major decisions to officers 
where principals of development have been established, potentially many years previously, will 
serve to disillusion the public and engender distrust of the planning system.

We support the increased digitisation of both Plans and applications and there may be some 
opportunities to remove minor delays with further progress here, but fundamentally planning is an 
exercise of professional judgement and this requires appropriately trained and resourced staff.

Restricting planning statements to a particular and arbitary length, irrespective of the requirements 
of the site, along with the removal of the potential for agreed extensions of time will lead to 
decisions made in undue haste and with inadequate information. The determination of an 
application is an essential part of the growth of a City and should not be made lightly in order to 
deliver a quick system.

11. Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based Local Plans? [Yes / No / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.]

Yes. Accessibility of Plans is important and bringing them into a coherent, consistent and accessible 
modern format is welcomed. Clearly, we need to be aware of the varied levels of access to internet 
usage and there will be some members of the community that need printed documents or 
alternative, non-web-based routes to engage with the Plan making process and subsequent usage. 

Any requirement to standardise will inevitably require a period of transition and may have 
contractual implications, along with accompanying procurement, infrastructure and training 
requirements. All of these are time and resource hungry processes that need to be factored into any 
concrete proposals.

12. Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale for the production of Local 
Plans? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

No, we do not. The current proposals make Local Plans a significantly greater task through the 
requirement to assemble the necessary evidence to grant the equivalent of an outline permission on 
all areas of growth and, potentially, some renewal annotations. We support measures that help 
bring forward timely Local Plans and limit the expensive and time-consuming process of Plan 
making, however this is adding large levels complexity whilst severely limiting the time available.

The capacity of LPAs to deliver this detailed and essential work would need to be significantly 
bolstered, especially given the inevitable reduction in fees from removal of outline applications. 
Further, there will be exponential pressure on external bodies, statutory bodies and the 
Inspectorate. Any requirements for new style plans following legislation must be phased cognisant 
of these issues and with sufficient latitude for the raft of plans being prepared simultaneously to be 
given the consideration each is due.

Page 284



13(a). Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed planning 
system? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

It is not clear within the White Paper what purpose Neighbourhood Plans will play within a zonal 
system, especially where a Plan brings forward design codes/pattern books for Growth areas. The 
majority of Neighbourhood Plans relate to design matters and so risk repetition or conflict with 
design codes. The supressed timelines for Plan adoption are such that meaningful collaboration on 
design codes with Qualifying Bodies will be all but impossible however desirous. 

13(b). How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed to meet our objectives, such as 
in the use of digital tools and reflecting community preferences about design?

The issues regarding capacity and skills in delivering digital Local Plans are magnified at a 
Neighbourhood level which predominantly rely on volunteers and a small grant. The creation of free-
to-use set toolkits and programmes from which to build NDPs from would help with this and 
minimise the amount spent on consultants.  However, as per our answer to 13(a) the purpose of 
NDPs needs to be clarified to ensure the time that communities spend on them translate to 
improved decisions in their areas.

14. Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build out of developments? And if 
so, what further measures would you support? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.]

Yes, Plan making does not happen in a vacuum, and ensuring the actual completion of consents is a 
concern. The current system of penalties for lack of delivery (such as the Housing Delivery Test) is 
aimed squarely at the Local Planning Authority irrespective of the limitations of their influence once 
sites are allocated through a Plan, or consented through application. Simply allocating more land 
does not automatically bring forward developments. One area that could be reviewed is the minimal 
amount of work needed to make a material start on development and thereby circumvent a consent 
expiring without delivering the homes needed. Adding additional penalties to Local Planning 
Authorities if development does not complete in their area will not bring about a change in results, 
and more needs to be done to bring pressure to developers.

15. What do you think about the design of new development that has happened recently in your 
area? [Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or well-designed / Ugly and/or poorly-designed / 
There hasn’t been any / Other – please specify] 

As with every City, Coventry has recent designs that are considered beautiful and others that are 
considered less so, not least due to the subjective nature of beauty. Design quality is always 
promoted by the Local Planning Authority, but this must be done whilst not undermining on project 
viability. The city strives to continue a narrative of architectural innovation and as such aims to 
promote positive, forward thinking contemporary design, of which there are positive recent 
examples. Delivering a high-quality urban environment within the city centre remains challenging in 
the context of current global economics, but the Council are taking the lead by delivering joint 
ventures and stimulating complimentary development.

Page 285



16. Sustainability is at the heart of our proposals. What is your priority for sustainability in your 
area? [Less reliance on cars / More green and open spaces / Energy efficiency of new buildings / 
More trees / Other – please specify]

We do not believe that sustainability is at the heart of this or several other recent government 
proposals. There is a disconnect between the statement in this question and the recent changes to 
Permitted Development rights and the Use Class Order which provide for significantly less control 
and guidance on the design and functionality of some new and altered buildings. This, coupled with 
the significant increases in housing requirement resultant from the proposed revision to the 
Standard Methodology, mean that sustainability is being designed out of the system rather than 
placed at its heart.

The provisions of our Local Plan have sustainability at its core; spatially through location of growth 
and resultant infrastructure requirements, and also through more detailed development 
management policies, the latter of which the White Paper proposes removing local input on. There 
is no single area of sustainability that should be prioritised, but we must respond to global and 
localised issues and deliver appropriate, distinctive solutions if we are to see meaningful change.

17. Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and use of design guides and 
codes? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

No. The production and adoption of design guides and codes has the potential to be positive to plan 
making and the determination of applications. They must be created locally, reflecting local 
distinctiveness and address local issues. To do so requires high quality engagement, is resource-
heavy and requires sufficient time for meaningful consultation. The proposal is the White Paper are 
contrary to this with its frontloading of extremely complicated matters on a highly restrictive 
timeline. In these circumstances it is often design that loses out as the imperative will be to 
accommodate the now-binding, inflated housing requirement.

We believe design codes must be developed in such a way to allow architectural creativity and 
expression to ensure compelling, interesting place making is achieved, care must be taken that 
design codes do not discourage this freedom of expression and by doing so inadvertently deliver 
overly prescriptive guidelines which in turn lead to repetitive design solutions.

18. Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support design coding and building 
better places, and that each authority should have a chief officer for design and place-making? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

Yes. Irrespective of the merits of other proposals of the White Paper the greater guidance a central 
body would give is welcomed, as well as raising and solidifying the process with a clear local leader. 
In order to deliver real benefit this must be accompanied by appropriate and adequate resource 
from the centre to Local Planning Authorities.

19. Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design might be given greater emphasis in the 
strategic objectives for Homes England? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.]

Yes – we are optimistic that the emphasis on quality of design nationwide will help control some of 
the negative forces of economics which may prescribe higher quality design solutions in more 
affluent areas, and instead allow all to benefit from positive high quality architectural design and 
place making.

Page 286



20. Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track for beauty? [Yes / No / Not 
sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

The proposals in the White Paper lack meaningful detail regarding identifying ‘beauty’. This is 
understandable due to subjective and contextual nature of defining something as ‘beautiful’. It is 
unrealistic to build a consensus on beauty and then apply a quicker process to this. By creating this 
option LPAs will be under pressure to find development types ‘beautiful’ or nationally-set ‘beauty’ 
guides will be set, further distancing local interaction and influence on development. 

21. When new development happens in your area, what is your priority for what comes with it? 
[More affordable housing / More or better infrastructure (such as transport, schools, health 
provision) / Design of new buildings / More shops and/or employment space / Green space / 
Don’t know / Other – please specify]

Our priorities are laid out in the answer to question 4. Developments should make a positive impact 
on the City, delivering places we are proud of and we do not believe that you can pick a single, 
narrow priority. Other Councils will have differing objectives, and this highlights the need to have 
locally produced policies to ensure that these distinctive differences are articulated and delivered.

The broader objectives of the Council, as articulated in question 4 are:

Providing the development our residents need: Through our Local Plan we have allocated significant 
sites to address growth projections for the city, despite a highly constrained geography. The 
constraints are such that neighboring authorities have, through the Duty to Cooperate, taken 
elements of our unmet need. The proposed new Standard Methodology will more than double the 
number of dwellings required than we can accommodate. The Local Plan also delivers affordable 
housing requirements to developments, responding to the local pressure for, in particular, social 
rent tenures. It goes beyond housing, as in order to deliver a prosperous City we must also allocate – 
and protect – employment land, providing access to job opportunities across a range of sectors, 
ensuring that our vibrant economy continues to innovate and grow. Continuing to plan for the right 
development, in the right places, is essential.

Delivering the right infrastructure, in the right place, at the right time: It is critical that infrastructure 
is deployed in a timely manner, at the point that it is needed within a development, the cost of 
which should be principally born by the financial beneficiaries of a development. The introduction of 
the Infrastructure Levy will take that requirement away, with Local Authorities required to forward 
fund projects if they are to be in place at the appropriate time. Our Local Plan requires the early 
provision of infrastructure

Protecting and improving the environment: Coventry is fortunate to have ready access to areas of 
green belt, ancient woodland and high quality public open space. Protecting and improving these 
areas are imperative, as is increasing the bio-diversity and ecological value of our green spaces, 
improving and decarbonising energy consumption, promoting sustainable modes of travel and 
methods of construction and many other related initiatives. The Local Plan addresses these needs 
across a range of policies and further work is being done developing a range of additional methods 
to further combat climate change. 

Page 287



22(a). Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106 
planning obligations with a new consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which is charged as a fixed 
proportion of development value above a set threshold? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.] 

No. The proposals do not consider the value of infrastructure required to make a development 
suitable and instead focus on the value of development once certain costs have been discounted. It 
would therefore be possible for significant and required infrastructure projects to be underfunded, 
with no identified mechanism for bridging the funding gap.

By making the levy due at the end of the development process there is no funding available to 
deliver enabling infrastructure in advance of occupation, meaning that either Local Authorities will 
need to forward fund infrastructure projects – and accept the inherent risk in such a proposition as 
they cannot be certain of when, or how much of the IL will be received – or projects will commence 
after the dwellings rendering the smooth and orderly delivery of sites impossible.

Section 106 agreements also relate to matters that cannot be covered by a financial levy, such as the 
transfer of land, and an alternate legal process would need to be created to ensure these necessary 
agreements still take place.

In short the proposal will not result in a quicker or simpler system and brings the risk that there will 
be a gap between the money needed and the money the Levy raises, with no mechanism to bridge 
the gap.

22(b). Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single rate, set nationally at an 
area-specific rate, or set locally? [Nationally at a single rate / Nationally at an area-specific rate / 
Locally] 

They must be set at a local level in order to fully consider and reflect the economic circumstances 
prevalent in specific areas. If set at a national level the result will be unnecessary viability 
exemptions which would see no levy collected and yet infrastructure requirements being generated 
by sites.

22(c). Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount of value overall, or more 
value, to support greater investment in infrastructure, affordable housing and local communities? 
[Same amount overall / More value / Less value / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Within the confines of viability as much levy as possible should be sought to deliver the 
infrastructure required. In this context infrastructure includes affordable homes, high quality public 
spaces, biodiversity improvements, alternative transport modes and so forth, all required in order to 
deliver the types of communities we should be aspiring to see delivered.

22(d). Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the Infrastructure Levy, to support 
infrastructure delivery in their area? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]

The risks of borrowing against the IL have been noted in the answer to 22(a). 

Page 288



23. Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy should capture changes of use 
through permitted development rights? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.]

Yes. Developments under PD often create infrastructure demand that is not currently contributed to 
through Section 106 agreements. It is not just housing that creates infrastructure demand that 
needs to be taken account of. The recent creation of Class E and the removal of the principle of 
development within that class for its previously separate constituent parts will make discerning the 
residual value of a Class E scheme impossible given the different yields from, for example (what was) 
B1 and (what was) A1.

24(a). Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same amount of affordable housing 
under the Infrastructure Levy, and as much on-site affordable provision, as at present? [Yes / No / 
Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Yes. The provision of genuinely affordable housing is one of the most critical issues and demand for 
this, especially socially rented homes, is likely to increase significantly as the economy recovers. Any 
reduction in the volume of affordable housing compared to current levels is untenable and all efforts 
should be made to increase these requirements.

Provision should be made on-site wherever possible. This ensures development diversity, provided 
on a tenure-blind basis and provides much greater benefit than off-site provision or commuted 
sums.

24(b). Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards the Infrastructure Levy, 
or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted rates for local authorities? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.]

Where local authorities do not own stock there is no benefit to a ‘right to purchase’ and therefore 
the in-kind route is preferred.

24(c). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate against local authority 
overpayment risk? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Yes, mitigation against overpayment would be appropriate.

24(d). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps that would need to be 
taken to support affordable housing quality? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 
statement.]

It is important that steps are taken to ensure quality.  The units should be to the same standards 
produced elsewhere on the site and should be tenure blind.  

25. Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend the Infrastructure Levy? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

No. There will need to be serious consideration given to the mechanism by which the IL pot is 
distributed to infrastructure projects, some of which will be delivered outside the authority (the NHS 
for example).  As noted previously there is a real prospect that the core infrastructure funding ask 
will outweigh the IL receipt, especially if 25% of the levy is to be passed to the local neighbourhood 
to spend on their infrastructure priorities which may well sit outside of core projects.

Page 289



By widening the scope of what the Levy could be spent on the potential for competition and tension 
over the pot will increase and, as noted above, the reality may well be that there is insufficient funds 
to deliver the core infrastructure required. 

25(a). If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.]

Yes. The importance of the provision of affordable housing is such that we cannot risk it being 
undermined or marginalised by other infrastructure requirements.

26. Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals raised in this consultation on 
people with protected characteristics as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010?

Awaiting legal advice

Page 290


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Contingency and Recovery Plan 2020-21 (Youth Justice Plan)
	Contingency and Recovery Plan 2020-21 (Youth Justice Plan) - Appendix

	5 Coventry One Strategic Plan for Education - Phase 2 of Secondary School Expansions
	6 Adoption of Trees & Developer Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Abbreviations
	Index
	Introduction
	Purpose

	Context
	The Importance of Trees
	History of Trees in Coventry
	Legislation, Guidance and Policy

	Planning for Trees Pre-Development
	Land Surveys
	Tree Surveys
	Tree Constraints Plan
	Arboricultural Method Statement
	Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees
	Design Criteria
	Applying for Planning Permission

	Planning for Trees Pre-Development
	Avoiding Damage to Existing Trees
	Avoiding Damage to Existing Trees or Woodland- including its ecology.
	Tree Works
	Tree Protection Measures
	Root Protection
	Principles of Tree Planting
	Avoiding Future Conflict
	Planting New Trees
	Site Layout
	Site Access

	Implementation, Monitoring and Review
	Adoption of Trees & Developer Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (SDP) - Appendix 1a
	Appendix 1 – TPO Amenity Assessment Sheet
	Appendix 2 – Coventry City Council TPO Making Process
	Tree Preservation Order Procedures
	2. Objectives
	3. Process

	Appendix 3 – Tree Selection Guide
	Appendix 4 – Ancient Woodland and Ecology
	Appendix 5 – Arboricultural Site Monitoring Sheet
	Appendix 6 – Copy of CAVAT Calculation
	CAVAT Catalpa tree example.
	Appendix 7 – Contact Details of Useful Organisations, Societies and Bodies
	Government & Official Bodies
	Professional Associations


	Adoption of Trees & Developer Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (SDP) - Appendix 2
	Adoption of Trees & Developer Guidelines Supplementary Planning Document (SDP) - Appendix 3
	Adoption of Trees & Developer Guildelines Supplementary Planning Document (SDP)

	7 MyCoventry Project and Specialist Training and Employment Programme (STEP) - Successful Award of funds under the Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund (AMIF)
	8 Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019/20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge
	Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019-20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge - Appendix 1
	Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019-20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge - Appendix 2
	Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019-20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge - Appendix 3
	Slide 1 
	Slide 2 
	Slide 3 
	Slide 4 
	Slide 5 
	Slide 6 
	Slide 7 
	Slide 8 
	Slide 9 
	Slide 10 
	Slide 11 
	Slide 12 
	Slide 13 
	Slide 14 
	Slide 15 
	Slide 16 
	Slide 17 

	Adult Social Care Annual Report 2019-20 and Outcome of Peer Challenge - Appendix 4

	9 Responses to Government Planning Consultations
	Responses to Government Planning Consultations - Appendix A
	Responses to Government Planning Consultations - Appendix B


